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To Our Fellow Shareholders:

We accelerated our transformation to a pure content and technology organization in 2005. Your management team
made bold and intelligent decisions to reposition virtually every aspect of the Company while simultaneously investing
over $80 million in acquisitions, strategic partnerships, intellectual property, human capital and infrastructure, and
completing the next phase of restructuring our balance sheet. We believe this strategy will decrease the time to market
for our exciting new series of products and provide the platform for us to be one of the innovative leaders in providing

content and technology solutions for legalized gaming operators worldwide.

The addition of people and technologies from the VirtGame and EndX acquisitions in 2005 were critical components
to our long-term strategy of delivering gaming applications through multi-wagering server-based systems. We have
partnerships with the best legalized géming operators and suppliers on the globe, including the completion of our
investment in Magellan which provides“ us world-class RFID technology that is mission critical for the Intelligent Table
System™. These partnerships should yltimately solidify our market position in table games and table management
systems. And last but not least, a com‘bination of several of these key investments have provided us the foundation to

provide a variety of gaming applicatior{s using mobile and wireless technology.

We believe we have positioned our business with the right products, in the right global markets, with the right partners
in an exciting growth industry and have assembled one of the best management teams in any business. Now is the
time for us to execute on our mission t‘o provide the legalized gaming industry with high integrity, innovative multi-
wagering technologies and content fobused on driving incremental revenues for licensed gaming operators, while
providing customer service that is second to none worldwide. We are obtaining regulatory product submissions and
approvais at a pace never achieved bgfore in the Company’s history. This is facilitating excellent progress in 2006 with
the approval of our first server-based wagering application in Rapid Bet Live™, the signing of key contracts for table
management systems, the continued penetration of the World Series of Poker® Texas Hold 'Em Bonus™ Edition

table game and many more opportuni‘ties that we expect are just around the corner.

We would like to sincerely thank our long-time shareholders for your patience in assisting us with the long road we
have traveled thus far, and our new shareholders for having confidence in our future. We are energized by the

opportunities and ultimate value that we have and will create together in the years ahead.

U Bt~ : Lo 7=

Peter G. Boynton ‘ Russel H. McMeekin
Chairman of the Board ‘ President and Chief Executive Officer




Forward-Looking Statement

This report contains forward-looking statements, including statements regarding the expected time to market for

new products, our position in the markets we serve, -our ability to deliver new products and the pace of regulatory
submissions and approvals. Such statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties, and actual circumstances,
events or results may differ materially from those projected in such ‘forward—looking statements. Factors that could cause
or contribute to differences include, but are not limited to, the overall industry environment, customer acceptance of new
products, further approvals of regulatory authorities, competitive pressures and general economic conditions as well

as our debt service obligations. For a discuséion of these and other facters, please see our most recent annual report
on Form‘ 10-K and quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, as well as other subsequent filings with the Securities and

Exchange Commission.
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CAUTIONARY NOTICE

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Forward-looking statements include the words “may,” “will,” “estimate,” “intend,” “continue,” “expect,” or anticipau: and other similar words. Statements
expressing expectations 1 ding our future {including pending gaming and patent approvals) and projections relating to products, sales, revenues and earnings are typical of such statements.

P

All forward-looking statements, although reasonable and made in good faith, are subject to the risks and uncertainties inherent in predicting the future. Our actual resutts may differ materially
from those projected, stated or implied in these forward-looking statements as a result of many factors, including, but not limited to, overall industry envi P of the
Company's new products, delay in the introduction of new products, the further approvals of regulatory authorities, adverse court rulings, production and/or quality control problems, the denial,
suspension or revocation of privileged operating licenses by governmental authorities, competitive pressures and general econornic conditions, the Company's financial condition and debt service
obligations. These and other factors that may affect our results are discussed more fully in “Competition”, “Risk Factors”, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations” and elsewhere in this Annuai Report.

Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date they are made. Readers are warned that we undertake no obligation to update or revise such statements to reflect new circumstances or
unanticipated events as they occur, and are urged to review and consider disclosures we make in this and other reports that discuss factors germane to our business. See particularly our reports on
Forms 10-K, 10-K/A, 10-Q, 10-Q/A and 8-K filed from time to time with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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PARTI
Item 1. Business

Overview

We develop, acquire and distribute innovative table and slot game content as well as software products to meet the
needs of gaming operators worldwide. Qur products include the following:

* Table and Slot Games. We develop, acquire, license and distribute proprietary branded and non-branded table
and slot games. Our proprietary game content is designed to provide casino patrons an entertaining and
enjoyable gaming experience and thereby generate greater revenues for customers than other games available
in the market. Our table game products include Caribbean Stud®, Texas Hold’Em Bonus™ poker (also
available with World Series of Poker® branding through agreement with Harrah’s), Two-Card Joker poker,
Progressive Blackjack, Progressive Baccarat, and several other blackjack and poker derivatives. Our slot game
content library includes licensed branded game offerings based upon popular brands such as Ripley’s Believe
It or Not!®, Clue®, Dick Clark® Rock, Roll and Remember, Trivial Pursuit®, Garfield®, KISS®, the Beach
Boys, Celia Cruz, Tito Puente, Ed McMahon, and Wink Martindale. In addition, we offer other non-branded
games and mystery concepts such as Flip [t™, Graveyard Bash™, Office Daze™, Kazoingo™ and Liberty
Ball™. . .

* Management and Progressive Jackpot Software Systems. Under the umbrella of CasinoLink® Enterprise
- Edition, we offer a modular, comprehensive and fully integrated suite of software products that enables
* casinos to track the wagers placed by both table and slot players as well as accurately account for the

performance of each table and slot game. Our customers utilize this data to increase the productivity of their
marketing programs and enhance the security of each game, which in turn helps increase their operating
efficiency and profitability. With CasinoLink® Enterprise Edition, gaming operators can also implement their
own progressive jackpots and bonusing to increase the appeal of games through the opportunity to win larger
prizes to provide real-time marketing at each game station.

We were incorporated in Nevada in May 1986.
Recent Developments

During 2005 we introduced the Texas Hold’Em Bonus™ poker game, a new proprietary table game with patented
side bet technology that is installed in leading casinos such as The Borgata, Caesars Palace Atlantic City, Hilton
Atlantic City, Ameristar Casinos Kansas City, the Rio, Flamingo Hilton, Silver Legacy, Bally’s, Paris, and Harrah’s
Rincon, and at many properties on the Las Vegas Strip and throughout Nevada. We received approval for this game
in all major U.S. jurisdictions, including Nevada, in 2005. In addition, in 2005 we announced our plans to introduce
an enhanced version of this game with the World Series of Poker® brand, and as of March 2006, regulatory approval
has been received in all major U.S. jurisdictions except Mississippi, where approval is pending. Under an agreement
with Harrah’s Licensing Company, LLC, owner of the World Series of Poker®, we have begun to introduce the new
game at Harrah’s properties nationwide and the properties of other casino operators.

Rapid Bet Live ™ is our new real-time sports wagering system that allows patrons to place live, real-time wagers
while a game is being played. On March 4, 2006, Rapid Bet Live ™ commenced a 30 day field trial at the Palms
Hotel and Casino in Las Vegas.

On November 28, 2005, we acquired EndX, a global gaming management systems software company headquartered
in the United Kingdom, for approximately $29.2 million in cash, including transaction costs. EndX had been one of
our key strategic partners for over three years. The EndX Intelligence product suite is currently installed in over 175
gaming centers in approximately 20 countries worldwide, including centers operated by the three major gaming
operators located in the United Kingdom. The EndX product has been integrated as a part of CasinoLink® Enterprise
Edition. The modules of EndX include cage and cash management, player marketing, table games accounting, and
surveillance and alerts monitoring. In addition, we and EndX previously created a version of TableLink® for the
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international market. Significant North American multi-site installations that have been completed or are in the
process of being installed include 17 sites for the British Columbia Lottery Corporation and four sites for the
Saskatchewan Indian Gaming Authority.

To support what we expect will be an eventual shift from traditional, stand-alone slot games to central server-based
gaming, we acquired VirtGame in October 2005. VirtGame was a provider of open architecture gaming software
primarily focused on the delivery of central-server based slot games and centrally managed sports betting.

In June 2005, to provide our customers with the next generation of radio frequency identification, or RFID,
technology in our table systems products, we entered into a worldwide exclusive license, for the life of the subject
ppatents, with Magellan, a developer of advanced, high-speed, ISO-compliant RFID systems, Through this
technology we are now able to offer casinos 13.56-megahertz high-frequency technology that utilizes thin flat
antennas which our internal testing indicates is significantly faster than the technology we previously offered
casinos. We licensed, on an exclusive basis, Magellan’s rights to its RFID reader, tag and related intellectual
property for any gaming applications and have also purchased a minority equity position in Magellan.

In June 2005, we also entered into initial strategic agreements with IGT and Shuffle Master to create a
comprehensive Intelligent Table System™ or ITS. This system combines our TableLink® software module which
provides RFID bet recognition capability, with IGT’s table management systems, including TableTouchtm and
Shuffle Master’s automatic shufflers, IBR optical card reading shoes and other accessories. We and IGT will be
responsible for selling and distributing the Table Manager™ and Chip Manager™ portions of the ITS suite of
products and any other products developed by us under the definitive agreements. Shuffle Master will become our
preferred vendor for automatic card shufflers, IBR optical card shoes and other key accessory products We are
working towards definitive agreements relating to the development and sale of the ITS, but can provide no
assurances as to when such agreements will be entered into or if such agreements will be entered into at all. .

During the second quarter of 2005, we commenced the process of repositioning our ex1st1ng slot platform, which
includes a focus on developing content through third-party developers. Our goal is to leverage our existing installed
base and transition from the existing model to slot games delivered in a central server-based environment.

During the second quarter of 2005, we completed the sale of our interior signage division. With the completion of
this sale and the repositioning of the business to be content and technology focused, the Company has revised its
segment reporting to more closely reflect the manner in which the business is managed.

During the first quarter of 2005, we completed our acquisition of the table games management system, PitTrak®,
including its existing customer base. PitTrak® has similar functionality as TableLink® and provides us with an
existing installed base of over 400 tables and access to sell its management solutions worldwide.

During 2005 we entered into several arrangements to develop and license slot content. We continue to increase our
pipeline of new slot game content to replace legacy slot brands as they explre or decline in popularity. In December
2005 our license arrangement with Hasbro for the Yahtzee® and Battleshlp brands expired. However, we have
recently introduced new brands such as KISS®, the Beach Boys and Ed McMahon as well as 34 non-branded slot
titles. We expect our revenues from legacy brands to decline but anticipate an increase in revenues from this new
pipeline of slot content during 2006.



Industry Overview
1
Global Gaming Industry — Market Size

|

In North America, based on estimates provided by Casino City Press, gaming revenues have increased from
approximately $43.3 billion in 2001 to approximately $54.1 billion in 2004, representing a 7.7% compound
annual growth rate. Such figures include gaming revenues from commercial casinos, Native American casinos
and card rooms and exclude gaming revenues from cruise ships, sports books, pari-mutuel wagering, charity
bingos and lotteries. We believe the continued growth in the gaming industry will help drive an increase in
demand for gaming products. In 2004, there were approximately 49,000 table games and 2,143,000 gaming
machines (excluding electronic bingo and amusements with prizes) installed worldwide, of which an estimated
26,000 table games and 850,000 gaming machines were installed in North America. Gaming activities are
currently legal in 38 states in the United States and 10 provinces and territories in Canada.

Growth of the Gaming Industry ‘

We believe consumer demand in the gaming industry has been and continues to be driven by several trends,
including: '

* Rising social acceptability and popularity of gaming as a leisure activity. The gaming industry has grown
~ with the rising popularity and social acceptability of gaming as a leisure activity. According to the American
Gaming Association, more than one in five Americans (21%) has developed a more favorable view of casino
gaming over the past five to ten years. We believe the proliferation of poker television programming and
poker tournaments has also contributed to the continued increase in consumer spending on gaming.

t

s Improvement in the breadth and quality of gaming offerings. Technological advancements have played a
critical role in expanding the breadth and improving the quality of gaming offerings. Advanced audio and
video capabilities have made slot games more appealing by enabling innovative game content and multi-line,
multi-denomination game play, while secondary events, such as progressive jackpots and other bonusing
features, have increased the overall entertainment value by providing players the chance to win additional
prizes. Patron convenience has also been improved with developments in cashless technology and the use of
ticketing with bill validators, We believe that effective promotion of patron loyalty programs by gaming
operators has caused patrons to increase their number of annual visits and in turn, increase their gaming and
non-gaming expenditures. With the potential regulatory approval of central server-based and downloadable
technologies, which will allow players to access a number of different games and other features from one
machine, we believe there will be additional growth and replacements in the slot machine sector. Similarly,
we believe recent technological breakthroughs and innovations in table game management, including player,
chip and game tracking capabilities that enable gaming operators to accurately analyze and reward patrons,
may lead to similar increased player appeal for table games.

o Legalization of gaming in several U.S. States. Since the beginning of 2004, the legislatures or gaming
authorities of several U.S. states, including those in Pennsylvania, Florida, Oklahoma and Maine, have
permitted for legalization or expansion of gaming activities within their respective states. Other state
legislatures, such as that of Massachusetts, are considering gaming legislation to generate additional tax
revenue and stimulate economic development.

* Proliferation of Native American casino gaming. Native American gaming represents the fastest growing
segment of the North American gaming industry, Gaming revenues from Native American casinos have
increased from $12.7 billion in 2001 to $19.0 billion in 2004, representing a 14.2% compound annual growth
rate. As of 2005, there were 581 federally recognized Native American tribes, many of which operate
gaming facilities, and 161 Native American tribes who have applied for federal recognition.

« International expansion. Internationally, we anticipate further growth and expansion in regions such as
Macau, Russia, the United Kingdom and the Baltic states. We expect Macau to become the largest gaming
market, by revenue, in the world, and growth is expected to continue under its efforts to redevelop the island
of Cotai into a Las Vegas-like gaming and entertainment destination market.




Products
Table and Slot Games Segment

Our proprietary game content is designed to provide casino patrons an entertaining and enjoyable gaming experience
and thereby generate greater revenues for customers than other games available i in the market

Table Games. We are a leadmg developer and distributor of proprietary table game content with an installed base of
906 revenue producing games as of December 31, 2005. We have a library of proprietary poker and blackjack
derivative table game content that features well- recogmzed brands, secondary bets and progressive jackpots to
enhance player appeal Our key games include, among others, Caribbean Stud®, Texas Hold’Em Bonus™ poker and
Progressive Blaclgack Our exciting “Progressive Jackpot” feature for table games lets players set aside separate
wagers for a chance to win a single, ever-growing, casino-wide or single table jackpot.

In October 2002, we signed an agreement with Rank Group Gaming, to debut what to our knowledge was the
world’s first operational wide-area progressive jackpot system for table games. Operating on our CasinoLink®™
Jackpot Station module, the Super Stud Poker wide-area progressrve operates in nearly all of Rank’s 30 casinos in
the United Kingdom. ‘

Our Caribbean Stud® franchrse is one of the most popular proprretary table games in the world. As of December 31,
2003, approximately 660 of our Caribbean Stud® tables were in service worldwide. In' 2005, we introduced a new
table game titled Caribbean Stud® — Diamond Edition. Through the use of wide area progressive technology,
Caribbean Stud® — Diamond Edition offers players the opportunity to win a multi-site © ‘progressive” jackpot.

With the increasing popularity of poker, we recently introduced the Texas Hold’Em Bonus™ poker game, a new
proprietary table game that is installed in leading casinos such as The Borgata, Caesars Palace Atlantic City, Hilton
Atlantic City, Ameristar Casinos Kansas City, the Rio, Flamingo Hilton, Silver Legacy, Bally’s, Paris, and Harrah’s
Rincon, and at many properties on the Las Vegas Strip and throughout Nevada. The Texas Hold’ Em Bonus™ poker
game with its patented side bet technology, brings a new level of excitement to table game poker rooms and p1t
areas. Two cards are dealt to each player; two cards to the dealer; and five community cards are dealt face-up in the
center for both players and dealers to use in any combination (three, four or all of the five community cards) to form
the highest-ranked poker hand. All wagers (ante, bonus, flop, turn and river) are made by the players before
receiving and viewing the cards, each step of the way. An optional bonus jackpot wager (side bet) is based on a
player s starting hand, and allows players to win based on the posted pay table. We received approval for this game
in all major U.S. jurisdictions, including Nevada, in 2005. In addition, in 2005 we announced our plans to introduce
an enhanced version of this game with the World Series of Poker® brand under an agreement with Harrah’s
Licensing Company, LLC, owner of the World Series of Poker®, and as of March 2006, regulatory approval has
been received in all major U.S. jurisdictions except Mississippi, where approval is pending. We believe that the
similarities between the Texas Hold’Em Bonus™ poker game and the non-proprietary game will help contribute to
its success, and we are encouraged by the initial success of this game. As of December 31, 2005, we had an installed
base of approximately 145 Texas Hold’Em Bonus™ poker games. ‘

Slot Games. Our slot game content llbrary mcludes branded game offerings based upon popular brands such as
Ripley’s Believe It or Not! ®, Clue®, Dick Clark® Rock, Roll and Remember, Trivial Pursuit®, Garﬁeld® KISS®, the
Beach Boys, Celia Cruz, Trto Puente Ed McMahon, and Wink Martindale. We also continue to offer additional
non-branded games and mystery concepts such as Flip ItTM Graveyard Bash™, Office Daze™, L1berty Ball™ and
Kazoingo™.

In 2003, we shifted our slot game focus to the development and heensmg of game content for deployment in our
markets through outsourcing partnerships with third party manufacturers and distributors of slot machmes To access
leading technology and enhance our operating margins, we have entered into strategic alliances to develop our
proprietary game content on our alliance partners’ systems and technology. Accordmgly, we receive revenue not
only from the existing fixed rental payments or revenue participation from gaming devices that we have placed in
casinos, but also from license fees for game content provided to multiple third parties for use on their game
hardware. In these arrangements, our alliance partners typically provide any hardware and/or ongoing maintenance.
We also have certain development contracts whereby other suppliers have agreed to incorporate our intellectual
property and game content into their slot platforms or other proprietary products.



During the second quarter of 2005, we commenced the process of repositioning our existing slot platform, which
includes a focus on developing content through third-party developers. Our goal is to leverage our existing installed
base and transition from the existing model to slot games delivered in a central server-based environment.

To facilitate the use of our slot game content, we developed a Ticket-In Ticket-Out, or TITO, feature to be
incorporated into our owned slot games. TITO is an alternative payment method to coin handling on the casino slot
floor. Gaming operators can program a slot machine to pay a slot payout, or a portion thereof, with a ticket. The
ticket can then be reinserted into another TITO slot machine, be exchanged for cash at a cashier’s station or held by
the player and used at a later time. We received approval in all major jurisdictions for TITO in 2004 except Nevada,
where approval is still pending.

In August 2004, we signed a license and development agreement with IGT to license segments of our patent
portfolio of technology and to develop video slot games based on our content, for a term continuing until the last to
expire of the patent rights under the agreement. The new games are to be developed on IGT’s game platform and
distributed by us. Pursuant to this agreement, IGT also licenses aspects of its intellectual property to us for its games
and we are committed to purchase from IGT a minimum of 600 slot machines carrying our game content on them
over the life of the agreement. In June 2005, IGT purchased from us a worldwide license, with the right to grant
sublicenses, to certain of the patents subject to the August 2004 agreement. Under this 2005 agreement, we are
restricted from further licensing these patents. In addition, pursuant to the 2005 agreement, IGT has the right to
convert its worldwide license into a 100% ownership interest with respect to any or ail of the subject patents at any
time within 18 months of the agreement.

We lease our table and slot games and license content to customers in exchange for recurring revenues consisting of
(i) fixed periodic fees, (ii) a percentage of the “net win” (“net win” produced by a gaming device is defined as gross
revenues minus all jackpots, payouts and any approved claims) of the gaming devices for our more popular titles or
(ii1) license fees for any proprietary slot game content provided to third parties for use on their game hardware. We
also receive one-time license fees for our table and slot game content.

Systems Segment

We market our suite of software systems under the CasinoLink® Enterprise Edition umbrella. This modular,
comprehensive and fully integrated suite of software products centralizes gaming management, including functions
such as slots and tables monitoring, reporting and accounting across all casino properties, improving efficiency,
tightening security and surveillance, and lowering costs. The CasinoLink® Enterprise Edition modules run on an
easy-to-use Microsoft Windows®™ and SQL Server® platform. Due to its modular design, our customers can elect to
integrate a combination of features or an individual feature into their casino with limited disruption and
compatibility issues with their existing back-end systems. The various CasinoLink® Enterprise Edition modules are
summarized in the following chart:

ABINDINE g

Enterpnsc Edition
1 I |
. \ . Central Server-Based
Table Management Modules Casino Management Modules Gaming Modules
o Ployer Manager « Caswnolink Player Tracking s Casinobink Game Statzon
» Chip Manager « Caunolink Stot Management « Casinnlink Sporis Station
» CGame Manager * Cusinolink Intcliigence Suite « Casinolink Ropid Bet Live

Casinolink Jackpot Station Module

( ’ WagerLink Cashless Module
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Table Management Modules. The Intelligent Table System™ (ITS) product brings to the table games sector the
benefits of accurate and automated data collection and player tracking that we believe was previously seen only in
the slot machine sector. ITS is a modular, comprehensive and fully integrated suite of software products that enables
casinos to track player activity, monitor games through chip tracking and bet recognition, and provide real time
accounting for table'games. The information can be interfaced with the casino’s main database, such as our
CasinoLink® Slot Management module or several other veéndors’ management systems, and used for rewarding
players, generating marketlng information and enhancing game security. We believe that improved accuracy and
player-initiated ratings are very useful to the casino in identifying and directing complimentary benefits to the
customer, and ultimately improving custorier loyalty. We believe this solution also enables casinos to better secure
the chip activity at their tables and also detect counterfeit chips, while allowing them to redirect supervisor time
from administrative to customer-relationship and other tasks.

The Intelligent Table System isjavailebie in the followrng three tiers:

» Table ManagerTM is the base product upon which the Chip ManagerTM and Card Manager™ product offerings
are built. Table Manager™ employs magnetic player identification card readers and touch-screen computer
displays at each gaming table or at the pit stand. Table Manager™ allows dealers to input a player’s time and
average bets at the tables for tracking purposes after the player identification card is scanned by the magnetic

card reader

s Chip Manager™ can be utilized in conjunction with Table Manager™ for an even more detailed view of table

. play. With Chip Manager™, manual inputs to track wagers are eliminated by utilizing sensors located at each
player position at the table that automatically scan RFID casino chips, which are embedded with microchips
that transmit encrypted radio frequency signals. The use of RFID casino chips enables casinos to track the
amount wagered in real time, detect counterfeit casino chips and minimize cheating. This real-time data enables
our customers to increase casino patron loyalty by more accurately assigning player ratings and more
effectively directing complimentary benefits. It also enables casinos to detect counterfeit chips and allows them
to redirect supervisor time from administration to customer-relationship and other tasks. In addition, through
our agreement with Magellan, we now offer our customers next-generation 13.56- megahertz high-frequency
technology that utilizes thin flat antennas and according to our internal tests significantly increases the speed of
chip recognmon For example, our internal testing shows that Chip Manager™ is now capaple of reading 100
RFID casino chips in approximately 0.2 seconds. We also believe this technology will support the development

' of further RFID products su1tab1e for expandmg customer service and playet tracking.

e Card ManagerTM utilizes Image Based’R/ecognition (IBR) for reading playing cards as theyj are dealt and which
adds yet another level of data analysis by allowing for the monitoring of player betting patterns and the
recording of game results. This level of the ITS product is provided by Shuffle Master. Card Manager™ enables
gaming operators to better understand the skill level of their patrons, helps minimize dealer 'mistakes and
facilitates detection of card-counting and cheating. ‘

As of December 31, 2005, our table management systems were installed in over 47 casinos in North America,
Australia, Europe and South Africa, with an installed base of approximately 1,980 tables, of which approximately

24% use RFID technology to track and measure wagers. ' We believe that the adoption of RFID technology will
increase significantly with the 1mplementat10n of Magellan’s technology.

The Company and IGT will be responsible for the sale and distribution of Table Manager™ and Chip Manager™,
and Shuffle Master will be responsible for the sale and distribution of Card Manager™. Pursuant to our product
development agreement with Shuffle Master and IGT, we agreéd not to manufacture or sell intelligent shoe products
for a period of three years, although we may sublicense our IBR patents to third parties. We are working towards
definitive agreements relating to the development and sale of the ITS, but can provide no assurances as to when such
agreements will be entered into or if such agreements will be entered into at all.

Slot Management Modules. Our Slot Management modules incorporate our existing CasinoLink® Player Tracking
and CasinoLink® Slot Management modules. ‘



e CasinoLink® Player Tracking: CasinoLink® Player Tracking is composed of micro controller-based printed
circuit boards installed within slot machines, as well as card readers, displays and keypads that provide casinos
with the ability to track player gaming activity and monitor employee access to slot machines.

* CasinolLink® Slot Management: Our CasinoLink® Slot Management module provides gaming operators with
robust, highly scalable applications for accounting and auditing, administration and security and marketing.
This module is comprised of firmware that provides access to player activity data gathered by the CasinoLink®
Player Tracking module. This system also provides access to slot machine activity, including security events,
revenue, expenses and other financial reporting metrics. This module is well suited to fulfill the requirements of
large, geographically dispersed gaming operators who require multi-site capability.

As of December 31, 2005, our CasinoLink® Slot Management modules have been installed in more than 187 gaming
sites worldwide, monitoring approximately 49,700 gaming machines. We have a significant number of gaming
system installations in Canada, including in the multi-site, provincial lottery corporations of Alberta, British
Columbia, Ontario and Saskatchewan. In the European market we have stand-alone installations in the United
Kingdom, Switzerland, Ukraine, Finland, Greece and Italy, as well as multi-site instailations in Estonia, Lithuania,
Latvia, The Netherlands, The Slovak Republic, Slovenia and Sweden. In the Asia Pacific market, CasinoLink® is
installed in Macau and Australia. During the fourth quarter of 2005, we entered into an agreement with a large
gaming supplier to install our CasinoLink® product in Class II jurisdictions.

Server-Based Gaming Modules. We are currently developing a suite of centrally managed server-based gaming
modules that include CasinoLink® Game Station™ and the CasinoLink® Sports Station modules of PrimeLine™ and
Rapid Bet Live™, ‘

* CasinoLink® Game Station™: The CasinoLink® Game Station™ module will allow patrons to enjoy a variety
of software-based casino games, ranging from slot games to Keno, while sitting at the same gaming machine.
To enhance profitability, gaming operators will be able to select the game mix and denominations across the
casino floor on a real-time basis.

* CasinoLink® Sports Station’s PrimeLine™ and Rapid Bet Live™: The PrimeLine™ and Rapid Bet Live™
modules will allow patrons to engage in sports wagering activities, utilizing thin client technology, directly
from a gaming machine or a remote device, including traditional game outcome wagers, bet-by-event or play
wagering, and simulated sports betting. On March 4, 2006, Rapid Bet Live ™ commenced a 30 day field trial at
the Palms Hotel and Casino in Las Vegas.

We believe the utilization of our central server-based gaming modules will allow gaming operators to minimize
game replacement costs, offer greater convenience to patrons and increase flexibility to reconfigure the gaming
machine area. To expedite our central server-based development efforts, we acquired VirtGame, a gaming software
developer primarily focused on central server-based slot games and centrally managed sports betting, in October
2005. VirtGame was a Nevada Gaming Commission licensed provider of innovative sports book software systems
and server-based, networked gaming software for regulation gaming applications. VirtGame’s technology platform
is scalable and customizable, enabling gaming on any hardware platform including personal computers, hand-held
devices and mobile phones. We are integrating VirtGame’s technologies into our CasinoLink® Enterprise Edition
architecture to support what we expect will be an eventual shift from traditional, stand-alone slot games to central
server-based gaming.

CasinoLink® Jackpot Station (CJS) Module. CJS allows gaming operators to bring a multi-site, multi-leve! bonusing
and jackpot system in-house and link both slot machines and table games to one or more progressive jackpots. The
CJS system is designed to connect directly to the gaming operator’s existing casino management systems and
permits them to adjust the jackpot frequencies and levels in response to competitive factors in order to increase
repeat visits by patrons.

» Progressive Jackpot. To create a jackpot, our CJS system monitors play on one or more slot machines or table
games and accumulates, in real-time, a predetermined percentage of each bet. This jackpot increases
continuously until won by a player and then can be reset automatically to accumulate subsequent jackpots.




¢ Bonusing. Bonusing technology enables the design and delivery of bonuses and other promotions directly to
players at the point and time of play, right at their favorite game. A bonusing system provides a cash bonus,
which can be random or preset separate from the normal payout for a winning combination, and can be
structured to award a player just for playing, with no winning reel combination or minimum coin-in required.
While bonus amounts are typically lower than the top progressive payout for the game, the frequency is higher,
providing a valuable marketing tool for stimulating, extending and increasing the rate of play.

WagerLink™ Cashless Module. Our WagerLink™ Cashless module allows for electromc funds wagering froma
gaming device. This product is currently developed as a module of our CasinoLink® products, and the first site for
this product went live in October 2005 at Casino Municipale di Venezia in Venice, Italy. The WagerLink™
Cashless Module will also be adapted to interface with our central server-based gaming modules and ITS products.
These developments will offer seamless cashless transactions for each gaming module managed within the
CasinoLink® Enterprise Edition product suite.

Other Products

Under a licensing agreement with XpertX, Inc., we hold, except in the case of Nevada, the exclusive worldwide
distribution rights to the XpertX Keno system. Key features of this Keno system include: player tracking, including
player account information, player trip history, play and win amounts and buy-in limits; reporting functions,
including customized audit and management reports and inter-property progressive capabilities; display functions,
including in-room television keno display and advertising options; and built-in diagnostic software and disc
mirroring features.

TableMAX® is a table game in video format, to which we hold the exclusive license to distribute in certain markets.
The TableMAX® video table enables multiple players to play simulated versions of traditional casino card games.
We are in the process of installing TableMAX" in various casinos in the Oklahoma market. In March 2006 we
received approval from Gammg Laboratories International to place the progressive version of TableMAX® in
California.

On November 28, 2005, we acquired EndX, a global gaming management systems software company headquartered
in the United Kingdom, for approximately $29.2 million in cash, including transaction costs. EndX had been one of
our key strategic partners for over three years. The EndX Intelligence product suite is currently installed in over 175
gaming centers in over 20 countries worldwide, including centers operated by the three major gaming operators
located in the United Kingdom. The EndX product has been integrated as a part of CasinoLink Enterprise Edition’s
Slot Management module. The modules of EndX include cage and cash management, player marketing, table games
accounting, and surveillance and alerts monitoring. In addition, we and EndX previously created a version of
TableLink for the international market. Significant North American multi-site installations that have been completed
or are in the process of being installed include 17 sites for the British Columbia Lottery Corporatlon and four sites
for the Saskatchewan Indian Gaming Authority.

We also supply a number of accessory products that allow our customers to operate a wider variety of progressive
games, provide promotional messages, animated and graphic displays, and generate additional statistical and
operating information from the slot machines linked to progressive jackpot systems. Available accessories include
controllers and displays, as well as devices to boost electrical outputs to a large number of displays, cable and fiber-
optic connectors, devices to trigger visual or audio signals when a progressive jackpot is hit, and circuitry for the
display of progressive jackpot amounts on the screens of video slot machines. Our proprietary controllers are
designed to be compatible with the gaming equipment made by the major slot machine manufacturers. Our
controllers are licensed in almost every major U.S. gaming _]urxsdlctlon We believe that we have the largest installed
base of controllers in the industry.



Growth Strategies

We aim to be the leading developer and supplier of content and technology-based gaming products. To improve
productivity and profitability, we focus our resources on developing, marketing and distributing higher growth and
higher margin products that generate revenues on a recurring basis. To achieve our objective, we have adopted the
following key strategies for growth:

Increase focus on our table management modules. We believe our table management modules, with state-of-
the-art RFID technology licensed through Magellan, bring to the table games sector the benefits of accurate and
automated data collection and player tracking previously seen only in the slot games sector. We believe the
enhanced performance of chip tracking, coupled with decreasing costs to manufacture RFID-enabled chips, will
accelerate the adoption of our table management products across the approximate 49,300 table games
worldwide. To increase their marketability, we intend to also market our table management modules as a part of
ITS. As a part of the ITS alliance, IGT will, among other things, also be responsible for selling and distributing
our portion of the ITS suite of products.

Strengthen our leading proprietary table game franchise. We intend to leverage our Caribbean Stud® franchise
by introducing newer versions of this game to maintain and grow its market share. For example, in 2005 we
introduced Caribbean Stud® — Diamond Edition, which incorporates our patented progressive betting feature.
Additionally, we believe the Texas Hold’Em Bonus™ poker game will be our next significant table game
franchise. '

Market our systems products under the CasinoL ink® Enterprise Edition umbrella. Although our systems are
capable of operating independently of one another, we believe utilizing multiple modules of CasinoLink®
Enterprise Edition together will enhance the system’s functionality. For example, CJS enables our customers to
implement their own multi-site, multi-level progressive jackpot systems in a cost-effective manner. When
combined with our table and slot management modules, CJS can create progressive jackpots across the entire
casino floor. We intend to highlight such value propositions in marketing the CasinoLink® Enterprise Edition
products.

Complete the development and introduce our server-based wagering modules. We are currently developing a
suite of server-based gaming modules to support what we expect will be an eventual shift towards server-based
gaming. Upon completion and approval, we will market Game Station™ and the CasinoLink® Sports Station
modules of PrimeLine™ and Rapid Bet Live™ as part of CasinoLink® Enterprise Edition. We intend to utilize
recently acquired VirtGame technologies to expedite our central server-based development efforts. We
showcased the capabilities of server-based gaming at the Global Gaming Expo in September 2005, with
demonstrations of our approximately 35 slot games for use under the Game Station™ architecture. We expect
that the adoption of wireless gaming in various jurisdictions will further accelerate the adoption of server-based
wagering, primarily for sports and poker applications.

Continue expanding our strategic alliances. Our strategic alliances have allowed us to access key intellectual
property and technology assets in developing our products. We obtained exclusive rights to next-generation
RFID technology through our Magellan license agreement. We also obtained access to leading gaming machine
hardware platforms through our alliances with IGT and Bally Gaming. We intend to continue entering into
strategic alliances in our efforts to provide leading technology and content products to our customers.

Segment and Geographic Information

Financial information about segments is incorporated herein by reference to Note 19 “Segment Reporting” to our
consolidated financial statements included in Part I1 in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.




Competition

The markets for our products are highly competitive. We compete with a number of developers and manufacturers
of table and slot game and casino management systems. Some of these competitors are larger and have greater
access to capital resources than we do. Our future performance may be affected by numerous factors, including:

* the continued popularity of our existing products and our ability to develop and introduce new products that
gain market acceptance and satisfy consumer preferences;

* our ability to maintain existing regulatory approvals and obtain future approvals in order to conduct our
business; and

* our ability to protect, maintain and enforce our existing intellectual property nghts and to adequately secure and
enforce such rights for new products. -

Substantially all of our products require regulatory approval. We believe that the amount of time and money
consumed in the course of obtaining licenses in new jurisdictions and new product approvals in multiple
jurisdictions constitute significant obstacles to entry or expansion by new competitors. In addition to regulatory
constraints, our intellectual property rights to patents and trademarks help protect our products. ' We actively seek
patent and trademark protection and vigorously enforce our intellectual property rights.

Table and Slot Games Competiﬁon

Table Games. In the area of proprietary table games, we are a leading designer and distributor of progressive jackpot
table games, and we believe our patents significantly limit the ability of competitors to offer table games with
progressive or electronically enhanced side-bet features. A significant competitor in proprietary table games is
Shuffle Master, which markets Let It Ride®, Three Card Poker®, Fortune Pai Gow Poker® and Royal Match 21™,
We also compete against non-proprietary games such as blackjack. Our patented side-bet progressive jackpot
feature, which was developed for Caribbean Stud®, has been successfully adapted for Progressive Blackjack®, and is
adaptable for other games, including Two Card Joker Poker™ and Texas Hold’Em Bonus™ poker. Through the
deployment of these games, we believe that we can convert industry-standard non-proprietary table games, which
are in the public domain, to proprietary games capable of producing a recurring revenue stream for us. We believe
that this proprietary feature provides us with a competitive advantage by facilitating our ability to introduce new
table games.

Slot Games. We believe the success of many of the recent video-based games and the popularity of many of the
themed game introductions is currently dictating the types of slot games being developed. The current competitive
environment is placing increasing demands on content providers, requiring a strong pipeline of new slot games and
the ability to secure rights to popular brand names and other entertainment-oriented content suitable for adaptation
for casino games. Future growth opportunities in the gaming equipment content will result not only from a strong
pipeline of well-defined branded games, but also from new product developments and technological advancements.

Our proprietary slot games business faces both direct and indirect competition. Manufacturers that offer proprietary
games to casino operators on a lease or participation basis compete directly with us. Direct competitors typically
offer specialty, niche or novelty games. In some cases they offer casino customers the right to purchase specialty
games at premium prices or at a lower price with ongoing license fees. Manufacturers that sell standard slot
machines to casino operators also compete with us for casino floor space and market share. We believe our new
business model of delivering increasingly more game content on third party game hardware will allow us to gain
entry into various markets and market segments in which we were previously either not present or underrepresented.
Our major slot game competitors include AC Coin & Slot Company, Alliance Gaming, Aristocrat Leisure Ltd., the
Atronic Group, International Game Technology, Konami Gaming Corporation, Multimedia Games Inc. and WMS
Industries.

Casino Management Systems Competition

Our CasinoLink® Enterprise Edition competes against systems from Alliance Gaming, Aristocrat, International
Game Technology, Konami and Atronic. This market is highly competitive. Pricing, product features and
functionality, accuracy and reliability are key factors in determining a provider’s success in selling its system.
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Because of the high initial costs of installing a computerized monitoring system, customers for such systems
generally do not change suppliers once they have installed a system. We have been successful primarily with
customers in foreign jurisdictions that desire to monitor geographically dispersed casinos from a centralized control
facility.

We believe that our products and patents serve as a significant barrier to entry for potential competitors. Our entry
level ITS Table Manager® version competes with products marketed by Alliance Gaming and Bravo. To our
knowledge, Sensys, in partnership with Chipco International, is also developing a competing product. We believe
that our components for progressive jackpot systems enjoy high market share and name recognition in the industry.
The primary competitors for our CasinoLink®™ Jackpot Station components are Aristocrat, Paltronics and IGT. We
may, in the future, face additional competition from other component manufacturers. In the placement of
progressive jackpot bonusing systems; we compete with IGT and the major slot machine manufacturers who have
developed their own proprietary gaming products that incorporate progressive jackpot bonusing systems into their
games.

Manufacturing and Assembly Operations

In May 2005, we completed the sale of our interior signage and graphics business as part of the realignment of our
business to become a leading global provider of content and technology to the gaming industry. Prior to the
divestiture, all manufacturing activities were solely related to the interior signage business and located in Hurricane,
Utah. Throughout the year, the assembly and warehousing of our electronic displays and progressive jackpots and
systems hardware were conducted in the same facility. Beginning in January 2006, the Company has entered into a
three year agreement with a third party contract manufacturer with facilities in Las Vegas, Nevada to assume
responsibility for the assembly, warehousing and shipping of our electronics products.

The Company’s Las Vegas operation primarily assembles, warehouses and distributes proprietary table games and
slot machines purchased from third party manufacturers.

Nearly all of the components and raw materials we use in our products are available from many sources. Many
suppliers can provide our electronic displays and progressive jackpots and systems hardware products. Accordingly,
we are not dependent in any significant way upon any single supplier or vendor for components, raw materials or
assembly.

In August 2004, we signed a license and development agreement with IGT to license segments of our patent
portfolio of technology and to develop video slot games based on our content, for a term continuing until the last to
expire of the patent rights under the agreement. The new games are to be developed on IGT’s game platform and
distributed by us. Pursuant to this agreement, IGT also licenses aspects of its intellectual property to us for its games
and we are committed to purchase from IGT a minimum of 600 slot machines carrying our game content on them
over the life of the agreement.

Marketing and Distribution

We maintain facilities to sell and service our products directly to markets throughout the world. In addition to our
headquarters and other facilities in Las Vegas, NV, we have regional sales offices in Sparks, NV; Egg Harbor, NJ;
Biloxi, MS; Lane Cove, Australia; Tallinn, Estonia; Houten, The Netherlands; Oldham, England; Oxford, England,
and Macau. We have third party sales and service distributors in the Caribbean, Europe, Asia, Australia and
Oklahoma. In addition, we have service centers in Kansas City, MO; Chicago, IL; and Calgary, Canada.

Research and Development

Our research and development department is dedicated to developing fun and exciting table and slot games that
enhance player entertainment value and to introducing leading, innovative systems products that increase our
customer’s revenue stream and facilitates operating efficiencies. Headed by our Chief Technology Officer, our R&D
staft of approximately 80 employees possesses significant experience in software and content design and
development. Our current emphasis is on developing new technologies to expand and improve CasinoLink®™
Enterprise Edition’s functionalities and developing new game content through third parties to refresh and grow our
installed base of gaming devices.

!
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To expedite the development of new slot games for our Game Station™ module, we are concurrently creating a
game development kit, a suite of software tools designed for third-party game developer partners to quickly expand
our content library. At the Global Gaming Expo in September 2005, we demonstrated approximately 35 new slot
games which were designed specifically for our Game Station module. Ten of these games are also available in a
stand-alone slot machine format.

We conduct extensive testing on the products we offer to ensure'they meet the key performance and quality
standards as required by gaming regulators. In addition, our R&D personnel constantly work with our customers to
respond to their needs and to ensure compatibility with other products currently available in the market. Moreover,
we closely monitor the evolving standards in the gammg 1ndustry so that we are able to respond and address new
technologies as they emerge

We believe our intellectual property rights, patents trademarks and copyrlghts are significant assets. In particular,
we own or have license rights to over 40 patents in the area of RFID technology and related table games system
management. This portfolio took over five years to develop and is expected to be a main focus of our R&D
resources in 2006 and beyond, and is expected to continue to evolve as we look towards the next generation of RFID
technology’s use within table systems management. In addition to internally developed and acquired emerging
gaming technologies, we also rely on strategic partnerships to obtain access to intellectual property. For example,
our joint development agreements with IGT and Bally provide us with access to technologies related to leading
gaming hardware platforms.

We intend to vigorously protect the investment in our research and development efforts and the unique features of
our products and services by maintaining our intellectual property rights. However, we cannot ensure that
intellectual property rights will not be infringed. Additionaily, we cannot be sure that our pending applications for
additional intellectual property rights will be granted.

During the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, we expended approximately $8.1 million, $6.1 million,
and $5.2 million respectively, on research and development activities.

Employees

As of December 31, 2005, we had approximately 315 employees worldwide, of whom approximately 26 were in
operations and assembly, 59 in sales and marketing, 93 in installation and service, 80 in research and development
and 57 in administration. None of our employees are covered by a collective bargaining agreement. We believe that
we enjoy good relanons with our empioyee work force.

1

Government Regulation
Overview

We are subject to regulation by governmental authorities in most jurisdictions in which our products are sold or used
by persons or entities licensed to conduct gaming activities. Gaming regulatory requirements vary from jurisdiction
to jurisdiction, and obtaining licenses, findings of suitability, registrations and/or other required approvals with
respect to us, our personnel and our products are time- consummg and expensive. References in this “Government
Regulation” section to “Progresswe ” “we,” “us” and “our” are to Progressive Gaming Intemat10nal Corporation
only, and not to its subsidiaries.

Generally, gaming regulatory authorities have broad discretionary powers and may deny applications for or revoke
approvals on any basis they deem reasonable. Despite our experience, we may be unable to obtain or maintain
necessary gaming regulatory approvals for us, our products or our personnel.

We, either directly or through our subsidiaries, have approvals that enable us to conduct our business in numerous
jurisdictions, subject in each case to the conditions of the particular approvals. These conditions may include
limitations as to the type of game or product we may sell or lease, as well as limitations on the type of facility (such
as riverboats) and the territory within which we may operate (such as tribal nations). Jurisdictions in which we
(together with our subsidiaries, and specific personnel where required) have authorizations with respect to some or
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all of our products and activities include Nevada, South Dakota, Mississippi, Iowa, Missouri, Oregon, Louisiana,
Colorado, Illinois, Washington, Arizona, Connecticut, Montana, New Jersey, North Carolina, North Dakota, New
Mexico, Kansas, Minnesota, Indiana, Michigan, New York, Wisconsin, California; the Canadian provinces of
Alberta, Manitoba, Nova Scotia, Quebec, Saskatchewan, British Columbia and Ontario; the Australian states of New
South Wales, Victoria, Queensland, Western Australia and Tasmania; the Australian territories of Northern Territory
and Australia Capital Territory; New Zealand; Mpumalanga and Gauteng in South Africa; and Greece.

Certain Native American tribes throughout the United States that have compacts with the states in which their tribal
dominions are located, operate or propose to operate casinos, and these tribes may require suppliers of gaming and
gaming-related equipment to obtain authorizations. We have worked and will continue to work with these tribes to
obtain the necessary authorizations.

During 2004 and 2005, we cooperated with certain state gaming authorities with respect to the required relicensing
of our company in certain jurisdictions, as well as the licensing of our Chief Financial Officer and related financial
controls, policies and procedures, our Chief Technology Officer and our General Counsel. This process is on-going
and the results are not expected to have a material adverse effect on us. We continue to cooperate with all gaming
regulatory agencies as necessary and applicable to maintain good standing in all jurisdictions in which we hold a
license. ,

Gaming Devices and Equipment

We sell or lease products which are considered to be “gaming devices” or “gaming equipment” in jurisdictions in
which gaming has been legalized. Although regulations vary among jurisdictions, each jurisdiction requires various
licenses, findings of suitability, registrations, approvals or permits to be held by companies and their key personnel
in connection with the manufacture and distribution of gaming devices and equipment.

Associated Equipment

Some of our products fall within the general classification of “associated equipment.” “Associated equipment” is
equipment that is not classified as a “gaming device,” but which has an integral relationship to the conduct of
licensed gaming. Regulatory authorities in some jurisdictions have discretion to require manufacturers and
distributors to meet licensing or suitability requirements prior to or concurrently with the use of associated
equipment. In other jurisdictions, the regulatory authorities must approve associated equipment in advance of its use
at licensed locations. We have obtained approval for our associated equipment in each jurisdiction that requires such
approval and in which our products that are classified as associated equipment are sold or used.

Regulation of Stockholders

In most jurisdictions, any beneficial owner of our voting securities or other securities may, at the discretion of the
gaming regulatory authorities, be required to file an application for a license, finding of suitability or other approval,
and in the process subject himself, herself or itself to an investigation by those authorities. The gaming laws and
regulations of most jurisdictions require beneficial owners of more than 5% of our outstanding voting securities to
file certain reports, and may require our directors and executive officers to undergo investigation for licensing or
findings of suitability.

Regulation and Licensing — Nev?da

Gaming. The manufacture, sale and distribution of gaming devices for use or play in Nevada or for distribution
outside of Nevada, the manufacturing and distribution of associated equipment for use in Nevada, and the operation
of slot machine routes and inter-casino linked systems in Nevada are subject to (i) the Nevada Gaming Control Act
and the regulations promuligated thereunder and (ii) various local ordinances and regulations. These activities are
subject to the licensing and regulatory control of the Nevada Gaming Commission, the Nevada State Gaming
Control Board, and various local, city and county regulatory agencies, collectively referred to as the Nevada Gaming
Authorities. ‘
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The laws, regulations and supervisory practices of the Nevada Gaming Authorities are based upon declarations of
public policy with the following objectives:

*  preventing any‘involvement, direct or indirect, of any unsavory or unsuitable persons in gammg or the
manufacture or drstrrbutron of gaming devices at any time or in any capacity;

e strictly regulating all persons, locatioﬁs, practices and activities related to the operation of licensed gaming
establishments and the manufacturing or distribution of gaming devices and equipment;

 establishing and maintaining responsible accounting practices and procedures;

* maintaining effective controls over the financial practices of licensees (including requirements covering
minimum procedures for internal fiscal controls and safeguarding assets and revenues, reliable recordkeeping
and periodic reports to be filed with the Nevada Gaming Authorities);

. preveming cheating and fraudulent practices; and
. prov1d1ng and monitoring sources of state and local revenue based on taxation and licensing fees.

Changes in such laws, regulations and procedures, dependmg upon their nature, could have an adverse effect on our
operations. We are registered by the Nevada Gaming Commission as a publicly traded corporation, or a Registered
Corporation, and have been found to be suitable to own the stock of Mikohn Nevada, which is licensed as a
manufacturer and distributor of gaming devices, and as an operator of a slot machine route. We and Mikohn Nevada
have obtained from the Nevada Gaming Authorities the various authorizations they require to engage in Nevada in
manufacturing, distribution, slot route operations and inter-casino linked system activities consisting of slot
machines. The regulatory requirements set forth below apply to us as a Registered Corporation and to Mikohn
Nevada as a manufacturer, distributor and operator of a slot machine route.

All gaming devices that are manufactured, sold or distributed for use or play in Nevada, or for distribution outside of
Nevada, must be manufactured by licensed manufacturers and distributed and sold by licensed distributors. The
Nevada Gaming Commission must approve all gaming devices manufactured for use or play in Nevada before
distribution or exposure for play. The approval process for gaming devices includes rigorous testing by the Nevada
State Gaming Control Board, a field trial and a determination that the gaming device meets strict technical standards
set forth in the regulations of the Nevada Gaming Commission. The Chairman of the Nevada State Gaming Control
Board must administratively approve associated equipment before it is distributed for use in Nevada. r

Asa Reglstered Corporation, we are periodically required to subnnt detailed financial and operatmg reports to the
Nevada Gaming Commission and furnish any other information the Nevada Gaming Commission may require. No
person may become a stockholder of or receive any percentage of profits from Mikohn Nevada wrthout first
obtaining authorlzatlons from the Nevada Gaming Authorities.

The Nevada Gaming Authorities‘may investigate any individual who has a material relationship to, or material
involvement with us or Mikohn Nevada in order to determine whether such individual is suitable or should be
licensed as a business associate of a gaming licensee. Officers, directors and certain key employees of Mikohn
Nevada are required to file applications with the Nevada Gaming Authorities and may be required to be licensed or
found suitable by the Nevada Gaming Authorities. Our officers, directors and key employees who are actively and
directly involved in gaming activities of Mikohn Nevada may be required to be licensed or found suitable by the
Nevada Gaming Authorities. The Nevada Gaming Authorities may deny an application for lrcensmg for any cause
that they deem reasonable. A finding of suitability is comparable to licensing. Both require submission of detailed
personal and financial information, which is followed by a thorough investigation. The applicant for licensing or a
finding of suitability must pay all,the costs of the investigation. Changes in licensed positions must be reported to
the Nevada Gaming Authorities. In addition to their authority to deny an application for a finding of suitability or .
licensure, the Nevada Gaming Authorities have the power to disapprove a change in corporate position.

If the Nevada Gaming Authorities were to find an officer, director or key employee unsuitable for licensing or
unsuitable to continue having a relationship with us or Mikohn Nevada, we would have to sever all relationships '
with that person. In addition, the Nevada Gaming Commission may require us or Mikohn Nevada to terminate the
employment of any person who refuses to file appropriate applications. Determinations of suitability or of questions
pertaining to licensing are not subject to judicial review in Nevada.
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Progressive and Mikohn Nevada are required to submit detailed financial and operating reports to the Nevada
Gaming Commission. Substantially all material loans, leases, sales of securities and similar financing transactions
by Mikohn Nevada also are required to be reported to or approved by the Nevada Gaming Commission.

Should Mikohn Nevada be found to have violated the Nevada Gaming Control Act, the licenses it holds could be
limited, conditioned, suspended or revoked. In addition, Mikohn Nevada, Progressive and the persons involved
could be required to pay substantial fines, at the discretion of the Nevada Gaming Commission, for each separate
violation of the Nevada Gaming Control Act. Limitation, conditioning or suspension of any license held by Mikohn
Nevada could (and revocation of any license would) materially adversely affect our manufacturing, distribution and
slot operations. ‘

Regulation of Security Holders. Any beneficial holder of our voting securities, regardless of the number of shares
owned, may be required to file an application, be investigated, and have his or her suitability as a beneficial holder
of our voting securities determined if the Nevada Gaming Commission finds reason to believe that such ownership
would otherwise be inconsistent with the declared policies of the State of Nevada. The applicant must pay all costs
of investigation incurred by the Nevada Gaming Authorities in conducting any such investigation.

The Nevada Gaming Control Act requires any person who acquires beneficial ownership of more than 5% of a
Registered Corporation’s voting securities to report the acquisition to the Nevada Gaming Commission. It also
requires beneficial owners of more than 10% of a Registered Corporation’s voting securities to apply to the Nevada
Gaming Commission for a finding of suitability within thirty days after the Chairman of the Nevada State Gaming
Control Board mails a written notice requiring such filing. Under certain circumstances, an “institutional investor,”
as defined in the Nevada Gaming Control Act, which acquires more than 10%, but not more than 15%, of the
Registered Corporation’s voting securities may apply to the Nevada Gaming Commission for a waiver of such
finding of suitability if such institutional investor holds the voting securities for investment purposes only. An
institutional investor that has obtained a waiver may, in certain circumstances hold up to 19% of a Registered
Corporation’s voting securities for a limited period of time and maintain the waiver.

An institutional investor is deemed to hold voting securities for investment purposes if the voting securities were
acquired and are held in the ordinary course of its business as an institutional investor and were not acquired and are
not held for the purpose of causing, directly or indirectly: (i) the election of a majority of the members of the board
of directors of the Registered Corporation; (ii) any change in the Registered Corporation’s corporate charter, bylaws,
management, policies or operations or those of any of its gaming affiliates or (iii) any other action that the Nevada
Gaming Commission finds to be inconsistent with holding the Registered Corporation’s voting securities for
investment purposes only. Activities which are not deemed to be inconsistent with holding voting securities for
investment purposes only include: (i) voting on all matters voted on by stockholders; (i1) making financial and other
inquiries of management of the type normally made by securities analysts for informational purposes and not to
cause a change in management, policies or operations and (iii) other activities the Nevada Gaming Commission may
determine to be consistent with investment intent. If the beneficial holder of voting securities who must be found
suitable is a corporation, partnership or trust, it must submit detailed business and financial information including a
list of beneficial owners. The applicant is required to pay all costs of investigation.

Any person who fails or refuses to apply for a finding of suitability or a license within 30 days after being ordered to
do so by the Nevada Gaming Commission or the Chairman of the Nevada State Gaming Control Board, may be
found unsuitable. The same restrictions apply to a record owner if the record owner, after request, fails to identify
the beneficial owner. Any stockholder of a Registered Corporation found unsuitable and who holds, directly or
indirectly, any beneficial ownership in the voting securities beyond such period of time as the Nevada Gaming
Commission may specify for filing any required application may be guilty of a criminal offense. Moreover, the
Registered Corporation will be subject to disciplinary action if| after it receives notice that a person is unsuitable to
be a stockholder or to have any other relationship with the Registered Corporation, it: (i) pays that person any
dividend on its voting securities; (ii) allows that person to exercise, directly or indirectly, any voting right conferred
through securities ownership; (iii) pays remuneration in any form to that person for services rendered or otherwise or
(iv) fails to pursue all lawful efforts (including, if necessary, the immediate purchase of said voting securities for
cash at fair market value) to require such unsuitable person to completely divest all voting securities held.
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The Nevada Gaming Commission may, in its discretion, require the holder of any debt security of a Registered
Corporation to file applications, be investigated and be found suitable to own the debt security of a Registered
Corporation if the Nevada Gaming Commission finds reason to believe that such ownership would otherwise be
inconsistent with the declared policies of the State of Nevada. If the Nevada Gaming Commission determines that a
person is unsuitable to own such security, it may sanction the Registered Corporation, which sanctions may include
the loss of its approvals if, without the prior approval of the Nevada Gaming Commission: it (i) pays to the
unsuitable person any dividend, interest, or other distribution; (ii) recognizes any voting right of such unsuitable
person in connection with such securities; (iii) pays the unsuitable person remuneration in any form or (iv) makes
any payment to the unsuitable person by way of principal, redemptlon, conversion, exchange, liquidation or similar
transaction.

Progressive and Mikohn Nevada are required to maintain current stock ledgers in Nevada that may be examined by
the Nevada Gaming Authorities at any time. If any securities are held in trust by an agent or by 4 nominee, the
record owner may be required to disclose the identity of the beneficial owner to the Nevada Garhing Authorities. A
failure to make such disclosure may be grounds for finding the record owner unsuitable.

We are also required to render maximum assistance in determining the identity of the beneficial owners of our
securities. The Nevada Gaming Commission has the power to require us to imprint our stock certificates with a
legend stating that the securities are subject to the Nevada Gaming Control Act. To date, the Nevada Gaming
Commission has not imposed such requirement on us.

We may not make a public offefing of our securities without the prior approval of the Nevada Gaming Commission
if the securities or proceeds are to be used to construct, acquire or finance gaming facilities in Nevada, or to retire or
extend obligations incurred for such purposes. Such approval, if given, does not constitute a finding,
recommendation or approval by'the Nevada Gaming Commission or the Nevada State Gaming Control Board as to.
the accuracy or adequacy of the prospectus or the investment merit of the offered securities, and any representation
to the contrary is unlawful.

Any offer by us to sell our common stock requires the review of, and prior approval by, the Nevada Gaming
Commission. On September 27, 2003, we received prior approval, referred to as the Shelf Approval, by the Nevada
Gaming Commission to make public offerings for a period of two years, subject to certain conditions, which covers
registered common stock issued after the date of the Shelf Approval. The Shelf Approval may be rescinded for good
cause without prior notice upon the issuance of an interlocutory stop order by the Chairman of the Nevada State
Gaming Control Board and must be renewed at the end of the two-year approval period. The Shelf Approval applies
to any affiliated company that is wholly owned by us, which is a publicly traded corporation or would thereby
become a publicly traded corporation pursuant to a public offering. The Shelf Approval does not constitute a
finding, recommendation or approval by the Nevada Gaming Commission as to the accuracy or adequacy of the
prospectus or the investment merits of the securities offered. Any representation to the contrary is unlawful.

Changes in control of a Registered Corporation through merger, consolidation, stock or asset acquisitions,
management or consulting agreements, or any act or conduct, by which anyone obtains control, may not lawfully
occur without the prior approval of the Nevada Gaming Commission. Entities seeking to acquire control of a
Registered Corporation must meet the strict standards established by the Nevada State Gaming Control Board and
the Nevada Gaming Commission prior to assuming control of a Registered Corporation. The Nevada Gaming
Commission also may require persons who intend to become controlling stockholders, officers or directors, and
other persons who expect to have a material relationship or involvement with the acquired company, to be
investigated and licensed as part of the approval process. l

The Nevada legislature has declared that some corporate acquisitions opposed by management repurchases of
voting securities and corporate defense tactics affecting Nevada corporate gaming licensees, and Registered
Corporations that are affiliated with those operations, may be injurious to stable and productive corporate gaming.
The Nevada Gaming Commission has established a regulatory scheme to minimize the potentially adverse effects of
these business practices upon Nevada’s gaming industry and to further Nevada’s policy to: (i) assure the financial
stability of corporate gaming licensees and their affiliates; (ii) preserve the beneficial aspects of conducting business
in the corporate form; and (iii) promote a neutral environment for the orderly governance of corporate affairs.
Approvals are, in certain circumstances, required from the Nevada Gaming Commission before the Registered
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Corporation can make exceptional repurchases of voting securities above market price and before a corporate
acquisition opposed by management can be consummated. The Nevada Gaming Control Act also requires prior
approval of a plan of recapitalization proposed by the Registered Corporation’s board of directors in response to a
tender offer made directly to the Registered Corporation’s stockholders for the purpose of acquiring control of the
Registered Corporation.

License fees and taxes, computed in various ways depending on the type of gaming or activity involved, must be
paid to the State of Nevada and to the counties and cities in which gaming operations are conducted. These fees and
taxes, depending upon their nature, are payable monthly, quarterly or annually and are based upon either a
percentage of the gross revenues received or the number of gaming devices operated. Annual fees are also payable
to the State of Nevada for renewal of licenses as an operator of a slot machine route, manufacturer and/or distributor.

Any person who is licensed, required to be licensed, registered, required to be registered, or who is under common
control with any such persons, collectively, “Licensees”, and who proposes to become involved in a gaming venture
outside of Nevada, is required to deposit with the Nevada State Gaming Control Board, and thereafter maintain, a
revolving fund in the amount of $10,000 to pay the expenses of investigation by the Nevada State Gaming Control
Board of his or her participation outside of Nevada. The revolving fund is subject to increase or decrease at the
discretion of the Nevada Gaming Commission. Thereafter, Licensees are required to comply with certain reporting
requirements imposed by the Nevada Gammg Control Act. Licensees also are subject to disciplinary action by the
Nevada Gaming Commission if they knowingly violate any laws of the foreign jurisdiction pertaining to the non-
Nevada gaming operations, fail to conduct the foreign gaming operations in accordance with the standards of
honesty and integrity required of Nevada gaming operations, engage in activities or enter into associations that are
harmful to the State of Nevada or its ability to collect gaming taxes and fees, or employ, contract with or associate
with a person in the non-Nevada operations who has been denied a license or finding of suitability in Nevada on the
ground of unsuitability. ‘

Other Jurisdictions

All other jurisdictions that have legalized gaming require various licenses, registrations, findings of suitability,
permits and approvals for manufacturers and distributors of gaming devices and equipment as well as licensure
provisions related to changes in control In general, such requirements involve restrictions similar to those of
Nevada.

Federal Regulation

The Federal Gambling Devices Act of 1962, or the Federal Act, makes it unlawful, in general, for a person to
manufacture, transport, or receive gaming machines, gaming machine type devices, and components across state
lines or to operate gaming machines unless that person has first registered with the Attorney General of the United
States. We have registered and must renew our registration annually. In addition, the Federal Act imposes various
record keeping and equipment identification requirements. Violation of the Federal Act may result in seizure and
forfeiture of the equipment, as well as other penalties.

Application of Future or Additional Regulatory Requirements

In the future, we intend to seek the necessary registrations, licenses, approvals and findings of suitability for us, our
products and our personnel in other jurisdictions throughout the world where significant sales of our products are
expected to be made. However, we may be unable to obtain these registrations, licenses, approvals or findings of
suitability, which if obtained may be revoked, suspended or unsuitably conditioned. In addition, we may be unable
to timely obtain, or to obtain at all, the necessary approvals for our future products as they are developed, even in
those jurisdictions in which our existing products have been licensed or approved. If a registration, license, approval
or finding of suitability is required by a regulatory authority and we fail to seek or do not receive the necessary
registration, license, approval or finding of suitability, we may be prohibited from selling our products for use in that
Jurisdiction or may be required to sell our products through other licensed entities at a reduced profit.
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Available Information

Our Internet address is www.progressivegaming.net. We make available free of charge through our Internet website
our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form §-K, and amendments to
those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities and Exchange Act, as amended,
as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

You should consider carefully the following risk factors, together with all of the other information included in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. Each of these risk factors could adversely affect our business, operating results and
financial condition, as well as adversely affect the value of an investment in our common stock.

Risks Relating to Our Business

If we are unable to develop or introduce innovative products and technologies that gain market acceptance and
satisfy consumer preferences, our current and future revenues will be adversely affected.

Our current and future performance is dependent upon the continued popularity of our existing broducts and
technologies and our ability to develop and introduce new products and technologies that gain market acceptance
and satisfy consumer preferences. The popularity of any of our gaming products and technologies may decline over
time as consumer preferences change or as new, competing products or new technologies are introduced by our
competitors. If we are unable to develop or market innovative products or technologies in the future, or if our current
products or technologies become obsolete or otherwise noncompetitive, our ability to, sustain current revenues from
our existing customers or to generate additional revenues from existing or new customers would be adversely
affected, which, in turn, could materially reduce our profitability and growth potential. In addition, the introduction
of new and innovative products and technologies by our competitors that are successful in meeting consumer
preferences also could materially reduce our competitiveness and adversely affect our revenues and our business,

The development of new products and technologies requires a significant investment by us prior to any of the
products or technologies becoming available for the market. New products, such as new games and refresher
versions of our existing games, may not gain popularity with gaming patrons, or may not maintain any popularity
achieved. In the event any new products or technologies fail to gain market acceptance or appeal to consumer
preferences, we may be unable to recover the cost of developing these products or technologies.

If we are unable to rapidly develop new technologies, our products and technologies may become obsolete or
noncompetitive.

The gaming sector is characterized by the rapid development of new technologies and continuous introduction of
new products. In addition to requiring a strong pipeline of proprietary games, our success is dependent upon new
product development and technological advancements, including the continued development of cashless technology,
table player tracking technologies, central server-based products and technologies, progressive jackpot systems and
integrated management systems. The markets in which we compete are subject to frequent technological changes,
and one or more of our competitors may develop alternative technologies or products for bonusing, progressive
jackpots, slot accounting, cashless technology, player tracking or game promotions, or a superior game platform
which may not be made available to us. While we expend a significant amount of resources on research and
development and product enhancement, we may not be able to continue to improve and market our existing products
or technologies or develop and market new products at a rapid enough pace. Further technological developments
may cause our products or technologies to become obsolete or noncompetitive.

If our current or proposed products or technologies do not receive regulatory approval, our revenue and business
prospects will be adversely affected.

Our products and technologies are in various stages of development. Our development efforts are dependent on

factors such as obtaining requisite governmental approvals. Each of these products and technologies requires
separate regulatory approval in each market in which we do business, and this regulatory approval may either not be
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granted at all or not be granted in a timely manner, for reasons primarily outside of our control. In addition, we
cannot predict with any accuracy which jurisdictions or markets, if any, will accept and which authorities will
approve the operation of our gaming products and technologies, or the timing of any such approvals. A lack of
regulatory approval for our new games or other products and technologies, or refresher versions of our existing
games or other products and technologies, or delays in obtaining necessary regulatory approvals, will adversely
affect our revenues and business prospects.

For example, RFID (radio frequency identification), CJS (Casino Jackpot Station) and central server-based gaming
represent three of our key strategic initiatives over the next several years. While we are moving forward with the
regulators in various jurisdictions to obtain required approvals, we are at various stages in the approval and
development process for each initiative. We cannot assure you that we will receive the necessary approvals in all of
the jurisdictions we have sought approval nor can we assure you that there will not be any production delays in
developing and distributing these products and technologies. Any delay in production or in the regulatory process, or
a denial of regulatory approval altogether, for any one of these initiatives will adversely impact our revenues and
business.

If our products or technologies currently in development do not achieve commercial success, our revenue and
business prospects will be adversely affected.

While we are pursuing and will continue to pursue product and technological development opportunities, there can
be no assurance that such products or technologies will come to fruition or become successful. Furthermore, while a
number of those products and technologies are being tested, we cannot provide any definite date by which they will
be commercially viable and available, if at all. We may experience operational problems with such products after
commercial introduction that could delay or prevent us from generating revenue or operating profits. Future
operational problems could increase our costs, delay our plans or adversely affect our reputation or our sales of other
products which, in turn, could materially adversely affect our success. We cannot predict which of the many
possible future products or technologies currently in development will meet evolving industry standards and
consumer demands. We cannot assure you that we will be able to adapt to technological changes or offer products
on a timely basis or establish or mairitain a competitive position.

We may not be successful in forming or maintaining strategic alliances with other companies, which could
negatively affect our product offerings and sales.

Our business is becoming increasingly dependent on forming or maintaining strategic alliances with other
companies, and we may not be able to form or maintain alliances that are important to ensure that our products and
technologies are compatible with third-party products and technologies, to enable us to license our products and
technologies to potential new customers and into potential new markets, and to enable us to continue to enter into
new agreements with our existing customers. There can be no assurance that we will identify the best alliances for
our business or that we will be able to maintain existing relationships with other companies or enter into new
alliances with other companies on acceptable terms or at all. The failure to maintain or establish successful strategic
alliances could have a material advetse effect on our business or financial results. If we cannot form and maintain
significant strategic alliances with other companies as our target markets and technology evolve, the sales
opportunities for our products and technologies could deteriorate.

'
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If any conflicts arise between us and any of our alliance partners, our reputatton, revenues and cash position
could be significantly harmed. ‘

Conflicts may arise between us and our. alliance partners such as confhcts concerning licensing and royalty fees,
development or distribution obligations, the achievement of milestones or the ownership or protection of intellectual
property developed by the alliance or otherwise. Any such disagreement between us and an alliance partner could
resuit in one or more of the following, each of which could harm our reputation, result in a loss of revenues and a
reduction in our cash position: :

* unwillingness on the part of an alliance partner to pay us license fees or royaltles we believe are due to us under
the strateglc alhance

* uncertainty regarding ownership of intellectual property rights arising from our strategic alliance activities,
which could result in litigation, permit third parties to use cértain of our intellectual property or prevent us from
utilizing such intellectual property rights and from entering into additional strategic alliances;

* unwillingness on the part of an alliance partner to keep us informed regarding the progress of its development
and commercialization activities, or to-permit public disclosure of the results of those activities;

* slowing or cessation of an alliance partner’s development or commercialization efforts with respect to our
products or technologies;

. delays in the introduction or commercialization of products or technologies; or
* termination or non-renewal of the strategic alliance.

In addition, certain of our current or future alliance partners may have the right to terminate the strategic alliance on
short notice. Accordingly, in the event of any conflict between the parties, our alliance partners may elect to
terminate the agreement or alliance prior to completion of its original term. If a strategic alliance is terminated
prematurely, we would not realize the anticipated benefits of the strategic alliance, our reputatlon in the industry and
in the investment community may be harmed and our stock price may decline.

In addition, in certain of our current or future strategic alliances, we may agree not to develop products
independently, or with any third party, directly competitive with the subject matter of our strategxc alliances. Our
strategic alliances may have the effect of limiting the areas of research, development and/or commercialization that
we may pursue, either alone or with others. Under certain circumstances, however, our alliance partners, may
research, develop, or commercialize, either alone or with others, products in related fields that are competitive with
the products or potential products that are the subject of these strategic alliances. For example, as part of our joint
development arrangement with IGT and Shuffle Master, we agreed not to manufacture or sell our intelligent shoe
products for a three-year period.,

If our remaining license agreements with Hasbro, Inc. and other content providers are terminated or are not
renewed, or if we breach our obltgatwns under any ltcense agreement our revenues could be reduced.

Revenues from our table and slot games segment are derived primarily from the popularity of our branded slot :
games, including licensed brands such as Clue®, Ripley’s Believe It or Not!® and Trivial Pursuit®. We developed
these slot games under multi-year license agreements, which contain options to renew, with Hasbro and Ripley
Entertainment and have developed other slot games under agreements with other branded content providers. We are
also in the process of developing additional games under similar agreements with separate licensors for additional
branded content, including an agreement with Paws, Inc. for use of the Garfield® property.

Any termination or failure to renew a license agreement with our branded content providers could have a material,
adverse effect on our revenues and operations. For example, Hasbro declined to renew the Yahtzee and Battleship
brands with us as of December 15, 2004. While we believe that we will be able to replace this content with other
popular branded slot games, our failure to do so could materially affect our future revenues. In addition, we are
engaged in litigation with Hasbro related to a claim for past due royalties on slot game titles that we licensed from
Hasbro, and we cannot assure you that this litigation will be resolved or that Hasbro will renew other license
agreements with us for other Hasbro brands. For example in the second quarter of 2006 our Clue® and Trivial
Pursuit® license arrangements with Hasbro will expire unless they are renewed with the consent of both parties.
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Each license agreement contains provisions that obligate us to perform in a certain manner. If we breach these
obligations, the licensor may terminate the license agreement following a specified period that varies from
immediate termination to thirty days, depending upon the agreement and the type of breach. In addition, any breach
of our obligations may adversely affect our relationship with the licensor, as well as deter the licensor and other
third parties from licensing additional brands to us. Our ability to renew our license agreements with Hasbro, Paws
or Ripley Entertainment for an additional term is conditioned upon our having paid minimum royalties to the
licensor during the applicable initial term. If we do not generate sufficient revenues to pay the minimum royalties or
otherwise are unable to renew any of our license agreements with the licensor, our future revenues may be
materially reduced. ‘

Our failure to protect, maintain and énforce our existing intellectual property or secure, maintain and enforce
such rights for new proprietary technology could adversely affect our future growth and success.

Our ability to successfully protect our intellectual property is essential to our success. We protect our intellectual
property through a combination of patent, trademark, copyright and trade secret laws, as well as licensing
agreements and third-party nondisclosure and assignment agreements. Certain of our existing and proposed products
are covered by patents issued in the United States, which may differ from patent protection in foreign jurisdictions,
where our intellectual property may not receive the same degree of protection as it would in the United States. In
addition, in many countries intellectual property rights are conditioned upon obtaining registrations for trademarks,
patents and other rights, and we have not obtained such registrations in all relevant jurisdictions. Failure to
effectively protect our intellectual property could significantly impair our competitive advantage and adversely
affect our revenues and the value of our common stock.

Our future success is also dependent upon our ability to secure our rights in any new proprietary technology that we
develop. We file trademark, copyright and patent applications to protect intellectual property rights for many of our
trademarks, proprietary games, gaming products and improvements to these products. For example, we applied for
patents for our knowledge-based bonus features and other game enhancements which have been utilized in our
Think Big® game series, which includes our Ripley’s Believe It or Not!®, Clue® and Trivial Pursuit® games. The
U.S. Patent and Trademark Office has not acted upon all of these applications and may determine not to issue
patents on some or all of our pending patent applications. Our failure to obtain federal protection for our patents and
trademarks could cause us to become subject to additional competition and could have a material adverse effect on
our future revenues and operations. In addition, any of the patents that we own, acquire or license may be
determined to be invalid or otherwise unenforceable and would, in such case, not provide any protection with
respect to the associated intellectual property rights.

If we are unable to effectively promote our trademarks, our revenues and results of operations may be materially
adversely affected.

| v
We intend to promote the trademarks that we own and license from third parties to differentiate ourselves from our
competitors and to build goodwill with our customers. These promotion efforts will require certain expenditures on
our part. However, our efforts may be unsuccessful and these trademarks may not result in the competitive
advantage that we anticipate. In such event, our revenues and results of operations may be materially adversely
affected by the costs and expenses related to the promotion of such trademarks.

Our competitors may develop non-infringing products or technologies that adversely affect our future growth and
revenues. !

It is possible that our competitors will produce proprietary games or gaming products similar to ours without
infringing on our intellectual property rights. We also rely on unpatented proprietary technologies. It is possible that
others will independently develop the same or similar technologies or otherwise obtain access to the unpatented
technologies upon which we rely for future growth and revenues. In addition, to protect our trade secrets and other
proprietary information, we generally require employees, consultants, advisors and strategic partners to enter into
confidentiality agreements or agreements containing confidentiality provisions. We cannot assure you that these
agreements will provide meaningful protection for our trade secrets, know-how or other proprietary information in
the event of any unauthorized use, misappropriation or disclosure of such trade secrets, know-how or other
proprietary information. Failure to meaningfully protect our trade secrets, know-how or other proprietary
information could adversely affect our future growth and revenues.
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We may incur significant litigation expenses protecting our intellectual property or defending our use of
intellectual property, which may have a material adverse effect on our cash flow.

Significant litigation regarding intellectual property exists in our industry. Competitors and other third parties may
infringe on our intellectual property rights. Alternatively, competitors may allege that we have infringed on their
intellectual property rights. For example, Interactive Systems Worldwide, Inc. sued us for patent infringement on
December 14, 2005: Any claims, even those made by third parties which are without merit, could:

* be expensive and time consuming to defend resulting in the diversion of management’s attention and resources;

* cause one or more of our patents to be ruled or rendered unenforceable or invalid, or require us to cease making,
licensing or using products.or systems that inéorporate the challenged intellectual property; or

* require us to spend 51gn1ﬁcant time and money to rede51gn, reengineer or rebrand our products or systems 1f
feasible.

See “Item 3. Legal Proceedings” in this Annual Report on-Form 10-K for a description of various legal proceedings
in-which we are involved. s . - ‘

If we are found to be infringing on a third-party’s intellectual property rights, we.may be forced to discontinue
certain products or technologies, pay damages or obtain a license to use the intellectual property, any of which
may adversely affect our future growth and revenues.

If we are found to be infringing on a third party’s intellectual property rights, we may be forced!to discontinue
certain products or the use of certain competitive technologies or features, which may have a material adverse effect
on our future growth and revemies.

Altematwely, if the company holding the apphcable patent is willing to give us a license that allows us to develop,
manufacture or market our products or technologies, we may be required to obtain a license from them. Such a
license may require the payment of a license, royalty or similar fee or payment and may limit our ability to market
new products or téchnologies, which would adversely affect our future growth and revenues. In addltron, if we are
found to have committed patent 1nfr1ngement we may be obligated to pay damages or be subject to other remedies,
which could adversely affect the value of our common stock.

Some of our products may contain open source software which may be subject to restrictive open source licenses
requiring us to make our source code available to third parties and potentially granting third parues certain
rights to the software

Some of our products may contam open source software which may be subject to restrictive open source licenses.
Some of these licenses may require that we make our source code related to the licensed open source software
available to third parties and/or license such software under the terms of a particular open source license potentially
granting third parties certain rights to the software. We may incur legal expenses in defending against claims that we
did not abide by such licenses. If our defenses are unsuccessful we may be enjoined from dlstnbutmg products
containing such open source software, be required to make the relevant source code available to thlrd parties, be
required to grant third parties certain rights to the software, be subject to potential damages or be required to remove
the open source software from our products. Any of these outcomes could disrupt our dlsmbutlon and sale of related
products and adversely affect our revenues and the value of our common stock.

We depend upon our ability to obtain licenses for popular intellectual properties and our failure to secure such
licenses with acceptable terms could adversely affect our future growth and success. ' :

Our future success depends upon our ability to obtain licenses for popular intellectual properties. Clue®, Ripley’s
Believe It Or Not!®, Trivial Pursuit®, Garfield®, and Wink’s Survey of America® are among the intellectual
properties that we currently license from third parties. We may not be successful in obtaining licenses for popular
intellectual property. Even if we are successful in these efforts, we may not have the ability to adapt or deploy them
for the development of casino games, as to the timing or cost of such development efforts or as to the commercial
success of the resulting games.

{
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The Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, or PCAOB, is conducting an inspection of our external
auditors BDO Seidman LLP and their audit of our financial statements as of and for the year ended December
31, 2004.

The PCAOB is conducting an inspection of BDO Seidman LLP, our external auditors. As part of this inspection, the
PCAORB has selected, among others, to review BDO Seidman’s audit of our financial statements as of and for the
year ended December 31, 2004. The PCAOB has requested additional information and analysis from BDO Seidman
regarding our recognition of revenue in connection with a strategic licensing transaction we entered into in 2004. In
addition, the PCAOB has requested information regarding certain other revenue transactions in 2004 and 2005.

We believe that our accounting methods for these transactions are correct. However, in the event the PCAOB
determines that a different method should have been used to report this financial information, we may be required to
treat this revenue in a manner different than what has been recorded in our historical financial statements. The
PCAOB’s inspection of BDO Seidman is ongoing and there can be no assurance as to when it will be completed. In
addition, we cannot assure you that in the course of this inspection, the PCAOB will not identify additional
information contained in our historical financial statements which it believes could have been reported differently,
or the prospective impact of any such items on our financial statements.

We operate in a highly competitive market and may be unable to successfully compete which may harm our
operating results. !

We compete with a number of developers, manufacturers and distributors of similar products and technologies.
Many of our competitors are large companies that have greater access to capital, marketing and development
resources than we have. Larger competitors may have more resources to devote to research and development and
may be able to more efficiently and effectively obtain regulatory approval. In addition, competitors with a larger
installed base of games have an advantage in retaining the most space and best placement in casinos. These
competitors may also have the advantage of being able to convert their installed games to newer models in order to
maintain their share of casino floor space. Similarly, the casino management systems market is highly competitive.
Pricing, product features and functionality, accuracy and reliability are key factors in determining a provider’s
success in selling its system. Becausée of the high initial costs of installing a computerized monitoring system,
customers for such systems generally do not change suppliers once they have installed a system. This may make it
difficult for us to attract customers who have existing computerized monitoring systems.

Our business and revenues will be negatively affected if we are unable to compete effectively in the markets for our
products and technologies. New competitors also may enter our key markets. Numerous factors may affect our
ability to successfully compete and thus affect our future performance, including:

* the relative popularity of our existing products and our ability to develop and introduce appealing new products;
* our ability to obtain adequate space and favorable placement on casino gaming floors;
* our ability to maintain existing regulatory approvals and to obtain further regulatory approvals as needed; and

+ our ability to enforce our existing intellectual property rights and to adequately secure, maintain and protect
rights for new products.

Our cash flow from operations and available credit may not be sufficient to meet our capital requirements and, as
a result, we could be dependent upon future financing, which may not be available.

Historically, we have not generated sufficient cash flow from operations to satisfy our capital requirements and have
relied upon debt and equity financing arrangements to satisfy such requirements. Should such financing
arrangements be required but unavailable in the future, this will pose a significant risk to our liquidity and ability to
meet operational and other cash requirements. Our bank credit facility with CapitalSource expired on December 15,
2005. We have not replaced this credit facility. There can be no assurance that additional financing will be available
on acceptable terms, or at all. If we are unable to secure a replacement credit facility on terms acceptable to us, this
may pose a significant risk to our liquidity and ability to meet operational and other cash requirements. As part of
our alliance with IGT, we entered into a joint development agreement and gave IGT an option to purchase $40
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million of our 6% senior subordinated convertible notes. On February 28, 2006, we provided IGT with requisite
notice that we were prepared to issue these notes. IGT determined not to purchase the notes at this time, and by its
terms the option lapsed.

The table and slot games business segment has historically been capital-intensive, and while we have repositioned
our business away from assembling hardware, we still maintain and refurbish the slot machines we currently have in
the field, so our business may remain capital-intensive depending on a number of factors, including, but not limited
to, our ability to continue to use the existing slot machines we own or lease from a third party, or our success in
providing popular and innovative game content ideas for slot machines such that a manufacturer of slot machines
would agree to provide slot machines which incorporate our game content in exchange for a portion of revenues
earned from the sale or leasing arrangement with a casino. If we are not successful in these areas, among others, we
may be required to continue expending significant capital outlays related to this business segment.

We may not be able to obtain additional capital to fund these outlays or to take advantage of future opportunities or
respond to changing demands of customers and competitors.

If gaming operators cancel the placement of our games or do not agree to recurring revenue arrangements, our
revenues and growth could be adversely affected.

Under the terms of our current arrangements with gaming operators, our installed base of games may be replaced by
competing products under certain circumstances, thus ending the recurring revenue stream or arrangement with such
operator. Such replacement may result from competition, changes in economic conditions, technological
requirements, obsolescence or declining popularity. For example, from June 30, 2005 to December 31, 2005, our
installed base of slot games decreased 67% from 1,024 to 336. A further decrease in our installed base of games
would adversely affect our revenues and future growth, In addition, if customers replace our games and bonusing
systems, our efforts to maintain and expand the number of installed proprietary games through enhancement of
existing games and bonusing systems, introduction of new games and bonusing systems, and other features and the
provision of superior customer service may not be successful.

Furthermore, prominent placement of our games on the casino floor is necessary to maximize the amount of
recurring revenues derived from each of our games. Our leases do not require the gaming operators to place our
games in prominent locations. If we fail to maintain prominent locations in casinos, our games may not be played,
resulting in a reduction of our recurring revenues.

We have historically placed our proprietary games in casinos primarily under leases which provide for a fixed rental
payment or on the basis of revenue participation in the game’s operating results. Most of these lease agreements are
for 12 to 36 months and are subject to cancellation by the operator that may involve 30 or 60-day prior notice of
cancellation. We will continue to follow this model to the extent that there is interest amongst our customers.

The gaming industry is highly regulated and we must adhere to various regulations and maintain our licenses to
continue our operations.

The distribution of gaming products and conduct of gaming operations are extensively regulated by various
domestic and foreign gaming authorities. Although the laws of different jurisdictions vary in their technical
requirements and are amended from time-to-time, virtually all jurisdictions in which we operate require
registrations, licenses, findings of suitability, permits and other approvals, as well as documentation of
qualifications, including evidence of the integrity, financial stability and responsibility of our officers, directors,
major stockholders and key personnel. If we fail to'comply with the laws and regulations to which we are subject,
the applicable domestic or foreign gaming authority may impose significant penalties and restrictions on our
operations, resulting in a material adverse effect on our revenues and future business. See “Item 1. Business —
Government Regulation” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a description of the regulations that apply to our
business. . o

Future authorizations or regulatory approvals may not be granted in a timely manner or at all whlch would
adversely affect our results of operatzons

We will be subject to regulation in any other jurisdiction where our customers may operate in the future. Future
authorizations or approvals required by domestic and foreign gaming authorities may not be granted at all or as
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timely as we would like, and current or future authorizations may not be renewed. In addition, we may be unable to
obtain the authorizations necessary to operate new products or new technologies or to operate our current products
or technologies in new markets, For example, our Ticket-In Ticket-Out (TITO) feature for slot games has not yet
been approved in Nevada. If we are not able to obtain TITO approval in Nevada, our ability to generate revenue may
be significantly impaired. In either case, our results of operations would likely be adversely affected. Gaming
authorities can also place burdensome conditions and limits on future authorizations and approvals. If we fail to
maintain or obtain a necessary registration, license, approval or finding of suitability, we may be prohibited from
selling our products or technologies for use in the jurisdiction, or we may be required to sell them through other
licensed entities at a reduced profit. The continued growth of markets for our products and technologies is
contingent upon regulatory approvals by various federal, state, local and foreign gaming authorities. We cannot
predict which new jurisdictions or markets, if any, will accept and which authorities will approve the operation of
our gaming products and technologies, the timing of any such approvals or the level of our penetration in any such
markets.

Enforcement of remedies or contracts against Native American tribes could be difficuit.

Many of our contracts with Native American tribes are subject to sovereign immunity and tribal jurisdiction. If a
dispute arises with respect to any of those agreements, it could be difficult for us to protect our rights. Native
American tribes generally enjoy sovereign immunity from suit similar to that enjoyed by individual states and the
United States. In order to sue a Native American tribe {or an agency or instrumentality of a Native American tribe),
the tribe must have effectively waived its sovereign immunity with respect to the matter in dispute. Moreover, even
if a Native American tribe were to waive sovereign immunity, such waiver may not be valid and in the absence of an
effective waiver of sovereign immunity by a Native American tribe, we could be precluded from judicially enforcing
any rights or remedies against that tribe.

Our business is closely tied to the casino industry and factors that negatively impact the casino industry may also
negatively affect our ability to generate revenues.

Casinos and other gaming operators represent a significant portion of our customers. Therefore, factors that may
negatively impact the casino industry may also negatively impact our future revenues. If casinos experience reduced
patronage, revenues may be reduced as our games may not perform well and may be taken off of the casino floor
altogether. ‘

The level of casino patronage, and therefore our revenues, are affected by a number of factors beyond our control,
including:

* general economic conditions;

» levels of disposable income of casino patrons;

* downturn or loss in popularity of the gaming industry in general, and table and slot games in particular,
» the relative popularity of entertainment alternatives to casino gaming;

¢ the growth and number of legalized gaming jurisdictions;

* local conditions in key gaming markets, including seasonal and weather-related factors;

¢ increased transportation costs;

* acts of terrorism and anti-terrorism efforts;

* changes or proposed changes toitax laws;

* increases in gaming taxes or feejs;

* legal and regulatory issues affecting the development, operation and licensing of casinos;
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« the availability and cost of capital to construct, expand or renovate new and existing casinos;
* the level of new casino construction and renovation schedules of existing casinos; and

« competitive conditions in the gaming industry and in particular gaming markets, including the effect of such
conditions on the pricing of our games and products.

These factors significantly impact the demand for our products and technologies.

The gaming industry is sensitive to declines in the public acceptance of gaming. Public opinion can negatively
affect the gaming industry and our future performance.

In the event that there is a decline in public acceptance of gaming, this may affect our ability to do business in some
markets, either through unfavorable legislation affecting the introduction of gaming into emerging markets, or
through legislative and regulatory changes in existing gaming markets which may adversely affect our ability to
continue to sell and lease our games in those jurisdictions, or through resulting reduced casino patronage. We cannot

assure you that the level of support for legalized gaming or the public use of leisure money in gaming activities will
not decline.

Economic, political and other risks associated with our international sales and operations could adversely affect
our operating results.

Since we sell our products worldwide, our business is subject to risks associated with doing business internationally.
Our sales to customers outside the United States, primarily Canada, the United Kingdom and Australia, accounted
for approximately 19.9% of our consolidated revenue in fiscal 2005. We expect the percentage of our international
sales to increase in 2006. Accordingly, our future results could be harmed by a variety of factors, including:

* changes in foreign currency exchange rates;

* exchange controls;

» changes in regulatory requirements;

* costs to comply with applicable laws;

» changes in a specific country’s or region’s political or economic conditions;

» tariffs and other trade protection measures;

» import or export licensing requirements;

» potentially negative consequences from changes in tax laws;

» different regimes controlling the protection of our intellectual property;

+ difficulty in staffing and managing widespread operations;

¢ changing labor regulations;

¢ requirements relating to withholding taxes on remittances and other payments by subsidiaries;

* restrictions on our ability to own or operate subsidiaries, make investments or acquire new businesses in these
jurisdictions;

« restrictions on our ability to repatriate dividends from our subsidiaries; and

» violations under the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act.
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Holders of our common stock are subject to the requirements of the gaming laws of all jurisdictions in which we
are licensed. ‘

Pursuant to applicable laws, gaming regulatory authorities in any jurisdiction in which we are subject to regulation
may, in their discretion, require a holder of any of our securities to provide information, respond to questions, make
filings, be investigated, licensed, qualified or found suitable to own our securities. Moreover, the holder of the
securities making any such required application is generally required to pay all costs of the investigation, licensure,
qualification or finding of suitability. -

If any holder of our securities fails to comply with the requirements of any gaming authority, we have the right, at
our option, to require such holder to dispose of such holder’s securities within the period specified by the applicable
gaming law or to redeem the securities to the extent required to comply with the requirements of the applicable
gaming law.

Additionally, if a gaming authority determines that a holder is unsuitable to own our securities, such holder will
have no further right to exercise any voting or other rights conferred by the securities, to receive any dividends,
distributions or other economic benefit or payments with respect to the securities or to continue its ownership or
economic interest in us. We can be sanctioned if we permit any of the foregoing to occur, which may include the
loss of our licenses. ‘

We may not realize the benefits we expect from the acquisitions of VirtGame and EndX.

The integration of VirtGame and EndX technology may be time consuming and expensive, and may disrupt our
business. We will need to overcome significant challenges to realize any benefits or synergies from these
transactions. These challenges include the timely, efficient and successful execution of a number of post-transaction
integration activities, including:

* integrating the technologies of the companies;

« entering markets in which we have limited or no prior experience;

» obtaining regulatory approval for the central server-based technology;

 successfully completing the development of VirtGame and EndX technologies;

* developing commercial products based on those technologies;

« retaining and assimilating the key personnel of each company;

« attracting additional customers for products based on VirtGame or EndX technologies;

¢ implementing and maintaining uniform standards, controls, processes, procedures, policies and information
systems; and

* managing expenses of any undisclosed or potential legal liability of VirtGame or EndX.

The process of integrating operations and technology could cause an interruption of, or loss of momentum in, the
activities of one or more of our businesses and the loss of key personnel. The diversion of management’s attention
and any delays or difficulties encountered in connection with the integration of VirtGame and EndX technologies
could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition. We may not succeed in
addressing these risks or any other problems encountered in connection with these transactions. The inability to
successfully integrate the technology and personnel of VirtGame and EndX, or any significant delay in achieving
integration, including regulatory approval delays, could have a material adverse effect on us and, as a result, on the
market price of our common stock.
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Future acquisitions could prove difficult to integrate, disrupt our business, dilute stockholder value and strain
our resources. :

As part of our business strategy, we intend to continue to seek to acquire businesses, services and technologies that
we believe could complement or expand our business, augment our market coverage, enhance our technical
capabilities, provide us with valuable customer contacts or otherwise offer growth opportunities. If we fail to
achieve the anticipated benefits of any acquisitions we complete, our business, operating results, financial condition
and prospects may be impaired. Acquisitions and investments involve numerous risks, including:

« difficulties in integrating operations, technologies, services, accounting and personnel;

+ difficulties in supporting and transitioning customers of our acquired companies to our technology platforms and
business processes;

» diversion of financial and management resources from existing operations;
+ difficulties in obtaining regulatory approval for technologies and products of acquired companies;
+ potential loss of key employees;

+ if we finance acquisitions by issuing convertible debt or equity securities, our existing stockholders may be
diluted, which dilution could adversely affect the market price of our stock;

» inability to generate sufficient revenues to offset acquisition or investment costs; and
* potential write-offs of acquired assets.

Acquisitions also frequently result in recording of goodwill and other intangible assets, which are subject to
potential impairments in the future that could harm our operating results. It is also possible that at some point in the
future we may decide to enter new markets, thus subjecting ourselves to new risks associated with those markets.

Our business will be seriously jeopardized if we are unable to attract and retain key‘ employees. .

Our success depends on the continued contributions of our principal management, development and scientific
personnel, and the ability to hire and retain key personnel, particularly in the technology area as we transition our
business from manufacturing and distribution of slot machines and other hardware to game content and technology
and continue to grow our existing businesses. We face intense competition for such personnel. The loss of services
of any principal member of our management team, .particularly Russel McMeekin, our President and Chief
Executive Officer, or Michael A. Sicuro, our Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, Secretary and
Treasurer, could adversely impact our operations and ability to raise additional capital.

If our products or technologies contain defects, our reputation could be harmed and our results of operations
adversely affected.

Some of our products and technologies are complex and may contain undetected defects. The occurrence of defects
or malfunctions could result in financial losses for our customers and in turn termination of leases, licenses,

cancellation of orders, product returns and diversion of our resources. Any of these occurrences could also result in
the loss of or delay in market acceptance of our products or techno]ogies and loss of sales.

As our business is subject to quarterly fluctuation, our aperatmg results and stock prtce could be volatile,
pamcularly ona quarterly bas:s \

Our quarterly revenue and net income may vary based on the timing of the opening of new gaming jurisdictions, the
opening or closing of casinos or the expansion or contraction of existing casinos, gaming regulatory approval or
denial of our products and corporate licenses, the introduction of new products or the seasonality of customer capital
budgets, and our operating results have historically been lower in‘quarters with lower sales. In addition, historically,
approximately up to 40% of our revenues have been based on cash-based licensing transactions, the majority of
which are generated from intellectual property, content and technology licensing activities. Most of these non-
recurring transactional revenues are from gaming supplier OEMs and service providers. Each such transaction is
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unique, depending on the nature, size, scope and breadth of the intellectual property, content, or technology that is
being licensed and/or the rights the licensee or the buyer wishes to obtain. Also, these licensing transactions often
take several months, and in some cases, several quarters, to negotiate and consummate. As a result, our quarterly
revenues and net income may vary based on how and when we record these cash-based transactions, and our
operating results and stock price could be volatile, particularly on a quarterly basis.

We have substantial debt and debt service requirements, which could have an adverse impact on our business and
the value of our common stock.

On December 31, 2005, our total outstanding debt was approximately $45.0 million. We may incur additional debt
in the future. Substantial debt may make it more difficult for us to operate and effectively compete in the gaming
industry. The degree to which we and/or one or more of our subsidiaries are leveraged could have important adverse
consequences on our value as follows:

* it may be difficult for us to make payments on our outstanding indebtedness;

* asignificant portion of our cash flows from operations must be dedicated to debt service and will not be
available for other purposes that would otherwise be operationally value-enhancing uses of such funds;

» our ability to borrow additional amounts for working capital, capital expenditures, potential acquisition
opportunities and other purposes may be limited;

¢ we may be limited in our ability to withstand competitive pressures and may have reduced financial flexibility in
responding to changing business, regulatory and economic conditions in the gaming industry;

* we may be at a competitive disadvantage because we may be more highly leveraged than our competitors and, as
a result, more restricted in our ability to invest in our growth and expansion;

* it may cause us to fail to comply with applicable debt covenants and could result in an event of default that could
result in all of our indebtedness being immediately due and payable; and

» if new debt is added to our and our subsidiaries’ current debt levels, the related risks that we and they now face
could intensify.

Substantially all of our assets are pledged as security to holders of our Senior Secured Notes. The ability of our
stockholders to participate in the distribution of our assets upon our liquidation or recapitalization will be subject to
the prior claims of our secured and unsecured creditors. Any foreclosure of our assets by such creditors will
materially reduce the assets available for distribution to our stockholders.

We may be forced to reduce or delay growth initiatives and capital expenditures, obtain additional equity capital
or restructure our debt if we are unable to generate sufficient cash flow to meet our debt service requirements.

Our ability to generate cash flow from operations sufficient to make scheduled payments on our debts as they
become due will depend upon our future performance and ability to successfully implement our business strategy.

Our performance will be affected by i)revailing economic conditions and financial, business, regulatory and other
factors. Many of these factors are beyond our control. Our current annual debt service requirements are
approximately $5.3 million

If our future cash flows and capital resources are insufficient to meet our debt obligations and commitments, we may
be forced to reduce or delay activities and capital expenditures, obtain additional equity capital or restructure or
refinance our debt. In the event that we are unable to do so, we may be left without sufficient liquidity and we may
not be able to meet our debt service requirements. In such a case, an event of default would occur under our
indenture and could result in all of our indebtedness becoming immediately due and payable. As a result, some or all
of our lenders would be able to foreclose on our assets.
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Our lenders have imposed numerous debt covenants that include financial and operating restrictions that may
adversely affect how we conduct our business and potentially reduce our revenues and affect the value of our
common stock. ‘

We expect to continue to be subJect to numerous covenants in our debt agreements that i impose financial and
operating restrictions on our business. These restrictions may affect our ability to operate our business, may limit our
ability to take advantage of potential business opportunities as they arise, and may adversely affect the conduct and
competitiveness of our current business, which could in turn reduce our revenues and thus affect the value of our
common stock. Specifically, these covenants may place restrictions on our ability to, among other things:

¢ - incur more debt;

* pay dividends, redeem or repurchase our stock or make other distributions;
« make acquisitions or investments;

e use assets as security in other transactions;

* enter into transactions with affiliates; |

¢ merge or consolidate with others;

» dispose of assets or use asset sale proceeds;

¢ create liens on our assets; and

+ extend credit.

The terms of our indebtedness require that we meet a number of financial ratios and tests. Our ability to meet these
ratios and tests and to comply with other provisions governing our indebtedness may be affected by changes in
economic or business conditions or other events beyond our control. Our failure to comply with, our debt-related
obligations could result in an event of default which, if not cured or waived, could result in an acceleration of our
indebtedness, including without limitation, our senior secured notes. This in turn could have a material adverse
effect on our operations, our revenues and thus our common stock value.

Additionally, the covenants governing our indebtedness restrict the operations of our subsidiaries, including, in some
cases, limiting the ability of our subsidiaries to make distributions to us, and these limitations could impair our
ability to meet such financial ratios and tests. ‘

Lastly, we are required by our senior secured notes to offer to repurchase or make certain payments on our debt at
times when we may lack the financial resources to do so, such as upon a change of control. These expenditures may
materially and adversely affect our liquidity and our ability to maintain or grow our business as payments to satisfy
the debt will be diverted away from any investment in the growth of our busmess thus potentlally affecting the
value of our common stock.

We have been named as a defendant in litigation that could result in substantial costs and dtvert management’s
attention and resources.

Commencing on November 28, 2005, four similar purported class action complaints were filed against us and two of
our officers in the United States District Court for the District of Nevada, alleging that during a {‘class period”
beginning in early 2005 and ending on October 19, 2005, we misled investors concerning the prospective
application of SFAS 153 to our financial statements for the third quarter of 2005. The actions seek unspecified
money damages under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. We intend to vigorously
defend ourselves against these claims. However, no assurances-can be made that we will be successful in our
defense of the pending claims. If we are not successful in our defense of such claims, we could be forced to, among
other things, make significant payments to resolve these claims, and such payments could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations if not covered by our insurance. Further,
regardless of the outcome of the litigation, the litigation itself may result in substantial costs and divert
management’s attention and resources, all of which could adversely affect our business.
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Risks Relating to Our Securities

The share price of our common stock may be volatile and could decline substantially.

The trading price of our common stock has been volatile and is likely to continue to be volatile. Our stock price
could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to a variety of issues including broad market factors that may have
a material adverse impact on our stock'price, regardless of actual performance. These factors include:

» periodic variations in the actual or anticipated financial results of our business or of our competitors;

« downward revisions in securities analysts’ estimates of our future operating results or of the future operating
results of our competitors;

* material announcements by us or our competitors;
* quarterly fluctuations in non-recurring revenues from cash-based licensing transactions;
* public sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock; and

+ adverse changes in general market conditions or economic trends or in conditions or trends in the markets in
which we operate.

If our quarterly results are below the expectations of securities market analysts and investors, the price of our
common stock may decline.

Many factors, including those described in this “Risk Factors” section, can affect our business, financial condition
and results of operations, which makes the prediction of our financial results difficult. These factors include:

* changes in market conditions that lcan affect the demand for the products we sell;

* quarterly fluctuations in non-recurring revenues from cash-based licensing transactions;

* general economic conditions that éffect the availability of disposable income among consumers; and
+ the actions of our competitors.

If our quarterly operating results fall below the expectations of securities market analysts and investors due to these
or other risks, securities analysts may downgrade our common stock and some of our stockholders may sell their
shares, which could adversely affect the trading prices of our common stock. Additionally, in the past, companies
that have experienced declines in the trading price of their shares due to events of this nature have been the subject
of securities class action litigation. If we become involved in a securities class action litigation in the future, it could
result in substantial costs and diversion of our management’s attention and resources, thus harming our business.

Future sales of our common stock may depress our stock price.

The market price for our common stock could decline as a result of sales by existing stockholders of large numbers
of shares of our common stock or the perception that such sales may occur. Such sales of our common stock also
might make it more difficult for us to sell equity or equity-related securities in the future at a time and at the prices
that we deem appropriate. Of the approximately 34.4 million shares that are outstanding as of December 31, 2005,
approximately 33.6 million shares generally are freely tradable in the public market.

Additionally, as of December 31, 2005, there were outstanding options to purchase 2,825,102 of our shares and we
may grant options to purchase up to an additional 831,013 shares under our stock option plans. Shares purchased on
exercise of those options would be freely tradable in the public market, except for any that might be acquired by our
officers or directors.
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If a recent action of an employee of one of our underwriters is held to be “gun jumping” in violation of the
Securities Act of 1933 or to constitute a prospectus that does not meet the requirements of the Securities Act, we
could be required to repurchase the securities sold in our recent common stock offering.

Prior to the effectiveness of the registration statement relating to our recent common stock offering, in a televised
interview, an analyst with one of our underwriters, among other things recommended the Company as an investment
choice. In addition, for a limitéd time, the:underwriter posted a clip of the interview on its website. These actions
were taken without our authorization or prior knowledge. However, these actions could be held by a court to be a
violation of Section 5 of the Securities Act of 1933, in which case purchasers in our recent common stock offering
may have the right, for a period of one year following the date of the violation, to obtain recovery of the
consideration paid in connection with their purchase or, if they have already sold the shares, to sue us for damages
resulting from the purchase. Although we would contest vigorously any claim that a violation of the Securities Act
occurred, we cannot assure you that such a claim will not be made. ‘

We have the ability to issue additional equity securities, | whtch would lead to dilution of our issued and
outstandmg common stock. ‘

The issuance of additional equity securities or securities convertible into equity securities would result in dilution of
then-existing stockholders’ equity interests in us. Our Board of Directors has the authority to issue, without vote or
action of stockholders, up to 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock in one or more series, and has the ability to fix the
rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions of any such series. Any such series of preferred stock could contain
dividend rights, conversion rights, voting rights, terms of redemption, redemptlon prices, liquidation preferences or
other rights superior to the rights of holders of our common stock. If we issue convertible preferred stock, a
subsequent conversion may dilute the current common stockholders’ interest. Our Board of Directors has no present
intention of issuing any such preferred stock, but reserves the right to do so in the future. .

We do not intend to pay cash dividends. As a result, stockholders will benefit from an investment in our common
stock only if it appreciates in value. ‘

We do not plan to pay any cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future, since we currently intend
to retain any future earnings to finance our operations and further expansion and growth of our business, including
acquisitions. Moreover, the covenants governing our indebtedness restrict our ability to pay and declare dividends
without the consent of the applicable lender. As a result, the success of an investment in our common stock will
depend upon any future appreciation in its value. We cannot guarantee that our common stock will appreciate in
value or even maintain the price at which stockholders have purchased their shares.

Anti-takeover provisions in our organizational documents, our stockholder rights plan and Nevada law could
make a third-party acquisition of us difficult and therefore could affect the price investors may be willing to pay
Sor our common stock.

. : . | .
The anti-takeover provisions in our articles of incorporation, our bylaws, our stockholder rights plan and Nevada
law could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire us without the approval of our board of directors. Under
these provisions, we could delay, deter or prevent a takeover attempt or third-party acquisition that certain of our
stockholders may consider to be in their best interests, including a takeover attempt that may result in a premium
over the market price of our common stock. In addition, these provisions may prevent the market price of our
common stock from increasing substantially in response to actual or rumored takeover attempts and also may
prevent changes in our management. Because these anti-takeover provisions may result in our being perceived as a
potentially more dlfﬁcult takeover target, this may affect the price investors are willing to pay for shares of our
common stock. ) X
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.

Item 2. Properties
The table below lists our leased administrative, engineering, operations, sales and service facilities as of December
31, 2005.

Area

Location/Activity ‘ (Sq Ft.)
Las Vegas, NV — Corporate AQMINISIIALION. .......c.ce.veveriuirereecsisiesesieseseserosssessssssssssasssssoresssssssssssesessssses 86,515
Las Vegas, NV — Operations .............. O O OO OO OO UOTT PPV POTORPURRY 30,594
Houten, The Netherlands — Service and AJMINIStration ........co.occoivererierienesinnscninereneeesaes e eseesaessessesns 10,118
Egg Harbor, NJ — Service and Sales.........ccovecuiiiriiiiniirieiiicieesnenesers s e seesaeessesessonessansencsseneesene 7,604
Biloxi, MS — Service and Sales .......... heeeeeeeeeetritataeteot artreateteiet hraraes e e e e b et r e et eressaeien hbbeaessesss st bebrasseasssrarhen 6,300
Carlsbad, CA—R&D....c.cocvvvvvevennne. e eete e eete i eere et e et et te s on e et et et e nese e ntaeaerare e sat et aRt et enne st sene st s ereebseresres 6,268
Lane Cove, Australia — Service and SAlES ..ottt saas e beeseres e teesnee et 4,617
Sparks, NV — Service and Sales ....... ettt eeeteetesei ueeteseaaeiaretearaeaateeaaaeea bt ee b aet st beea et et s e anateanreesbeeebresrberee 4,608
Oldham, UK ~ Service and Sales ....... e tteeerrereeeseuseeeessetetensretesatneseites ettt teeiah R Rt aeantttereasseeaatreeaannnteaesaraean 4,500
Calgary, Canada — Service and Sales........c.cceeviveirieniiricineneie sttt st sttt sesn s n e see e eneene 4,202
MOKENA, TL — SEIVICE AN SAIES ...ovviiiir ittt et eeteeteeee et et e e so st eestetesaesebe e st esttesessnesessvotesbesaresssseesans 4,200
Kansas City, MO — Service and Sales'............cooviviicieieieiiniieceieee s st eaeteves et s st s sanesesssrens 3,600
Tallinn, Estonia — Service and Sales..........cccocovvvvvrvivvennenns ettt e e et et et ea et e atarea e a e bt e b e e e baranabseenreen 1,593
Oxford, UK —~ Service and Sales........ Feee e atesbeet e bttt b e Rt aA e e Rt at R ebEeheean e sy e R sh e e e SR h e b s R b st st et e e e en b et e benene 1,200
Macau — ServiCe and SAlES .. ....viiiiiiii e e ea e e e e s rt e e retb e s e sabtaeenrreeeanaaean 400

176,319

These locations have remaining terms of occupancy ranging up to six years that expire on various dates through
2011. ‘

See Note 12 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for information as to our lease commitments with
respect to the foregoing rental properties. We believe these facilities are suitable for our needs and we have no future
expansion plans that would make these properties inadequate.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We were sued by Derek Webb and related plaintiffs in the U.S. District Court, Southern District of Mississippi,
Jackson Division, in a case filed on December 27, 2002. The plaintiffs allege state law interference with business
relations claims and federal antitrust violations and contend that we illegally restrained trade and attempted to
monopolize the proprietary table game market in the United States. Plaintiffs seek monetary damages, penalties and
attorneys’ fees in excess of several million dollars, and injunctive relief. There is no trial date presently set.

We filed suit against Charles H. McCrea, Jr. on March 13, 2003 in State District Court, Clark County, Nevada to
cause Mr. McCrea to repay a loan he received from the Company that had come due, including interest. McCrea
counterclaimed on April 7, 2003, seeking damages in excess of $1,000,000 and the reinstatement of 265,000
incentive stock options. A portion of this matter proceeded to arbitration in 2006, and we are awaiting a decision
from the arbitrator on the matter. Another portion of this matter proceeded to a jury trial which concluded on March
28, 2006. In this jury trial, we were awarded the payment of a loan by McCrea of approximately $176,000, and Mr.
McCrea was awarded a nonpunitive judgment of approximately $750,000. We do not expect to incur any material
costs for the net effect of this outcome as our insurance policies are believed to be sufficient to cover the expense.

We are currently in a dispute with Hasbro, Inc. that was filed in the U.S. District Court in Rhode Island centering
primarily around the calculation of royalty payments from 1999-2002 on the sale and license of certain of our
branded slot machines. Hasbro is seeking monetary damages, which could be in excess of several million dollars. A
substantial portion of these payments have been previously audited by Hasbro representatives without a material
dispute.

'

'
I
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We received a complaint from Olaf Vancura, an employee, on July 18, 2003, alleging various claims associated with
allegations of breach of employment agreement. A claim for the return of patents assigned to the Company has also
been made. Under our agreement with Mr. Vancura, the matter is required to be handled through binding arbitration.
Arbitration has been set for October 30, 2006.

Commencing on November 28, 2005, four similar purported class action complaints were filed in the United States
District Court for the District of Nevada naming the Company and two of our officers as defendants, and seeking
unspecified money damages under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The complaints
all alleged that during a “class period” beginning in early 2005 and ending on October 19, 2005, the defendants
misled the Company’s investors concerning the prospective application of SFAS 1353 to the Company’s financial
statements for the third quarter-of 2005. The complaints have been consolidated into a single action, and a
consolidated amended complaint is due to be filed in Apnl 2006. No discovery has been conducted and no trial date
has been set. i

In' December 2005, Interactive Systems Worldwide Inc. (“ISWTI”) filed an action against us in the Federal District
Court for New Jersey, alleging that our “Rapid Bet Live” and “Prime Line” products infringe U.S. Patent Nos.
5,573,244 and 5,842,921. In March 2006, the Federal District Court for New Jersey transferred thrs action to the
Federal District Court for Nevada.

From time to time we are also involved in other legal matters, litigation and claims of various types in the ordinary
course of our business operations, including matters involving bankruptcies of debtors, collection efforts, disputes
with former employees and other matters. We intend to defend all of these matters v1gorously However, we cannot
assure you that we will bé successful in defending any of the matters described above or any other legal matters,
litigation or claims in which we may become involved from time to time. If we are not successful in defending these
matters, we may be required to pay substantial license fees, royalties or damages, including statutory or other
damages, and/or discontinue a portion of our operations. Furthermore, our insurance coverage and other capital
resources may be inadequate to cover anticipated costs of these lawsuits or any possible settlements, damage awards
or license fees. Even if unsuccessful, these claims still can harm our business severely by damaging our reputation,
requiring us to incur legal costs, lowering our stock price and public demand for our stock, and diverting
management’s attention away from our primary business activities in general.

t

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Hoiders

i

None.
PART I

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Stock and Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Repurchases of
Equity Securities

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securltles and Use of Proceeds )

On October 20, 2005 an outstandlng warrant to purchase 15,500 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of
$5.875375 per share was exercised pursuant to a cashless exercise provision. This resulted in the issuance of 8,730
shares of our common stock. For this issuance, we relied on the exemptron provided by Section 4(2) of the
Secuntres Act of 1933, as amended (“Sectlon 4(2)"). ‘ ‘

On- October 20, 2005, outstanding warrants to purchase 62,500 shares of our common stock at an exercise prlce of
$6.438 per share were exercised pursuant to cashless exercise provisions. This resulted in the issuance of 33,406
shares of our common stock. For this issuance, we relied on the exemption provided by Section 4(2)

On December 13, 2005, we issued an aggregate of 5 480 shares of our common stock to a holder of one of our
outstanding warrants upon that holder’s cash exercise of the warrant. The warrant had an exercise price of $7.70 per
share, for an aggregate exercise price paid to us of $42, 196 For this issuance, we rehed on the exemption provrded

by Section 4(2). 5o

On Decémber 21, 2005, we issued an aggregate of 1,000 shares of our common stock to a holder of one of our
outstanding warrants upon that holder’s cash exercise of the warrant. The warrant had an exercise price of
$5.875375 per share, for an aggregate exercise price paid to us of $5,875.38. For this issuance, we relied on the
exemption provided by Section 4(2).
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Our common stock trades on the NASDAQ National Market System under the symbol “PGIC”. The following table
sets forth the range of high and low sales prices per share by quarter for our common stock.

High Low

2005 ‘

FAESE QUATTET. . eiuviiiiiie it ittt et et see e teevetae b eene st e beessere st s ese et rasesese s aaneebeaneesreteentorsessansesrssrebes $ 1390 8 9.00
SECONA QUATTET ......vieiieeeiiericeie ittt e et reteesestrettrae e s e et eseas e eateebesrasbesrasressneereensernentansesnesbensenne 1621  10.75
THIT QUATEET ..ottt ciier et ecei et e et v et ee s reear e et e st e ebassassestessa st ssseenseessasessssrnatsassenseseras 1543 1142
FOUITR QUATTET ..evviciece ettt te ettt s e e s et s et e st ae st bestbesbseressaaebaebesteenbersbesnnesnnes 14.10 8.87
2004 ‘

First Quarter.......cccooeeevveevinieeieenens Heeetreereeareeate it iot e reehae b e et e et ee s et e Rt e rteabeerresreenraenreearesarenres $§ 625% 4.08
Second Quarter.........ccoeeevveeeierereennne, Eerbeertreeaeeserbestseeaettieeeateaareeareeatbeeeree st traaetbe s baaetbe st breenneean 5.09 4.01
Third QUArter.......c.occcovvevevrvirrireenenenens et eb e er e b S e e na et er et e b ress bbb Rebere s st en ket beteseteb et seeas 5.80 4.25
Fourth Quarter...........cccovvverieeenennnen. OO OU OO SO OSOTOPOPI 10.63 5.56

As of March 28, 2006, we had approximately 357 holders of record of our common stock.

We have never paid dividends nor do we have any plans to pay dividends in the foreseeable future. At present, we
intend to retain all future earnings for use in the development of our business. The indenture governing our Senior
Secured Notes due 2008 expressly prohibits the payment of cash dividends except under specified circumstances.
See Note 11 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for information as to our Senior Secured Note
commitments.

The following table summarizes equity securities authorized for issuance as of December 31, 2005:

Number of Weighted- Number of securities
securities to be average remaining available for
issued upon exercise price of future issuance under
exercise of outstanding equity compensation
outstanding options, plans (excluding
' options, warrants warrants securities reflected in
and rights and rights column (a)
. , (a) ®) ©
Equity compensation plans approved by
SHATEROLALTS ... er e er s 3,056,121 $ 6.44 831,013
Equity compensation plans not approved by
shareholders......c.cocoveiiniinnne, s 347.500(1) $ 6.76 —
TOAL (2) cvererreeeeeeesere e s s e eeeeenesesesres s s 3.403.621 $ 6.48 831.013

(1) Amount represents warrants to purchase 347,500 shares of our common stock issued to various licensors which
granted us rights to intellectual property.

(2) Amounts exclude 193,913 options and 293,020 warrants assumed in the acquisition of VirtGame, which have a
weighted average exercise price of $15.11.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following selected financial data should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and
related notes and “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of

Operations” included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The table below sets forth a summary of our selected financial data for each of the years ended December 31,

(amounts in thousands except per share amounts):

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001

Statement of Operations Data:
TOtal TEVENMUE ...coovevie et $ 78221 § 96374 $ 91,803 $§ 109,371 $ 104,740
CoSt Of TEVENUE .......ovevriiirie e 36.106 42.882 46.849 58,591 47.932
GTOSS PIOfIt..vecerrrereerenireevrensieteersreseersaereraesereseens 42,115 53,492 44,954 50,780 56,808
Selling, general and administrative expenses .......... 41,606 43,809 55,422 69,900 50,781
Net gain on disposition of non-core assets .............. (2,536) — = — -—
Gain on sale of core intellectual property ................ (2,500) — — — —
Operating income (1088).....c.cvuiveerrernuireereceniensnennns 5,545 9,683 (10,468)  (19,120) 6,027
INtETESt EXPENSE ...vovervevrerererrinrrerererirerseseereseeseeenrens (8,895) (9,684)  (14,324)  (15,689) (11,720)
Loss on early retirement of debt ..........cccccovereieenenn, (2,993) — (9,524) — (3,135)
Other INCOME, NEY ...ovviviiiieceee e 360 195 87 375 1,620
Income (loss) from continuing operations before

INCOMIE LAXES c.vevrnvveeernreverrtsreteracrsarestrensesesssnannes (5,983) 194 (34,229)  (34,434) (7,208)
Income tax (provision) benefit...........cccoereerereerennnne. — 65 13 (1.480) (847)
Income (loss) from continuing dperations ............... | (5,983) 259 (34,216) (35,914) (8,055)
Loss from discontinued operations (net of taxes).... — — — (1.989) (1,645)
Net income (loss).......................“...: .......................... 3 (5983)% 259 § (34216) § (37.903) $ _ (9.700)
Weighted average common shares

outstanding:
BaSiC ..ot 25,124 21,884 14,689 12,843 11,750
Diluted.....coovveerrvircrrrereencieee Eetrteereesreerereeneereaes 25,124 22,359 14,689 12,843 11,750
Basic and diluted income (loss) per share: ‘ ‘
Income (loss) from continuing operations............... $ (0295 001 $§ (233)8 (280) % (0.69)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations............ — — — (0.15) (0.149)
Net income (1088).....covvevrrierinens e seaen $ (024) % 001 § (233)8 (295 8 (0.83)
Balance Sheet Data:
TOtal SSELS ..cvevvvieeeeeiirenirrerrie e senre et naeis $ 185846 § 107,317 § 102282 $ 135,103 $ 168.697

$ 76013 $ 117.077 $ 118.092

Total debt / obligations / deferred tax liabilities ...... $ 59214 § 73.802
Stockholders’ equity (deficit) ....cooooveercevervnicnnenenn $ 104,555 $ 10,241

$ 7389

$  (6912) §

28.654

Certain balance sheet and income statement amounts reported in the prior years have been reclassified to follow the

Company’s current year’s reporting practice.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

This information should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto
contained herein. Except for the historical information contained herein, the following discussion contains forward-
looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our future results could differ materially from those
discussed here. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include risks detailed in Part I, Item 1
under the caption “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Overview

We are a leading developer and marketer of technology-based products for the gaming industry. Our business
consists of two reportable segments:

* Slot and Table Games. Our table and slot games segment develops, acquires, licenses and distributes
proprietary and non-proprietary branded and non-branded table and slot games. We lease our table and slot
games and license our content to customers in exchange for recurring revenue consisting of (i) fixed periodic
fees, (ii) a percentage of the “net win” (“net win” produced by a gaming device is defined as the gross
revenue minus all jackpots, payouts and any approved claims) of the gaming devices for our more popular
titles or (iii) license fees for any proprietary slot game content provided to third parties for use on their game
hardware. We also receive one-time license fees for our table and slot game content. During 2003, we shifted
our business model from focusing on table and slot hardware assembly operations to third party
manufacturers and distributors. In connection with this transition, we incurred approximately $2.5 million of
other expenses related to the write-down of obsolete slot machines and related hardware, as well as $0.6
million in related severance expense. This shift allowed us to focus our human and capital resources on
developing and distributing game content, a business with higher margins and lower capital expenditures.

*  Systems. Our systems segment consists of the license of our management and progressive jackpot systems.
These systems enable casinos to track the wagers placed by both table and slot players as well as accurately
account for the performance'of each table and slot game. These systems also enable casinos to implement
their own progressive jackpots and bonusing. Systems revenues are primarily comprised of software,
hardware and support services, which comprise of both upfront payments as well as recurring fees based on
the total number of gaming devices under management.

Our historical products segment, which included our interior sign division sold in the second quarter of 2005 and our
electronic jackpot and mystery systems, has been revised. We will now include electronic jackpot and mystery
systems in our system segment.

A significant portion of our revenues is generated from the license of systems, intellectual property and game
content. Our licensing revenues were 20% and 13% of our overall revenues for the years ended December 31, 2005
and 2004, respectively. The increase in license revenues is primarily a result of our continued focus on our
technology and content business model. In both 2004 and 2005, approximately half of our license fees related to
game content and half related to systems and intellectual property licenses. Significant licensing transactions during
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005 include the license of our Caribbean Stud® game to certain large customers
and distributors, and the license of certain intellectual property to other gaming suppliers for use in their products.

In December 2004, we announced our intent to focus the business on game content and technology and completed
several strategic transactions immediately following this decision (see Acquisitions / Divestitures below). We
revised our business segment reporting in the third quarter of 2005 as a result of the realignment of the business.
Also, in 2003, we expanded the disclosure of our revenues and expenses. The principal changes from previous
presentations were related to the disclosure of direct and indirect costs of revenues by segment, and separate
disclosure of significant expenses related to slot rent, research and development, and depreciation and amortization.
This more expanded view of our operating lines of business classifies royalties as a cost of revenue along with other
direct costs of revenues by business segment. Previous presentations classified this cost as a reduction of revenues.
Operating income or loss, net income or loss, and basic and fully diluted earnings or loss per share for prior periods
are unchanged from previous presentations. With respect to our current segments, we evaluate performance and
allocate resources based upon profit or loss from operations before income taxes. The accounting policies of our
reportable segments are the same as those described in the summary of critical accounting policies below.
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Acquisitions / Divestitures

In December 2004, we entered into two strategic transactions to enhance our table games and table systems
products. First, we agreed to acquire the table games management system, PitTrak®, including its existing customer
base from Hotel Systems Pty, Ltd. of Sydney Australia. PitTrak® has a similar functionality as TableLink® and
provided us with an existing installed base of over 400 tables and access to sell its management solutions worldwide.
The purchase of PitTrak® was completed in January 2005. We also purchased and exclusively licensed certain suites
of patents related to player card image based recognition (IBR) and licensed the exclusive rights to develop and
distribute an IBR card recognition shoe.

In connection with our focus on game content and technology we sold our interior sign division during May 2005.

In June 2005, we entered into a worldwide exclusive license with Magellan, a developer of advanced, high-speed
ISO-compliant RFID systems. We licensed, on an exclusive basis, for the life of the subject patents, Magellan’s
rights to its RFID reader, tag and related intellectual property for any gaming applications. We also purchased a
minority equity stake in Magellan.

In conjunction with the development of our slot and content technology, we acquired VirtGame Corp. during the
fourth quarter of 2005 in a stock swap in which we will issue 1,758,498 shares of our common stock. VirtGame
Corp. was a provider of open architecture gaming software primarily focused on the delivery of central server-based
slot games and centrally managed sports betting.

On November 28, 2005, we acquired EndX, a global gaming management systems software company headquartered
in the United Kingdom, for approximately $29.2 million in cash, including transaction costs. EndX had been one of
our key strategic partners for over three years.

Financing and Other Matters ‘

Debt Retirement. During 2003, we completed a private placement for approximately $45.0 million from selling 8.4
million shares of our Common Stock at a price of $5.34 per share and warrants to acquire an additional 2.1 million
shares at an exercise price of $5.875 per share. Proceeds from the transaction were used to repurchase and retire
$40.0 million of the Company’s 11.875% senior secured notes due 2008, or the Notes, and to pay the associated fees
and costs. This transaction will reduce our annual interest expense by approximately $4.0 million. This refinancing
resulted in the incurrence of $9.5 million of non-cash charges ($5.3 million related to the write-off of unamortized
bond discounts and $4.2 million related to the implied fair value of warrants issued in the refinancing), including
$3.4 million of transaction fees and expenses.

We retired $20.0 million of our Notes during 2005. We have recognized a loss on early retirement of $3.0 million,
comprising $1.8 million of non-cash charges related to the write-off of unamortized bond discounts and unamortized
debt issue costs, and a call premium of $1.2 million paid in cash. -

Egquity Offering. During 2005, we completed a public equity offering of approximately 8.3 million shares of our
Common Stock at a price of $9.25 per share. Proceeds from the transaction were approximately $70.0 million, and
were used to repurchase and retire $20.0 million of the Company’s Notes, fund strategic developments and
acquisitions, including the acquisition of EndX, and provide working capital and for other general corporate
purposes.

General Information

Amounts disclosed in the accompanying tables are rounded to the nearest thousand while amounts included in text
are disclosed in actual amounts. All percentages reported are based on those rounded numbers.
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Results of Operations

Revenues and Cost of Revenues

Year Ended December 31, Percentage Change

2005 2004 2003 05 vs. 04 04 vs. 03
Revenues:
Siot and table games............ $ 33,670 $ 40,560 $ 40,932 (17.0)% (0.09Y%
Interior signage.................... . 5,252 20,014 36,919(a) (73.8)% (45.8)%
SYStEMS .veveererrririeririarieeens 39,299 35,800 13,952 9.8% 156.6%
Total revenues .............c.ee.. $ 78,221 $ 96,374 $ 91,803 (18.8)% 5.0%
Cost of revenues:
Slot and table games............ $:12,677 $ 11,999 $ 13,999 5.7% (14.3)%
Interior signage.................... 3,832 12,335 25,736(a) (68.9)% (52.1)%
SyStems.......ccevveeenieereireenenns 1 19,597 18,548 7.114 5.7% 160.7%
Total cost of revenues.......... $. 36,106 $ 42,882 $ 46.849 (15.8)% (8.5)%
Gross profit......ccccevvevvenrenne $ 42,115 § 53492 $ 44954 (21.3)% 19.0%

(a) 2003 Interior signage category includes electronics sales, which are included with Systems category in 2004 and
2005. : ‘

Slot and table games. During 2005, we announced our intent to dispose of our legacy slot route to allow us to focus
on central-server based gaming technology. In September 2005, we licensed our legacy slot operating system to a
third party as more fully described in Note 1 in the accompanying financial statements. As a result of these events,
our legacy slot revenues declined in 2005. We plan to introduce our central-server based games in certain
Jjurisdictions during 2006.

We continue to increase our pipeline of new slot content to replace legacy slot brands as they expire or decline in
popularity. In December 2005 our license arrangement with Hasbro for the Yahtzee® and Battleship® brands
expired. However, the Company has recently introduced new brands such as KISS®, the Beach Boys®, and Ed
McMahon as well as 34 non-branded slot titles. We expect our revenues from legacy brands to decline but anticipate
a significant increase in revenues from this new pipeline of slot content during 2006.

Historically our table games arrangements were lease agreements, generally with terms of one to three years. In late
2004, we began selling our Caribbean Stud® table games to certain large customers and distributors under perpetual
license / sale arrangements. Our Texas Hold’Em Bonus™ poker / World Series of Poker® game will continue to be
leased under arrangements with terms of one to three years.

Slot and table game revenues for 2005 decreased by 17% compared to 2004. Slot revenues decreased 42.4% for the
year ended December 31, 2005, and table revenues decreased 27.6 % for the same period. The decrease is primarily
attributable to a decline in slot and table revenues under daily fee arrangements, partially offset by higher licensing
revenues. For the year ended December 31, 2005, our slot route revenues declined due to a decrease in the installed
base under daily fee arrangements (from 1,666 in 2004 to 336 in 2005) and slightly lower net win (net win produced
by a slot machine is defined as the gross revenue minus all jackpots, payouts, fills and any approved claims). We
anticipate our slot revenues will increase during 2006 as we release new slot machine brands and obtain regulatory
approvals for existing products. Our table games installed base under daily fee arrangements declined from 932 in
2004 to 785 in 2005, primarily due to the conversion of Caribbean Stud® tables from lease arrangements to perpetual
license arrangements. These conversions resulted in a decline of our recurring revenue base but increased our one-
time licensing revenues. Overall, table game revenues declined as a result of these conversions and as aresult of a
lower daily fee under our remaining lease arrangements. We expect our daily fees under our lease arrangements to
increase as we place our progressive version of Texas Hold’Em Bonus™ poker / World Series of Poker® in 2006.

Slot and table game revenues for the year ended December 31, 2004 were consistent with revenues earned in 2003.
Revenues from slot contracts under daily fee arrangements declined, but were offset by increases in revenues under
|
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our periodic fee arrangements and increases in license fees from intellectual property rights. The decline in daily fee
arrangements was attributable to a slight decrease in win per unit and a lower installed base. Table games reventies
were also flat in 2004 compared to 2003 and there was no material shift in the installed base or fee per day of
outstanding table game contracts in the same periods. :

Interior signage. The interior signage segment, which was sold in the second quarter of 2005, manufactured and
sold interior casino signage and related products. The interior signage operation previously was combined with the
electronic jackpot and mystery systems in the Products Segment. In 2005, we revised our segment information to be
more consistent with our new business model. We now report our revenues in two segments: (1) slot and table
games and (2) systems and electronic jackpot and mystery systems. As a result of this change, we have reclassified
our 2004 revenues to conform to the current segment presentation. We have not made these conforming changes for
2003 because the information necessary to conform to the current presentation is not available.

Systems. During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005, our systems revenues were $39.3 million, representing an
increase of 9.8% as compared to 2004. This improvement was primarily due to increased demand for our
CasinoLink® Enterprise Edition products. Our table management installed base grew approximately 80% over 2004,
We continue to report consistent increases in our slot management installed base, including an 18% growth in fiscal
2005 compared to fiscal 2004, For the year ended December 31, 2004, systems revenues were $15.0 million,
representing a 7.9% increase over the prior year. TableLink Systems revenue nearly doubled in 2004 compared to
2003 due to several large installations in Canada and Native American jurisdictions. Maintenance revenues also
increased year-over-year as we continue to grow our installed base of both CasinoLink and TableLink.

Gross profit. Gross profit decreased in 2005 versus 2004 due to higher systems hardware sales 1n 2005 compared to
2004. Gross profit increased in 2004 versus 2003 as a result of changes in our product mix with higher margin
generated from slot contracts under periodic fee arrangements.

Condensed Statement of Operations.

Year Ended December 31, Percentage Change ‘

‘ ' 2b05 2004 2003 05 vs. 04 04 vs. 03

Total revenue ........ccovevvveereerrrrerneens $ 78,221 $ 96,374 $ 91,803 (18.8)% 5.0%
Cost of revenue...........ceeeveeenrnenns ‘ 36,106 42,882 46,849 (15.8)% (8.5)%
GIOSS PrOfit...conreeerceeeeersrreresenas 42,115 53492 44954 (21.3)% (19.0)%
SG&A eXpense .......ocverevvrenennnnt . $ 28652 $ 27,595 $ 30,281 3.8% (8.9)%
Slot rent expense...........ccevvenens o - 1,204 5,668 (100.0)% (78.8)%
R&D eXpense......oceeervvcvvnrvecvenicone 8,060 6,102 5,159 32.1% 18.3%
Depreciation and amortization...... 4,894 8,908 14,314 (45.1)% (37.8)%
Net gain on disposal of non-core o .

ASSELS.cveerererereerrererecrsererereereresens 2,536) — — — —
Gain on sale of core intellectual ’ ’ '

PIOPEILY wovvivvicniinererenenesereseeenes (2,500) — ‘ = — —
Income from operations.............. e $ 5545 - $ 9,683 $ (10,468) 42.71)% 192.5%
Interest expense, net .........ccoeevveee (8,895) (9,684), (14,324) (8.1)% 32.4%
Loss on early retirement of debt... (2,993) = (9,524) — —
Other income, N€t ........ocovueeveni. . 360 195 87 © 84.6% 124.1%
Income (loss) before income tax: -

benefit......ccooveiiierieivineereceeni (5.983) - 194 (34.229) (3,184.0)% 100.6%
Income tax benefit i — 65 13 (100.0%  400.0%
Net income (10SS)......rrrorrrmrrnen .8 (5983) 0§ 259 $ (34216)  (2,410.0)% 100.8%
Net income (loss) per share .......... (0.24) - 0.01 (2.33) (2,481.4)% 100.4%

Selling, general and administrative expense ("SG&A”). SG&A increased by approximately $1.1 million in the
year ended December 31, 2005 compared to 2004, and decreased by approximately $2.4 million in the year ended

-40-




December 31, 2004 compared to 2003. The increase in 2005 compared to 2004 was due primarily to additional legal
and compliance costs necessary to continue to achieve regulatory approvals for our new products, costs incurred in
connection with the documentation and testing of our business processes under the new corporate governance
requirements and continued investments in upgrading our human capital. In 2003, selling, general and administrative
expense included a $5.8 million write-down of assets that no longer generated sufficient cash flow to support their
carrying value, severance and other costs associated with the reductions in service, international and management
personnel and the closing of the manufacturing facility at our European subsidiary; and the separation and post-
employment agreement costs for certain officers and directors.

Slot rent expense. Slot rent expense is the use of operating leases to finance the purchase and placement of slot
machines. Slot rent expense decreased substantially in 2004 due to the expiration of slot leases during the current
fiscal year. As of December 31, 2004, substantially all of our slot leases were expired or terminated.

Research and development expense (“R&D”). Our R&D spending continues to increase as we focus on developing
game content for hcensmg to third parties and the further development of our casino management systems products
through CasinoLink® Enterprise Edition — Modular Casino Management System. During 2005, research and
development expense increased by 32.1% compared to the same period in 2004. During 2004, research and
development expense increased by 18.3% compared to the same period in 2003. We expect R&D to continue to
increase as a percentage of revenue during fiscal 2006 as part of this change in our business model.

Depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization decreased 45.1% in 2005 compared to 2004 as a
result of the $4.9 million write-down of our legacy slot hardware in June 2005, Depreciation and amortization also
decreased 37.8% in 2004 compared to 2003 due to a change in the depreciable lives of our fixed assets. During
2003, the Company had determined that the useful lives of its existing slot machines should be accelerated as these
assets were expected to be replaced. As of September 2004, the Company had not replaced these slot machines and
has subsequently invested in refurbishment hardware for these devices. As such, the useful lives of these machines
have been extended consistent with industry standards.

Net gain on disposition of non-core assets. During 2005, we recognized a net gain on disposition of non-core assets
of $2.5 million as a result of completing two key strategic transactions. During the second quarter, we completed the
sale of the interior sign division, which resulted in a gain of approximately $7.4 million including transaction costs.
Additionally, we commenced the process of repositioning our existing slot machine platform to focus on central-
server based game and third party content development. In connection with this repositioning, we entered into an
asset purchase agreement to sell certain non-gaming slot hardware related to our existing platform. In connection
with the repositioning, we recorded an impairment charge of $4.9 million equal to the amount by which the carrying
value exceeded the fair value determined by the selling price.

Gain on sale of core intellectual property. During the third quarter of 2005, we completed a strategic licensing
transaction, whereby we sold the remaining rights to certain intellectual property in a barter transaction, but retained
a non-exclusive license in the intellectual property for use in our operations.

Interest expense. Interest expense decreased $0.8 million during 2005 due to the retirement of $20 million of the
Senior Secured Notes during the fourth quarter, and due to the completion of amortizing certain debt issue costs.
Interest expense decreased $4.6 million during 2004 due to the retirement of $40.0 million of Senior Secured Notes
in late 2003. ‘

Loss on early retirement of debt. During the fourth quarter of 2005, we recorded a $3.0 million loss on the early
retirement of $20.0 million of our Senior Secured Notes. Of this charge, $1.2 million was a call premium paid in
cash, and $1.8 million was a non- cash charge related to writing off related debt discount and prepaid debt issue
costs.

Other income. Other income consists primarily of interest income earned on our cash deposits. Other income
increased in 2005 compared to 2004, and in 2004 compared to 2003, due to larger accumulations of cash and cash
equivalents during those years.

Income taxes. The Company did not recognize a tax benefit or provision related to its domestic operations for the
years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 or 2003 due to the Company’s net operating loss position. In 2004 and 2003,
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the income tax benefits recorded in the statements of operations related prlmarrly to foreign tax credits and state
income tax adJustments » ‘

Earnings (loss) per share. Basic and diluted loss per share for the year ended December 31, 2005 was $(0.24) on
25.1 million basic and diluted average commeon shares outstanding. The basic and diluted earnings per share for the
year ended December 31, 2004 was $0.01 on 21.9 million basic and 22.4 million diluted average common shares
outstanding. Both basic and diluted loss per share for the year ended December 31, 2003 were ($2.33) on basic and
diluted weighted average common shares outstanding of approximately 14.7 million.

Liquidity and Capital Resources.

Durmg 2005, cash generated from operatlons warrant and option exercises and from our equity offering in the
fourth quarter was used primarily for the acquisitions of PitTrak, VirtGame and EndX, the acquisition of various
types of strategic IP, the retirement of a portion of our high yield debt, debt service and working capital. -

For 2005, the Company incurred a net loss of approximately $6.0 million. Net cash and cash equivalents at
December 31, 2005 were $14.1 million, an increase of approximately $1.8 million from $12.3 million at December
31, 2004. Working capital increased from $18.3 million at December 31, 2004 to $31.9 million at December 31,
2005. The workirg capital increase of approximately $13.6 million was due principally to a $1.8 million increase in
cash, a $9.3 million increase in receivables, a $1.0 million increase in prepaids, a $0.2 increase in inventories, and a
$1.8 million decrease in customer deposits, partially offset by a $0.5 million increase in accounts payable, accrued
expenses and other current liabilities. The increase in receivables was related to a significant increase in the contract
sales of IP and content, reﬂected in contracts recelvable, offset by payment receipts and a reductlon from the sale of
the interior'sign division.

Significant components of cash ‘ﬂows from operations are as follows:

(Amounts in millions)

N 1085 cveveiiitrei ettt st sttt s s ar b ve et s b anassaene s et Eee ettt et b et beresaes et eaeas $ (6.0
INOIIFCASH TEEINIS 1.vveveiitieeti it it sre et ett et s ese e ses e st e et be st b eabesabesrbeshbessseseessesaneesbeseresnsaebsasnrebesanesresnsrans et . 6.6
Gain on diSposition Of NON-COTE ASSELS ............oevvivereeirapeerseeeseecstesetesenasseesesesensesenens eeeere et enans . (2.5)
Loss on €arly retirement of debt ......... e ettt et et .

Other changes in assets and Habilities .............coveeuniereiiniencies e SORTRUP RSN (22.4)
Net cash used i OPEIAtIONS ... ...ccccveuririeeeicieireiec et et e sers st s s s e se s s e sne Ll $ (21.3)

Other changes in assets and liabilities includes an increase in recéivables of $11.1 million, primarily due to a
significant increase in the licensing and sale of intellectual property and content, and an increase in prepaid expenses
and other assets of $6.6 million, primarily prepaid royalties for game content.

Cash used in investing activitiés durmg 2005 was approximately $36 2 million, con51stmg prlmarlly of $36.2 million
in net cash payments for acquisitions, $8.7 million in capitalized costs of intangible assets, and $2 8 million
purchases of fixed assets, partially offset by $11.5 million i m net proceeds from sales of non-core assets and fixed
assets, . ' ‘

Cash provided by financing activities was approximately $59.6 million during 2005. The significant components of
this amount were $69.9 million in net cash received from an equity offering, $11.4 million from the exercise of
options and warrants, partially offset by $21.2 million in principal and call premium paid to retire a portion of our
Senior Secured Notes, $0.4 million in treasury stock purchases, and $0.1 million paid on capital leases and other
noncurrent debt. - .
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The following table summarizes the Company’s contractual obligations for long-term debt, capital leases, interest
expense, operating leases, license fees and employment agreements for the periods shown:

Less than 1-3 4-5 After 5
(Amount in thousands) Total 1 vear Years Years Years
Contractual Obligations
Long-term debt ..ot e ensarerenes $ 45,284 § 284 § 450008 —§% —
Capital lease obligations.........c......... et ettt e 28 28 — — —
INLErest EXPENSE ..vvvueeveeiiririenie s esir e erare et e e s sae e enes 15,586 5,344 10,242 — —
Operating leases.........cccoeovvvvrveeccennnns e e e e e seene 9,777 2,714 4,637 2,251 175
License / Development...................... re et este st e e e reste e ereereereeneas 21,861 7,834 9970 1,972 2,085
Employment agreements .........c.ooceevevieneciiiinenininnnoneeenc e 413 413 — — —
Total...c..oceereenceee ettt enene $£ 92949 § 16617 § 69.849 § 4,223 § 2.260

The table above excludes accretion of debt discount of $1.0 million for the periods shown.

Although there can be no assurance, we believe that the cash on hand of $14.1 million at December 31, 2005, along
with the expected increase in cash flows from operations over the next 12 months, will be sufficient to meet our
anticipated working capital needs through December 31, 2006. Additionally, management is in the process of
evaluating financing alternatives, including a credit facility. This financing would likely be used for ongoing
contractual commitments, strategic investments in intellectual property, and other operating purposes.

Employment Agreements

We have entered into employment contracts, with our corporate officers and certain other key employees.
Significant contract provisions include minimum annual base salaries, healthcare benefits, life insurance benefits,
bonus compensation if performance measures are achieved, changes in control (CIC), grants of restricted stock,
incentive stock options and non-compete provisions. These contracts are primarily “at will” employment
agreements, under which we or the employee may terminate employment. If we terminate any of these employees
without cause, then we are obligated to pay the employee severance benefits as specified in their individual contract.

Purchase Commitments !

From time to time, we enter into commitments with our vendors to purchase inventory at fixed prices or in
guaranteed quantities. From time to time we also enter into certain intellectual property license arrangements that
require upfront payments upon signing and/or additional payments upon our election to renew the licenses. In
addition, we may choose to negotiate and renew licenses upon their normal expiration. No assurances can be given
as to the terms of such renewals, if any.

In August 2004, we signed a license and development agreement with IGT to license segments of our patent
portfolio of technology and to develop video slot games based on our content, for a term continuing until the last to
expire of the patent rights under the agreement. The new games are to be developed on IGT’s game platform and
distributed by us. Pursuant to this agreement, IGT also licenses aspects of its intellectual property to us for its games
and we are committed to purchase from IGT a minimum of 600 slot machines carrying our game content on them
over the life of the agreement. The Company will be required to pay for the slot machines through a daily fee
arrangement whereby IGT will receive an amount equal to 25% of the Company’s gross revenue derived from the
slot machines, with a minimum of $12.50 per day per machine, as defined in the agreement.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not have any material off-balance sheet arrangements with unconsolidated entities or other persons.
Capital Expenditures and Other

During 2005, we spent approximately $1.9 million for purchases of property and equipment and $.9 million for
purchases of inventory leased to others. We expect to spend approximately the same amount for capital expenditures
in 2006.
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We are a party to post-employment agreements entered into in August 2002 with our former CEO and CFO to
provide cash payments of approximately $2.8 million and $0.8 million respectively. The agreements require
payments subsequent to December 31, 2002 of approximately $2.0 million plus medical costs through August 2006.
In March 2003, we reached an agreement with our former CEQ whereby he resigned from the board of directors and
specifically as chairman of the board. In March 2003, we paid our former CEO all outstanding future payments
totaling approximately $1.4 million and agreed to pay certain legal costs incurred by the former CEO in the
approximate amount of $0.5 million.

Share Repurchase Plan

On August 13, 2002 our Board of Directors authorized the purchase of up to $2.0 million of our.common stock. The
purchases may be made from time to time in the open market. The timing and actual number of shares to be
purchased will depend on market conditions. Through December 31, 2005, we have purchased approximately
254,000 shares of our common stock for approximately $1.3 million.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States. Certain of our accounting policies require that we apply significant estimates, judgments and
assumptions, that we believe are reasonable, in calculating the reported amounts of certain assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. By their nature, these estimates are
subject to an inherent degree of uncertainty. Our judgments are based on our historical experience, terms of existing
contracts, our observance of known industry trends, and information available from outside sources, as appropriate.
On a regular basis, we evaluate our estimates including those related to lives assigned to our assets, the
determination of bad debts, inventory valuation reserves, asset impairment and self-insurance reserves. There can be
no assurance that actual results will not differ from our estimates.

We have identified the following policies as critical to our business operations and the understanding of our results
of operations: revenue recognition, receivables and allowance for,doubtful accounts, inventories:and obsolescence,
and long-lived asset impairment. To provide an understanding of the methodology we apply these and other
significant accounting policies discussed below and where appropriate in the notes to our consolidated financial
statements.

Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes revenue as follows:

Slot and Table Games. We lease and sell proprietary slot and table games to casino customers. Table game lease
contracts are typically for a 36-month period with a 30-day cancellation clause. The lease revenue is recognized on a
monthly basis. Slot machine lease contracts are either on revenue participation or a fixed-rental basis. Slot machine
lease contracts are typically for a month-to-month period with a 30-day cancellation clause. On a participation basis,
we eamn a share of the revenue that the casino earns from these slot machines. On a fixed-rental bas1s we charge a
fixed amount per slot machine per day. Revenues from both types of lease arrangements are recognized on the
accrual basis. The sales agreements for proprietary table games and slot games consist of the sale of hardware and a
perpetual license for the proprietary intellectual property. Slot and table game sales are executed by a signed
contract or a customer purchase order. We generally recognize revenues for these sales agreements when the
hardware and intellectual property is delivered to the customer.

Systems. System sales consist of a suite of products (some of which are sold separately) that enable gaming entities
to track customer gaming activity, account for slot machine activity and operate progressive jackpot systems. There
are proprietary hardware and software components to the systems. The Company accounts for system sales in
accordance with Statement of Position 97- 2 - Software Revenue Recognition (“SOP 97-2”). System sales are
considered multiple element arrangements because they include hardware, software, installation, training and post-
sale customer support. System sales are evidenced by a signed contract. Follow-up spare parts and hardware-only
sales are evidenced by a purchase order. Revenue for system sales is recognized when: (i) there is a signed contract
with a fixed determinable price; (ii) collectibility of the sale is probable; and (iii) the hardware and software have
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been delivered, installed, training has been completed and acceptance has occurred. Not all systems contracts require
installation. Examples include sales of hardware only to (i) previous customers that are expanding their systems, (ii)
customers that have multiple locations and do the installation themselves and require an additional software license
and hardware and (iii) customers purchasing spare parts.

Postcontract Customer Support. Maintenance and support for all of our products are sold under agreements with
established vendor-specific objective evidence of fair value in accordance with the applicable accounting literature.
These contracts are generally for a period of three years and revenue is recognized ratably over the contract service
period. Further training is also sold under agreements with established vendor-specific objective evidence of price,
which is based on daily rates and is recognized upon delivery.

License Arrangements. A significant portion of our revenues are generated from the license of intellectual property,
software and game content. These licenses are sold on a stand-alone basis or in multiple element arrangements. We
recognize revenues from these transactions in accordance with the applicable accounting literature. Revenues under
perpetual license arrangements are generally recognized when the license is delivered. Revenues under fixed term
arrangements are generally recognized over the term of the arrangement or in a manner consistent with the earnings
process. For arrangements with multiple deliverables, revenue is generally recognized as the elements are delivered
so long as the undelivered elements have established fair values as required in the applicable accounting literature.

Interior Signage. Product sales are executed by a signed contract or customer purchase order. Revenue is
recognized when the completed product is delivered. If the agreement calls for the Company to perform an
installation after delivery, revenue related to the installation is recognized when the installation has been completed
and accepted by the customer.

Inventory and Obsolescence

We routinely evaluate the realizability of our inventory based on a combination of factors including the following:
historical usage rates, forecasted sales or usage, estimated service period, product end of life dates, estimated current
and future market values, service inventory requirements and new product introductions, as well as other factors.
Purchasing requirements and alternative usage avenues are explored within these processes to mitigate inventory
exposure. Raw materials and work in progress with quantities in excess of forecasted usage are reviewed at least
quarterly by our engineering and operating personnel for obsolescence. Such raw material and work in progress
write-downs are typically caused by engineering change orders or product end of life adjustments. Finished goods
are reviewed at least quarterly by product marketing and operating personnel to determine if inventory carrying
costs exceed market selling prices. Service inventory is systematically reserved for based on the estimated remaining
service life of the inventory. We record reserves for inventory based on the above factors and take into account
worldwide quantities and demand in our analysis. In 2005 and 2004, we reduced our reserves through write-offs of
obsolete inventories and adjusted the level of reserves in accordance with our accounting policies. If circumstances
related to our inventories change, our estimates of the realizability of inventory could materially change.

Long-Lived Asset Impairment

Long-lived assets and intangible assets with determinable lives are reviewed for impairment quarterly or whenever
events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of assets may not be recoverable in accordance with SFAS
No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-lived Assets.” We evaluate recoverability of assets to
be held and used by comparing the carrying amount of an asset to future net undiscounted cash flows to be
generated by the asset. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured as
the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. Such reviews assess the
fair value of the assets based upon our estimates of the future cash flows we expected the assets to generate. In
response to changes in industry and market conditions, we may be required to strategically realign our resources in
the future, which could result in an impairment of long-lived assets.

For indefinite-lived assets including perpetual licenses and goodwill, an independent valuation is performed at least
annually to determine if any impairment has occurred.
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Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In November 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 151, “Inventory
Costs—an amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4.” The amendment clarifies that abnormal amounts of idle facility
expense, freight, handling costs, and wasted materials (spoilage) should be recognized as current-period charges and
requires the allocation of fixed production overheads to inventory based on the normal capacity'of the production
facilities. The guidance is effective for our fiscal year beginning on January 1, 2006. We believe that the adoption of
this amendment will not have a' material impact to our overall results of operations or financial position.

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 123R, “Share-Based
Payment” (“SFAS No. 123R”) that establishes standards for accounting for transactions in which a company
exchanges its equity instruments for goods-and services or incurs a liability in exchange for goods and services that
is based on the fair value of the entity’s equity instruments or that may be settled by the issuance of those equity
instruments. The primary focus of this pronouncement is on issuing share-based payments for services provided by
employees. This pronouncement also requires recognition of compensation expense for new equity instruments
awarded or for modifications, cancellations or repurchases of existing awards starting January I, 2006.
Compensation expense for new equity awards, in most cases, will be based on the fair value of the stock on the date
of grant and will be recognized over the vesting service period. An award of a liability instrument, as defined by this
pronouncement, will initially be recorded at fair value and will be adjusted each reporting period to the new fair
value through the date of settlement. Additionally, in March 2005, the SEC issued SAB 107, Share-Based Payment,
providing interpretive guidance'on SFAS 123R valuation methods, assumptions used in valuation models, and the
interaction of SFAS 123R with existing SEC guidance. SAB 107 also requires the classification of stock
compensation expense to the same financial statement line item as cash compensation, and theréefore, may impact
cost of sales and service, related gross profits and margins, selling, general and administrative expenses and research
and development expenses. As a public company, we are allowed to select from two alternative transition methods,
each having different reporting implications. While management has not yet completed its evaluation of this
statement, the adoption of this statement is expected to have a material negative impact on our results of operations.
However, due to the “non-cash” nature of stock option expense, we do not expect the adoption of this statement to
have an impact on our cash flows. b ‘

In December 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. 109-1, Application of SFAS No. 109, Accounting for
Income Taxes, to the Tax Deduction on Qualified Production Activities provided by the American Jobs Creation Act
of 2004 (“FSP No. 109-1"). FSP No. 109-1 states that the qualified production activities deduction should be
accounted for as a special deduction in accordance with SFAS No. 109. This statement was effective upon issuance.
The adoption of this statement had no material impact on our results of operations, financial position or cash flows.

In December 2004, the FASB reached unanimous consensus on Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) 04-8, “The
Effect of Contingently Convertible Debt on Diluted Earnings Per Share.” EITF 04-8 requires that the dilutive effect
of outstanding contingent convertible notes shares be included in diluted earnings per share calculation, regardless
of whether the market price trigger or other contingent conversion feature has been met. Since the Company
currently has no outstanding contingent convertible debt, the adoption of this guidance did not have a material
impact on our overall results of operations or financial position.

In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, “Accounting Changes and Error Corrections — a replacement of
APB Opinion No. 20 and FASB Statement No. 3.” SFAS 154 changes the requirement for the accounting for and
reporting of a change in accounting principle and guidance for retrospective application of a change in accounting
principle. The statement also requires that a change in depreciation, amortization or depletion miethod for long-lived,
non-financial assets be accounted for as a change in accounting estimate effected by a change in accounting
principle. The statement carries forward, without change, the guidance contained in APB Opinion No. 20 for
reporting the correction of errors in previously issued financial statements and changes in accou;nting estimates. The
provisions of SFAS 154 will be effective for accounting changes made in fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2005. We do not expect the adoption of SFAS 154 to have a material impact on our results of operations or
consolidated financial position.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Market Risk |
Foreign Currency Risk

There are two types of foreign currency exchange risks that a company may be subject to: transaction and translation
gains or losses. Foreign currency transaction gains or losses are distinguished from translation gains or losses as
follows: (i) translation adjustments do not involve the movement of cash, they are accounting conversion
calculations of an existing functional currency to a reporting currency and (ii) transaction gain or losses, however,
are based on an actual transaction that requires formal payment at a future point in time.

We are subject to foreign currency exchange risk relating to the translation of our foreign subsidiaries’ asset,
liability, income and expense accounts. Our foreign subsidiaries use the local currency as their functional currency.
The assets and liabilities of these subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars at the rate of exchange at the end of the
relevant period. The income and expense accounts are translated using the average rate of exchange during the
relevant period. Due to the long-term nature of our investment in our foreign operations, most of our intercompany
transactions and translation adjustments are reflected as a separate component in stockholders’ equity. Although we
do not regularly incur gains or losses from specific foreign currency transactions and do not believe that these
amounts would be material, these gains and losses would be reflected in our consolidated statement of operations.
For the year ended December 31, 2005, we did not have any forwards, options or other derivative contracts in force.
We do not consider our existing foreign currency translation exposure to be material.

Interest Rate Risk

We have total interest-bearing debt of approximately $45.3 miilion before discounts. The components of this amount
have fixed rates of interest and therefore, we do not have exposure to the fluctuation of market interest rates.

Any future borrowings will be exposed to market rate risk. We periodically review our interest rate exposure, if any,
on our long-term debt and, as market conditions warrant, we may enter into an interest rate cap or swap agreements
in order to manage this exposure. For the year ended December 31, 2005, we did not have any agreements in force.
See Note 11 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Item 8. Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data o

INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (BDO Seidman LLP)
Consolidated Balance Sheets a‘si"of December 31, 2005 and 2004 '
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and
2003 . ¢ B * ‘ . ‘ .

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity (Deéficit) for the Years Ended December 31, 2005,
2004 and 2003 ’ ' ‘ ‘ ;

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

All other schedules are omitted because of the absence of conditions under which they are required or because the
information is included in the financial statements or the notes thereto.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Progressive Gaming International Corporation
Las Vegas, Nevada ‘

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Progressive Gaming International Corporation
(the “Company™) as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 and the related consolidated statements of operations,
comprehensive income (loss), stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2005. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of Progressive Gaming International Corporation as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based
on the criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 28, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion
on management’s assessment of internal controls over financial reporting and an adverse opinion on the
effectiveness of internal controls over financial reporting because of the existence of a material weakness.

/s/ BDO Seidman, LLP

Los Angeles, California
March 28, 2006
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PROGRESSIVE GAMING INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 ‘ '
(Amounts in thousands) 2005 2004
ASSETS
Current assets: ‘ : _ S . ‘ ; :
Cash and cash equivalents .................ccoooivevinncccnnns T SN OP TSRO $ 14,081 § 12,305
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful‘accé»ur)xts of $805 and $900.............. 12919 14,300
Contract sales receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts 0of $1,529 and $1,529. 13,170 2,462
Inventories, net of reserves of $1,157 and $1,332............ et b et nararan 10,534 10,276
Prepaid 2055 e s SRUUTO s e s - 3.582 2,572
TOLA] CUITENE BSSELS .....oesevr vt rcereri oo oernnsisnses S oo 54286 41915
Contract sales and notes receivable, Net ..........ooc..oovoriuvcirerrrnann. et 89 1,075
Property and equipment, Net...........ccccoesvoeeeruivenerseeesivenas e " 4,417 9,975
Intangible aSSEts, MEL.......cociiiiririieertrre ettt ettt e e en et nes 61,951 34,896
GoodWill.....coceciciiicirre e v ST S SUUSTRUUUTRURUUUNE SR ‘ 57,173 15,227
Other assets....covevvvrveciereeseineivennnennee RSP U ererrbeeee et aearenanes v ra s 1 7930 4,229
Total assets ....covvvveeerrerereeninnn, ............ .......... et $ ‘1854546' $ 107317
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current liabilities: . o ‘
Trade accounts payable .......... s e l ........... SRR e e . % 7681 8 9,832
Customer deposits...........covvrrsiinierciinins e e s e 1,224 3,047
Current portion of long-term debt and notes payablé ..... ‘ ' © 287 368
ACCIUEA HADIIHES .....cvcvececcrerieeer et et e r et bt rtena e et b et aeteeresbsrresaenres 5,552 7,614
Deferred revenues and liCenSe TS, .....lviiiiiiveiieiecc et vt 7,620 2.781
Total current liabilities............ reeeahesieteteteeetbe e hre it et eeareeatbeenbaeehbe s b e s enneeetbeseeateenraerebserees 22,364 23,642
Long-term debt and notes payable, net of unamortized discount of $954 and $1,895....... . 44,071 63,170
Other long-term Habilities ..........cccioriiiiiii e — 1,970
Deferred tax Hability.........ccoveiiiienir e seet e res et st v et esr s e s s et ssbenaens 14.856 8.294
TOtA] HADIIIES ......oovvorereivssnssescseesiassssesssane st cssssss st ssss s b sttt enrssas 81.291 97.076
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.10 par value, 5,000,000 shares authorized, none issued and

OULSTANIAIINE c..evvvierinse e sircerrrebe et aerve e st e e si e etarbeesneresosesaseereesseessensbesessnsaantessenesesinnsnenne — —
Common stock, $0.10 par value, 100,000,000 shares authorized 34,355,943 and

22,498,149 shares issued and outstanding ............ccceeeveiricriines e 3,436 2,250
Additional paid-in Capital ............ccccriirrieiciririee e e e ersbns e 217,075 116,932
Other COMPIERENSIVE 10SS. . v iviieieree ittt et ea e st sene st b eseesessas e saees (744) (145)
Accumulated defiCit. ..o (113.886) _ (107.903)
Subtotal........coeeerieriecierns ettt et r et et bt et b rsa et e s sttt et rarne 105,881 11,134
Less treasury stock, 254,174 and 217,698 shares, at COSt.........ccooviiriiiiicniiiies ~(1,326) (893)
Total stockholders’ equity .....icccorovereerecciincrcrinece e e 104.555 10,241
Total liabilities and stockholders equlty ........................................................................... $ 185.846 § 107.317

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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PROGRESSIVE GAMING INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

(Amounts in thousands, except per share amounts) 2005 2004 2003
Revenues:
Siot and table games...........ccceneen. st et ettt n s st r e ebe st enaniaes $ 33,670 $ 40,560 § 40,932
INEETIOT SIZNAZE ....eiuveriiiieeiitcririceiereeitet e est et sttt ese s s e renate saens 5,252 20,014 36,919
SYSLEIMS ..ottt eeerr sttt st et oot e ettt e en et e b et e snbesrrenraes 39,299 35.800 13.952
Total revenues ............ccoccovvmviiiencens e 78,221 96.374 91.803
Cost of revenues: ‘
Slot and table ZAmMES .........ociiviiiiiiiiir e e e 12,677 11,999 13,999
INLETIOr SIZNAZE .....coveriereeiee ettt sttt eres 3,832 12,335 25,736
SYStEmMS...c.ocvvierieireiee e Erereerre ettt et s s re e be et be b ntans 19.597 18.548 7.114
Total cost of revenues.........cccevenneeene. et 36.106 42,882 46,849
GIOSS PLOFIt.ceeriiriiiercieti et e bt e st es e aesaesbestesbesrereeraseseanesnensas 42,115 53,492 44,954
Selling, general and administrative eXpense.........ccoouveveivererrsiernnesneenens 28,652 27,595 30,281
SOt TENE EXPEISE. c..eviiniiiiinicieneieritee et ettt e seeebe e st re e resbe e eeeens — 1,204 5,668
Research and development ..........c.ccciticivniernenricnnenecieeseee e 8,060 6,102 5,159
Depreciation and amoOrtization.........c.cvvvveeeeeerenesioninsreneneressseseessessrsaenses 4,894 8,908 14,314
Net gain on disposition 0f NON-COTE ASSELS .....coveverivricvrrerseereeienrasrenenns (2,536) — —
Gain on sale of core intellectual Property....c v iiviiiiiersecensesnnnns (2.500) — —
36.570 43,809 55422
Operating income (108).......oo.ococor.. e 5545 9,683  (10,468)
INEETESt EXPEIISE .....e.vevirieceririieerereeisienee sttt seere et (8,895)  (9,684) (14,324)
Loss on early retirement of debt .......ccocveeivvevcvnirninnnnineneenns (2,993) — (9,524)
Other INCOME, TIEL «...vvvvrereriieiiiiiir e ieerestre et eesessseneeeessesssbrssesssessinreseren 360 195 87
Income (loss) before income tax beneﬁt .................................................. (5,983) 194 (34,229)
Income tax Denefit............ooveveveiiiiiieiieee e — 65 13
Net INCOME (L0SS)....ervvervirieeereririenreriraessseereseste s ssssse et et en e sssesanas $ (5983)8 259 $ (34.216)
Weighted average common shares:
BASIC ..ottt ettt et a et e bt et eeananbernans 25.124 21.884 14,689
DIIULEA ...ttt ettt ettt 25.124 22,359 14,689
Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share: $§ (024)% 001 $ (2.33)

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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PROGRESSIVE GAMING INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
For the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

(Amounts in thousands) . 2005 2004 2003
NEL INCOME (LOSS).....veveverirrriierrieerriseaetee st srstessstssrsssrssesesessseesesssessssesassssasesesansesssseses $ (5,983) $ 259 § (34,216)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:

Foreign currency translation gains (10SS€S) ....c..cccevvereriririiniereseniineneesseesencreeeereseens (599) _ 108 603

Comprehensive iNCOME (10SS).........covvrirerieierinreieseieeestaieererisissesssseesessesessessssnsins $ (6,582) $ 367 § (33.611)

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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PROGRESSIVE GAMING INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
For the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

Additional Foreign

Common Stock Paid-In Currency Accumulated Treasury
(Amounts in thousands) Shares Amount Capital Translation Deficit Stock Total
Balance, December 31,

2002, 13,050 $ 13058 67,299 3 (858) $ (73946) § (712) § (6,912)
Stock options exercised....... 339 34 1,364 1,398
Employee stock purchase

Pl 97 10 345 355
Employee stock incentive

plan.....eeecencnernns 135 135
Stock options and warrants

granted to consultants and

VENAOTS..c.eicccrr e 95 95
Private placement................. 8,425 842 40,902 41,744
Stock warrants issues with

private placement.............. . 4,185 4,185
Translation adjustments ...... 605 605
Net 0SS .c.cvvrrcencrrirrirennnns (34,216) (34.216)
Balance, December 31,

2003, 21.911 $ 2191§ 114,325 $_ (253 $ (108.162) § (712) $ 7,389
Stock options exercised....... 436 44 1,855 1,899
Employee stock purchase

plan......covircniininee, 87 9 407 416
Employee stock incentive |

Plan.....coinrnrecnrcnnins ‘ 345 345
Translation adjustments ...... ‘ 108 108
Issuance of restricted stock . 64 6 6
Purchase of treasury stock... : (181) (181)
Net income .....coeevveervcercannne 259 259
Balance, December 31,

2004 22,498 $ 22508 116.932 $__(145) $§  (107903) § (893) 3 10,241
Stock options exercised....... 626 63 3,063 3,126
Stock warrants exercised..... 1,518 152 8,000 8,152
Employee stock purchase

Plan.....ccriineees 14 1 117 118
Employee stock incentive

plan.......ccovvcoinninne. 736 736
Translation adjustments ...... ‘ (599) (599)
Issuance of restricted stock . 131 13 (13) —
Purchase of treasury stock... (433) (433)
Issuance of common stock

for cash.......cooececimvccrinnnns 8,298 830 69,094 69,924
Common stock issued in

ACQUISIEION...cvverecececncccrnne 1,271 127 19,146 19,273
Net 10SS..cvriererreereecernnan (5.983) (5.983)
Balance, December 31,

2005.....cieerrceeeereereans 34,356 $ 34368 217.075 $ (4 $  (113886) $ (1.326) § 104,555

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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PROGRESSIVE GAMING INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

_ (Amounts in thousands) 2008 2004 2003
Cash flows from operating activities:
NEL INCOME (LOSS) . .vuveurrveeieiareeiiierefrenrereernieete ot stes et rersareassasesscessrencesesnessesaaessssensenenas $ (5983 % 259 $ (34,216)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:
DIEPIECIATION. ... c.vivvceviririeni st eeetcacrreres et ieseae s bnb et et e et s natsaetnme e s et sserensebssancanennes 2,594 6,999 11,548
AMOTHZATION ....cvevcrreit et ben et sere st s s sesnsaene 2,300 1,909 2,766
Provision for (recovery of) bad debts.... 49 149 (342)
Provision for obsolete INVENtOry .......c.eeeereivireeeiniciecenreserrcnnes (85) (912) 1,670
Amortization of debt discount and debt issue costs ..............ovveennnne 1,147 1,576 2,161
Loss {gain) on disposition of property and equipment 44 (6) 290
Net gain on disposition of NON-COTe assets.......coeccvrerimrercrnneennen (2,536) — —
Loss on early retirement of debt 2,993 — 9,524
Stock-based compensation 736 344 154
Write-down Of @SSetS ....o.ovvveeecriiirrecernereeieerr e — — 3,320
(871573 SO S O P SUEUOPSREO PO PUUT SR SRURRRRTUSUPINN — (33) —
Changes in assets and liabilities:
ACCOUNS TECEIVADIE ....c.c.cvivieeriirei sttt st st (1,503)  (3,083) 3,061
Contract sales receivable ...............icoeceeene. (9,633) (2,801) 216
INVENLOTIES 1oveivecii it (1,404) (1,548) 2,724
Prepaid expenses and other assets (6,607) 419) 1,888
Trade accounts payable...........c.cocceeecrncnnene. (1,829) . 3,376 (2,840)
ACCTUE EXPENSES ...oevoiiiiieeiitiericieeceeirieee ettt e s s srane e eseas (3,306) 341 (1,966)
Customer deposits, deferred revenue and other liabilities 1,793 2,320 (2,276)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating aCtivities .........c...cccrrrrenerirncruervecrernnesiereneens (21.328) 8,471 (2.318)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of property and eqUIPMENt..........ocvivririviiirierreriennreeereer et scsrersessesnsens (1,923) (792) (1,132)
Purchase of inventory leased to others (862) (5,097) (4,110)
Proceeds from sales of property and equIPMENt ..........c.cocveiiernerrneeneneenenie e 145 69 13
Proceeds from sale of non-core assets .................... 11,402 — —
Purchases of business operations, net of cash acquired (36,203) — —
Increase in Intangible asSets....... ..o e (8.769) (245) (150)
Net cash used in InVeSting aCtIVItIES .........cccciieiiiniiiiieci s (36.210) (6.063) (5,379)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Principal payments on notes payable and long-term debt............cc.oooevnniicniinnnnn. (20,061) (108) (123)
Call premium on early retirement of debt.......coccoenrrrieninnn, (1,188) — —
Principal payments on capital leases.......c.c.occovmerernnieinnnnns (60) (587) (1,513)
Principal payments of deferred license fees.........c.c.cocee.nn. — T (535) (493)
Purchase of treasury Stock ...........ceeceevenreneennrermrinnninennea (433) (181) —
Proceeds from issuance of common stock and warrants 81,320 2,352 1,752
Net cash provided by (used in) financing aCtivities ..........cocccviveeevinerernennivessseneeeerees 59,578 941 (377)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents..........cc.coovccnmecnnenicnnne (264) 275 482
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equIvalentS . ... 1,776 3,622 (7,592)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of Year..........cc.coovvvvniceciiininncninicencnesecnens 12,305 8.683 16,275
Cash and cash equivalents, €nd 0f YEA........ccooevieriiirivirereieee et $§ 14081 § 12305 $ 8.683

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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PROGRESSIVE GAMING INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
For the Years Ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

(Amounts in thousands) ‘ 2005 2004 2003
Supplemental disclosure of cash flows information:

Cash paid during the year for:

TNEETEST 1ovurevrereeeireeieee et eetete st ereste st etesbe st ete et etesteneebeseebe st seesesbanaaseseasessesesae e st eabenn et sbanebeneane $ 8467 % 9.685 § 13.138
State and fEAEral tAXES .....c.ccvevevieriieiieecirtite ettt te et eas e tessereaeressessenernessr s esseses $ 170 § 46 3 56
Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing and financing activities:

Retirement 0f debt ..........cccoviiiiiiiiniiei et $ 40.000
TSSUANCE OF WAITAS ... veveeeseeeeveeeseesseoeseseseseeeseesssesesesssesesssesesssessessesesseesesessseeeseessens $ 4261
Transfer equipment to inventory ....... ............................................................................ § 1988 74
Property and equipment acquired through capital 1€ase ..........ccceeevveiviieneinrcenneeenns $ 48
Gaming equipment leased to others acquired through capital lease ............c.cocerrnennnen. § 670
Acquisitions: ‘

Fair value of assets aCqUITEd..........cooveeeiriiiiiiiciiiiiti et s $ 22,234

Liabilities assumed ..........coceevvivveennin, ettt ertreree— e —eee et re e r et e e bt ebesraeshsesbe et s ne et aennsentaas 2,266

Fair value of common stock, warrants and options issued in business combinations.... 19,273

GOOAWILL TECOBNIZEA. ...ttt ettt s e e 35,508

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Certain items reported in the prior year have been reclassified to follow the Company $ cun‘ent year’s reportmg
practice. Additionally, all 1ntercompany act1v1ty has been eliminated.

Amounts disclosed in the accompanying footnote tables are shown in thousands while amounts included in text are
disclosed in actual amounts.

1. Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Description of Business:

Progressive Gaming International Corporation (referred throughout these notes, together with its subsidiaries as -
“Progressive” or “the Company”) was incorporated in May 1986 in Nevada. Progressive develops acquires, and
markets (i) proprletary branded slot machine and table games, including the Caribbean Stud® table game, (ii)

_ electronic player tracking, game monitoring/accounting and progressive jackpot and mystery systems for slot and
table game operations. The Company’s current facilities are in North America, the Netherlands, the United
Kingdom, Macau, Estonia, and Australia. The Company’s customers include casinos, other gaming suppliers,
operators of wide-area gaming networks and lottery authorities. Progresswe s gaming products are found in almost
every major gaming jurisdiction worldwide.

The Company’s worldwide operations are concentrated in two principal business segtnents: slot and table games,
and systems.

Slot and Table games. The Company established its slot and table game business unit in 1993 to develop, acquire,
and distribute proprietary games, and these have become increasingly important to the Company’s business. The
Company owns or licenses the rights to several categories of proprietary games, which it places in casinos under
lease arrangements. These leases provide for license fees, fixed rental payments or a participation in the game’s
operating results.

Systems. The Company also sells or leases software and electronic components for player tracking and slot machine
and table game monitoring/accounting systems along with progressive jackpot and mystery systems to casino
operators and governmental agencies.

Interior Signage. In connection with its focus on games content and technology, the Company sold its interior sign
division through a private buy-out of the division’s employees during 2005.

Acquisitions / Divestitures

In December 2004, the Company entered into two strategic transactions to enhance its table games and table systems
products. First, the Company agreed to acquire the table games management system, PitTrak®, including its existing
customer base from Hotel Systems Pty, Ltd. of Sydney, Australia. PitTrak® has a similar functlonallty as the
Company’s TableLink® product and provided the Company with an existing installed base of over 400 tables and
access to sell its management solutions worldwide. The purchase of PitTrak® was completed in January 2005. The
Company also purchased patents related to player card image based recognition (IBR) and licensed the exclusive
rights to develop and distribute an IBR card recognition shoe. These transactions were completed in January 2005.

In connection with its focus on games content and technology the Company sold its interior sign division during
2005. The newly formed entity retained the Mikohn brand. Accordingly, the Company filed fictitious name filings in
all jurisdictions in which it does business to allow it to do business as Progressive Gaming International Corporation
effective January 2005. In addition, the Company changed its NASDAQ ticker symbol to PGIC, effective January 5,
2005. The Company changed its legal name to Progressive Gaming International Corporation in March, 2006. The
Company retained a minority interest in the sign business and as a result did not present the reporting unit as a
discontinued operation in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (“SFAS™) 144 “Long Lived
Assets and Assets to be Disposed Of”.

On October 7, 2005, the Company completed its acquisition of VirtGame Corp. (VirtGame), a provider of open
architecture gaming software primarily focused on the delivery of a central-server based slot games and centrally
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managed sports betting. The Company will issue approximately 1.8 million shares of its common stock for all of the
outstanding common stock, preferred stock, warrants and options of VirtGame. The Company also provided
VirtGame with a secured credit facility of $2.5 million to bridge their operations until the acquisition was complete.
At December 31, 2004, the Company had advanced $0.3 million to VirtGame under this credit facility.

On November 28, 2005, the Company acquired EndX Group, Ltd. (“EndX”), a global gaming management systems
software company headquartered in the United Kingdom, for approximately $29.2 million in cash, including
transaction costs. EndX had been one of the Company’s key strategic partners for over three years. The EndX
Intelligence product suite is currently installed in over 175 gaming centers in approximately 20 countries worldwide,
including centers operated by the three major gaming operators located in the United Kingdom. The EndX product
has been integrated as a part of CasinoLink® Enterprise Edition. The modules of EndX include cage and cash
management, player marketing, table games accounting, and surveillance and alerts monitoring. In addition, we and
EndX previously created a version of TableLink® for the international market. Significant North American multi-site
installations that have been completed or are in the process of being installed include 17 sites for the British
Columbia Lottery Corporation and four sites for the Saskatchewan Indian Gaming Authority.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:

Principles of Consolidation. The consolidated financial statements include the accounts for the Company and all of
its majority-owned subsidiaries and are maintained in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America. All material intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.

Cash and Cash Equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, demand deposits, and short-term
investments with original maturities of less than ninety (90) days. The Company places its cash and temporary
investments with high quality institutions. At December 31, 2005, the Company had deposits with high quality
institutions in excess of FDIC insured limits by approximately $12.2 million. The Company performs periodic
evaluations of the relative credit standing of these financial institutions.

Fair Values of Financial Instruments. In accordance with reporting and disclosure requirements of the Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 107 - Disclosures about Fair Values of Financial Instruments, the
Company calculates the fair value of financial instruments and includes this information in the Company’s Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements when the fair value is different than the book value of those financial
instruments. When fair value is equal to book value, no disclosure is made. Fair value is determined using quoted
market prices whenever available. When quoted market prices are not available, the Company uses alternative
valuation techniques such as calculating the present value of estimated future cash flows utilizing discount rates
commensurate with the risks involved.

Receivables and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts. The Company regularly evaluates the collectibility of its trade
receivable balances based on a combination of factors. When a customer’s account becomes past due, dialogue is
initiated with the customer to determine the cause. If it is determined that the customer will be unable to meet its
financial obligation to the Company, such as in the case of a bankruptcy filing, deterioration in the customer’s
operating results or financial position or other material events impacting their business, a specific reserve is recorded
for bad debt to reduce the related receivable to the amount the Company expects to recover given all information
presently available. The Company also records reserves for bad debt for all other customers based on certain other
factors including the length of time the receivables are past due and historical collection experience with individual
customers. If circumstances related to specific customers change, the Company’s estimates of the recoverability of
receivables could materially change.

Inventories. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (determined using the first-in, first-out method) or market.

Long-Lived Assets. Property and equipment are stated at cost and are depreciated by the straight-line method over
the useful lives of the assets, which range from 3 to 15 years. Costs of major improvements are capitalized; costs of
normal repairs and maintenance are charged to expense as incurred. Management requires long-lived assets that are
held and used by the Company to be reviewed for impairment quarterly or whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrymg amount of an asset may not be recoverable from related future undiscounted
cash flows.
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During 2003, the Company had determined that the useful life of its existing slot machines should be accelerated to
fully depreciate by the end of 2004 as these assets were expectedito be phased out and'replaced by a different
hardware platform. As of September 2004, the Company had not replaced its slot machine hardware platform and
has subsequently invested in the refurbishment of these assets to be compliant with current industry standards and
enhance their producnvrty Management has determmed that the useful life of these refurblshed slot machines
should be ﬂve years. o J | :

t
. Y

Patents and Trademarks. The Company eapitalizes 'the cost of registering and defending patents and trademarks.
These costs are amortized over the useful life of the patent or trademark.

Intangible Assets. Intangxble assets con31st of patent and trademark rights, goodwrll mte]lectual property nghts
covenants not to compete, software costs, license fees and perpetual license. They are recorded at cost and are
amortized, except goodwill and perpetual license, on a straight-line basis based on the period of time the asset is
expected to contribute directly or indirectly to future cash flows, which range from S to 40 years. .

The Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142, “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets” effective January 1, 2002. Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets,
such as the Company’s perpetual license, are no longer amortized but are subject to periodic impairment tests. Other
intangible assets with finite lives, such as patents, software.development costs, trademark and proprietary property
rights and license and non-compete agreements will continue to be amortized over their useful lives. Management
performs impairment reviews annually or whenever events or circumstances occur that would indicate the assets
may be impaired.

Deferred Revenues and License Fees. Deferred revenues consist prlmanly of arrangements for which revenues will
be recognized in future penods

Depostts and Product Sales Recogmtton. Deposit liabilities represent payments and payment obligations collected
in advance from customers pursuant to agreements under which the related sale of i mventory has not been
completed.

. . . ““ ‘
Other Assets. Other long term assets represent primarily prepaid content development ‘and software costs of $5.7
million and $0, unamortized loan fees related to the Senior; Secured Notes of approximately $1.2 million and $2.5
million, and security deposits for building and equipment leases and other services of approximately $0.9 miilion
and $0.6 million, at December 31, 2005 and 2004 respectlvely
Commttments and Contmgenczes The Company is involved in various legal proceedings. It is the Company’s
policy to accrue for amounts related to these legal matters if it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the

amount is reasonably estimable.’

Foreign Currency Translation. The Company accounts for currency translation in accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards'No. 52, “Foreign Currency Translation”. Balance sheet accounts are.translated at
the exchange rate in effect at each balance sheet date. Income statement accounts are translated at the average rate of
exchange prevailing during the period. Translation adjustments: resultmg from this process are charged or credited to
other comprehensive income (loss). .

Nonménetar;v Exchanges. The Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 153
“Exchanges of Non-Monetary Assets” (FASB 153) for the quarter ended September 30, 2005. FASB 153 addresses
the measurement for the exchange of non-monetary assets. FASB 153 requires that exchanges be recorded at fair
value provided that fair value is determinable and other qualifying criteria are met as described in the standard. If
fair value is not determinable or if the other quahfymg criteria are not met, the exchange is recorded at cost.

In September 2005, the Company entered into separate transactions involving the licensing of mtellectual property
and content. The first involved the license.of the Company’s legacy slot operating system of which the Company
had previously acquired a portion of the rights to, made significant modifications and enhancements and obtained
regulatory approval in numerous jurisdictions. We also acquired unique intellectual property content primarily for
use in the Company’s server-based wagering growth initiative from this party who licensed our operating system.
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These transactions were accounted for as non-monetary exchanges in accordance with FASB 153 and have been
recorded at cost in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

The second transaction involved obtaining the rights to execute the license of the slot operating system from the
current owner. The current owner also purchased core intellectual property from us. These transactions were
recorded as non-monetary exchanges in accordance with FASB 153 and recorded at fair value in the accompanying
consolidated statement of operations.

Revenue Recognition. The Company recognizes revenue depending as follows:

Slot and Table Games. The Company leases and sells proprietary slot and table games to casino customers. Table
game lease contracts are typically for a 36-month period with a 30-day cancellation clause. The lease revenue is
recognized on a monthly basis. Slot machine lease contracts are either on revenue participation or a fixed-rental
basis. Slot machine lease contracts are typically for a month-to-month period with a 30-day cancellation clause. On a
participation basis, the Company earns a share of the revenue that the casino earns from these slot machines. On a
fixed-rental basis, the Company charges a fixed amount per slot machine per day. Revenues from both types of lease
arrangements are recognized on the accrual basis. The sales agreements for proprietary table games and slot games
consist of the sale of hardware and a perpetual license for the proprietary intellectual property. Slot and table game
sales are executed by a signed contract or a customer purchase order. Revenues for these sales agreements are
generally recognized when the hardware and intellectual property is delivered to the customer.

Systems. System sales consist of a suite of products (some of which are sold separately) that enable gaming entities
to track customer gaming activity, account for slot machine activity and operate progressive jackpot systems. There
are proprietary hardware and software components to the systems. The Company accounts for system sales in
accordance with Statement of Position 97- 2 - Software Revenue Recognition (“SOP 97-2”). System sales are
considered multiple element arrangements because they include hardware, software, installation, training and post-
sale customer support. System sales are evidenced by a signed contract. Follow-up spare parts and hardware-only
sales are evidenced by a purchase order. Revenue for system sales is recognized when: (i) there is a signed contract
with a fixed determinable price; (ii) collectibility of the sale is probable; and (iii) the hardware and software have
been delivered, installed, training has been completed and acceptance has occurred.

Not all systems contracts require installation. Examples include sales of hardware only to (i) previous customers that
are expanding their systems, (ii) customers that have multiple locations and do the installation themselves and
require an additional software license and hardware and (iii) customers purchasing spare parts.

Postcontract Customer Support. Maintenance and support for all of the Company’s products are sold under
agreements with established vendor-specific objective evidence of fair value in accordance with the applicable
accounting literature. These contracts are generally for a period of three years and revenue is recognized ratably over
the contract service period. Further training is also sold under agreements with established vendor-specific objective
evidence of price, which is based on daily rates and is recognized upon delivery.

License Arrangements. A significant portion of the Company’s revenues are generated from the license of
intellectual property, software and game content. These licenses are sold on a stand-alone basis or in multiple
element arrangements. Revenue is recognized from these transactions in accordance with the applicable accounting
literature. Revenues under perpetual license arrangements are generally recognized when the license is delivered.
Revenues under fixed term arrangements are generally recognized over the term of the arrangement or in a manner
consistent with the earnings process. For arrangements with multiple deliverables, revenue is generally recognized
as the elements are delivered so long as the undelivered elements have established fair values as required in the
applicable accounting literature. w

Interior Signage. Product sales are executed by a signed contract or customer purchase order. Revenue is recognized
when the completed product is delivered. If the agreement calls for the Company to perform an installation after
delivery, revenue related to the installation is recognized when the installation has been completed and accepted by
the customer.
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Certain of the Company’s revenue arrangements are considered nonmonetary exchanges under SFAS No. 153,
“Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets”. Such transactions are generally accounted for on the cost basis of accounting.
Under certain circumstances, transactions within the scope of this pronouncement may be accounted for at fair
value.

Stock-Based Compensation. The Company has stock-based employee and director compensation plans which are
described more fully in Note 16. The Company accounts for those plans in accordance with APB No. 25,
“Accounting For Stock Issued to Employees”, and related Interpretations. The following table illustrates the effect
on net income and earnings per share if the Company had applied the. fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No.
123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”. Effective January 1, 2006, the Company will be required to
adopt the provisions of FAS 123R, which requ1res that the fair value of stock options and similar awards be
expensed.

The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model
with the following assumptions used for the 2003 through 2005 grants: risk-free interest rate at the date of grant
which ranged from 3.125% to 7.78%; expected dividend yield of 0.0%; expected life of the option from 1 to 6 years;
and expected volatility between: 50 and 60 percent

(Amounts in thousands, except per share amounts) . 2005 2004 2003
Net income (1085), 85 TEPOTEA ....c.cveireeveierererereeernieieeeieresssssensrreresesesan e esenes § (5983) $ 250 §$ (34,216)
Add: Reported stock-based COMPENSation EXPENSe..................oovvrvvererrersereessees 736 344 154
Deduct: Pro forma stock-based compensation expense determined under fair ‘

value method ........cccveeieieivcnerniecie e PR O (3.032) __(1.368) (956)
Pro forma net 0SS ...........cccooien. SO $ (8279) 8 (765) $ (35.018)
Earnings (loss) per share: ‘
As reported — Basic and diluted................ BSOSO ferteeeerenre e e $ (024938 001 $ (2.33)
Pro forma — Basic and diluted ...........ccooeceveiernnnnnns ettt bine $ (033)$ (003)$ (2.38)

Equity Instruments Issued to Consultants and Vendors. The Company’s accounting policy for equity instruments
issued to consultants and vendors in exchange for goods and services follows the provisions of Emerging Issues
Task Force (“EITF”) 96-18- Accounting for Equity Instruments That are Issued to Other Than Employees for
Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling, Goods or Services and EITF 00-18 - Accounting Recognition for Certain
Transactions Involving Equity Instruments Granted to Other Than Employees. The measurement date for the fair
value of the equity instruments issued is determined at the earlier of (i) the date at which a commitment for
performance by the consultant or vendor is reached or (ii) the date at which the consultant or vendor’s performance
is complete. In the case of equity instruments issued to consultants, the fair value of the equity instrument is
recognized as a charge to the statement of operations over the term of the consuiting agreement. No expense was
recognized in the current year as a result of equity instruments issued to consultants. The number of uncancelled
options issued to consultants at December 31, 2005, was approximately 55,000,

In addition, the Company has received from Hasbro and Ripley licensing rights to intellectual property, including
rights to develop and market gaming devices and associated equipment under the trademarks Monopoly®,
Battleship®, Trivial Pursuit® and Ripley’s - Believe It or Not!®. In exchange for these license agreements, the
Company granted Hasbro and Rlpley warrants to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock for each license.

Related Party Transactions. On May 2, 2005 the Company sold substantially all the assets of its sign and graphics
manufacturing business to a third party, retaining less than 1% equity interest. The Company and Mikohn Signs and
Graphics, LLC (“MSG”), signed a Transition Services Agreement and a Manufacturer’s Supply Agreement upon
completion of the transaction.

The Transition Services Agreement had a term of six months ending on November 2, 2005 that required certain
services to be performed by both parties during the separation. The Company was obligated to provide
administrative support, customer service and compliance assistance, whereas MSG was obligated to provide
electronic assembly and warehousing services during the term of the agreement.

-60 -




Both parties entered into a three year Manufacturer’s Supply Agreement at the close of the transaction, whereby
MSG would purchase electronics from the Company at its standard OEM pricing. For the period from May 2, 2005
to December 31, 2005, MSG purchased approximately $1.4 million in electronic displays and related products from
the Company.

In addition, under the Manufacturer’s Supply Agreement, MSG will provide the Company assembly, testing,
shipping and warehousing services at MSG’s warchouse at hours worked plus any overhead associated with
providing these services, multiplied by 110%. On January 3, 2006, Progressive terminated this portion of the
agreement and is currently using a third party contract manufacturer in Las Vegas, Nevada to provide these same
services.

From time to time, the Company purchases signage and sign related products from MSG in conjunction with its
progressive jackpot systems. During the period from May 2, 2005 through December 31, 2005, the Company
purchased approximately $0.6 million from MSG.

Additionally, the Company billed MSG for reimbursable expenses including rent, utilities, administrative assistance
and service costs for the period from May 2, 2005 through December 31, 2005 in the amount of approximately $0.3
million. ‘

In June 2005, the Company entered into a worldwide exclusive license with Magellan Technology Pty Limited
(“Magellan”). The Company licensed, on an exclusive basis, Magellan’s rights to its RFID reader, tag and related
intellectual property for any gaming applications for $3.1 million. The Company also intends to purchase a minority
interest in Magellan.

David J. Thompson announced his resignation as chief executive officer effective August 16, 2002 and, on March
21,2003, Mr. Thompson announced his retirement as chairman of the board of directors. According to the
provisions of Mr. Thompson’s chief executive officer severance agreement, the Company recorded a charge of
approximately $3.3 million, of which $1.5 million in cash payments were made during the year ended December 31,
2002. In addition, approximately $0.3 million of the chief executive officer severance agreement was applied by Mr.
Thompson to repay outstanding loans and advances owed to the Company. In March 2003, as part of his retirement
package, the Company paid the remaining amounts owed Mr. Thompson totaling approximately $1.4 million and
agreed to pay certain legal costs incurred by him in the approximate amount of $0.5 million.

|
Software Development Capitalization. The Company previously capitalized costs related to the development of
certain software products that meet the criteria under SFAS No. 86 - Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software
to Be Sold, Leased, or Otherwise Marketed. The Company did not capitalize any costs during the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004 or 2003.

Income Taxes. The Company accounts for income taxes under SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes,
pursuant to which the Company records deferred income taxes for temporary differences that are reported in

different years for financial reporting and for income tax purposes. Such deferred tax liabilities and assets are
classified into current and non-current amounts based on the classification of the related assets and liabilities.

Guarantees. In November 2002, the FASB issued FIN No. 45, (“FIN 457), “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure
Requirements for Guarantees, including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others,” - an interpretation of FASB
Statements No. 5, 57 and 107 and rescission of FIN 34 - which disclosures are effective for financial statements
issued after December 15, 2002. While the Company has various guarantees included in contracts in the normal
course of business, primarily in the form of indemnities, these guarantees would only result in immaterial increases
in future costs, but do not represent significant or contingent liabilities of the indebtedness of others.

Use of Estimates and Assumptions. The Company’s consolidated financial statements are prepared in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Certain of the Company’s accounting policies
require that management apply significant estimates, judgments and assumptions, that it believes are reasonable, in
calculating the reported amounts of certain assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and related disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities. By their nature, these estimates are subject to an inherent degree of uncertainty.
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Management’s judgments are based on historical experience, terms of existing contracts, observance of known
industry trends, and information available from outside sources, as appropriate. On a regular basis, management
evaluates its estimates including those related to lives assigned to the Company’s assets, the determination of bad
debts, inventory valuation reserves, asset impairment and self-insurance reserves. There can be no assurance that
actual results will not differ from those estimates.

2. Acquisitions

In 2005 the Company completed three business acquisitions. For each of the acquisitions, the purchase price was
allocated to the underlying assets acquired and liabilities assumed based upon their estimated fair values at the date
of the acquisition. The estimated fair values were based on independent appraisals, discounted cash flow analysis
and estimates made by management. For each transaction, the allocation of the purchase price will be completed
within one year from the date of the acquisition. To the extent that the purchase price exceeded the fair value of the
net identifiable tangible and intangible assets acquired, such excess was allocated to goodwill. With the adoption of
SFAS No. 142 in 2002, the Company no longer amortizes goodwill or intangible assets that are determined to have
an indefinite life.

VirtGame

On October 7, 2005, the Company completed it acquisition of VirtGame Corp. in a stock swap in which the
Company will issue approximately 1.3 million shares of common stock in exchange for all of the outstanding shares
of VirtGame’s common and preferred stock, as well as approximately 0.5 million shares issuable in the future upon
the exercise of options and warrants. VirtGame is a provider of open architecture gaming software primarily focused
on the delivery of central server-based games and centrally managed sports betting. The cost of the acquisition was
approximately $21.2 million, comprising approximately $19.3 million in common stock and $1.9 million in cash
transaction costs.

The value of the common stock to be issued was determined based on the average market price of the Company’s
common stock over a period of days surrounding the measurement date, in accordance with the applicable
accounting literature. The estimated fair value of the options and warrants issued in the transaction were determined
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. ‘

The following table summarizes the preliminary allocation of the purchase price to estimated fair values of the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition:

INEL CUITENE SSELS...vvvvverereceeeiesineisiassssesrsrsseresssssineesetesesasssesesssssssesnsesees eereee ettt ettt eaetes brveeeesierenenns $ (0.8)
Property and equipment, net...................... e rteut ket ettt et st et s e e n e bt ek R et ekt b ek es ek a e et be st ee e neenea e beerenes 0.2
GOOAWIL ...ttt bttt sa stk s e bbbt sa e st e e ne s e n e sresbese e b e abesr b 18.1
INtANGIDIE ASSEIS. ....eviuirrreerire ittt sttt bbb e s e R e 9.5
WOrKing capital LOAM .......ccvvviuiieicitienicii ettt st se st e et b bt s n e b s et (2.4)
Deferred tax Hability..........ocoooivinirirncciieeieencecnnnens JURURORRION ettt b et en e e e aaas (3.4)
Net aSSets ACUITEA ........ovorvvervrivereeeeeceeees st O U OU USRS UEUP TR PT $ 212

Of the estimated $9.5 million in intangible assets, $9.3 million has been assigned to developed core technology (six-
year life) and $0.2 million has been assigned to customer lists (three-year life).
The estimated $18.1 million of goodwill was assigned to the systems segment, and the Company anticipates this
goodwill will not be deductible for tax purposes. Pursuant to SFAS No 142, goodwill is not amortized, but is subject
to periodic review for impairment.

EndX
On November 28, 2005, the Company acquired EndX, a global gaming management systems software company

headquartered in the United Kingdom, in a cash purchase transaction. The cost of the acquisition was approximately
$29.2 million including approximately $2.0 million in transaction costs.
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The following table summarizes the preliminary allocation of the purchase price to estimated fair values of the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition:

INEE CUITEINE ASSEES...vevereerreisrereseriettiestete st sttt taererseterassase e st ebesesbebere st stesesbabeseaseb et esessabesenessenranasaseressenesenronerens $ 02
Property and eqQUIPIMENT, NEL.....cooiiiiiiiiiieiir ettt ctteeeeaeteeaere et e e seataeessbbeeesanteeesesbtsae st e e e eane 0.1
GOOAWILL ...ttt bttt e r s e etk Rt e bt eb ks b e b et bk e e s e s m et oo sbere s 214
TNEANGIDIE BSSOLS. . ..eererteeereriieiete ettt er ettt sttt e e e et st et s e et ek e st st ek e st et e se e etk e ne et e ke nEere et e neere ks seenete s 10.7
Deferred tax HabIlity......cccocorriirerei ettt etttk st be s e e (3.2)
INEL ASSELS ACQUITEA .....eiviiiiiiiiriietcrt ittt sttt e s r e st r e st er e s e esesanesasobesas b san s en $ 292

Of the estimated $10.7 million in intangible assets, $9.2 million has been assigned to developed core technology
(six-year life) and $1.5 million has been assigned to customer lists (three-year life).

The estimated $21.4 million of goodwill was assigned to the systems segment, and the Company anticipates this
goodwill will not be deductible for tax purposes. Pursuant to SFAS No 142, goodwill is not amortized, but is subject
to periodic review for impairment.

PitTrak

On January 5, 2005, the Company acquired substantially all the assets of PitTrak®, a table games management
system. PitTrak® has similar functionality as TableLink® and provides the Company with an existing installed base
of over 400 tables and access to sell its management solutions worldwide. The total purchase consideration of
approximately $2.8 million was allocated to intangible assets, including goodwill of $2.6 million, software costs,
patents, trademarks, and customer lists totaling $0.4 million, and net current liabilities of $0.2 million. The estimated
goodwill of $2.6 million was assigned to the systems segment, and the Company anticipates this goodwill will not
be deductible for tax purposes. Pursuant to SFAS No 142, goodwill is not amortized, but is subject to periodic
review for impairment.

Pro Forma Results (unaudited)
The results of operations of the entitiés acquired in the PitTrak, EndX and VirtGame acquisitions, and the effects of
related financing, have been included in our consolidated financial statements since their respective January 5, 2005,
October 7, 2005, and November 28, 2005, dates of acquisition. The following unaudited pro forma consolidated
financial information has been prepared assuming that the following transactions had occurred at the beginning of
2005 and 2004: ‘

» The acquisition of PitTrak, as if it occurred on January 1, 2004 and 2005;

¢ The acquisition of EndX , as if it occurred on January 1, 2004 and 2005;

¢ The acquisition of VirtGame as if it occurred on January 1, 2004 and 2005, and the related issuance of

approximately 1.2 million shares of common stock in exchange for the outstanding common and preferred
stock of VirtGame.
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(Amounts in thousands) 2005 2004

NEETEVEINUES .....oorvrivies ettt er sttt bbbt $ 82079 $ 101.812
Income from operatlons ....... $ (7157y § 5,165
INEELOSS c1cr1 v eeeesenesesenessss s e $ (12117) § _ (4.692)
Loss per share ~ basic and diluted ...........cccovvivvcneriieecc s $ (046) 3  (0.20)

3. Fair Values of Financial Instruments

The following table presents the carrying amount and estimated fair market value (“FMV”) of financial instruments
at December 31, 2005:

Carrying  Estimated

(Amounts in thousands) ) Amount FMV
Liabilities:
SENIOT INOLES ....ovviierete ittt e e et eae e r st eabesseteeaeerseresbe st asbe et et e aneereessenbeebassassetsaresnsernaras $ 44046 § 47.700

The carrying values of notes / contract sales receivables and capital leases approximate fair values. The estimated
fair value of long-term debt was determined by using quoted market prices and where quoted market prices are not
available the fair value was calculated utilizing the present value of estimated future cash flows and applying
discount rates commensurate with the risks involved. ]

4. Receivables

Accoﬁnts receivable at December 31, 2005 and 2004 co‘nsist of the following:

(Amounts in thousands) ‘ | 2005 2004

Trade ACCOUNLS ......ccvirmrerisieinii s ssseesssnenssnennns 8 12,8748 14,784
(@111 ST ST TS TR PR O TR S P TP 850 416
SUDLOTAL ..ottt str et e e e e e b et e s r e at e s tb e bt e bt s beseb e easestssaeesereetaeea s et esreanneenes . 13,724 15,200
Less: allowance for doubtful aCCOUNTS.........cocoviiiieiiiiiii et e sene e e (805) (900)
NEt v e OO OO $ 12919 § 14.300

Contract and notes receivable at December 31, 2005 and 2004 consist of the following:

(Amounts in thousands) . | 2008 2004

CONTACE SALES......ocvecveieicrere ettt sen e seeene s ettt et aaan $ 14,788 $ 2462
INOEES .. vevie ettt s et sttt et s et en s e st se et st ae e s et s e e es et et et et s et eesra e s e st er et e e areeetstnasaras — 2.604
SUDLOAL ...ttt ettt seb e bt ettt e seteb b s be bt e et e seseshbe s aene et stesnneseeeresabesreantens 14,788 5,066
Less: allowance for doubtful accounts............oceeeiivcncniiciicneennnnnn, PSR URRUROPUORR _(1.,529) _ (1,529)
N L o tiete ettt te e et b e st et et et b e b e st e e bt s eat et ee b s b ea s en e e R e e ke enbeertetntanbeebesreeareetenrae s $ 13259 $ 3.537
CULTEIIE POTEION .vvvvvvveee oo oo ees oo eseee oo $ 13170 $_2.462

Changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 are as
follows:

(Amounts in thousands) v 2005 2004 2003
Allowance for doubtful accounts — beginning ............cocoveiivccieiiinnici s $ 2429 § 3496 $§ 3,784
Provision for bad debts (TECOVETIES) ... .occiiiieriiriieeciiere et (49) 149 772
WWTIE — OFf8 et b ettt ns e (46) __(1.216) __ (1.060)
Allowance for doubtful accounts — ending ..., $ 2334 § 2429 § 3.49
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5. Inventories

Inventories at December 31, 2005 and 2004 consist of the following:

(Amounts in thousands) ! 2005 2004
Raw materials ........cccooovevveiviivenennnn, e ettt eat et et et e et eae et e ar et et et ene et er e b e e ar e b eneees $ 7384 § 7,651
Finished goods.......cccovvviivvvcrerernnnnnn, et eee teeeetteteairteeaa eeeineeeaeaaeeeiaataeaeatarteseanraeaeiatereren 4,303 3,618
WOTK-IN-PIOZTESS ...cvevveeeeviereneeicetereeieeiee et te bttt b et be e nese e s smeanenesr e nonenenenesnennnenesenenen 4 339
SUDLOAL ... ettt e et b e ba e st e e b e s bt e srae s e e nr e e an e e e ee b e r b e ensenseenns 11,691 11,608
Less: reserve for obsolete INVENTOTY ........cocciiiriiriirienrrrissiisee et res e (1.157) (1.332)
TOMAL oo e $ 10534 $ 10276

Changes in the reserve for obsolete inventory for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 are as follows:

(Amounts in thousands) ‘ 2005 . 2004 2003
Reserve for obsolete inventory — beginning ............occoeverererecnrreerereninnseoreerereeenenens $ 1332 § 4479 § 4,072
Provision for obsolete inventory........ e eeteertesreebeesbeerbearseeRe e beatenht e et et e ete e beanteees (85) 912) 1,670
Write — offS.c.cvvveiieccl et eteebe ettt e et ea R bbb at bRt a bt neeae e (90) _ (2.235) _ (1,263)
Reserve for obsolete inventory — ending ........oceceverenenininininre e $ 1157 § 1332 § 4479

6. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment at December 31, 2005 and 2004 consist of the following:

(Amounts in thousands) i 2005 2004
Buildings and leasehold improvements ..........c..oooveveiiiieiiincise e $ 977 § 1,240
Machinery and eqUIPIIENT ..........coueeeieivrirrrin et srerere e nere e seessone e srsessnaseseneren 7,452 5,237
Equipment 1€ased 10 OtherS..........cccciniiiiiiniie et 4,228 24,291
Furniture and fIXEUTES ...........coovviviii ettt e e s e e s e eta e e e setaeesessteaeeeseataeeesnnnsenen 1,773 6,631
Transportation EQUIPINEIIE .......c.erv.vereruererrererassesnsessesesissasesesnesereserssssessesensaessesnesesessasensosesenes 677 846
D) 01 o101 721 (ST S TSSOSO 15,107 38,245
Less: accumulated depreciation ...... oo iiiioiieeieniiresecrese e seeiestesiestee e staesaessesssesaeseesseseens (10.690) _ (28.270)
TOUL.c.vor oo oo e $ 4417 § 9975

Depreciation expense for property and equipment was approximately $2.6 million, $7.0 million and $11.5 million
for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively

7. Goodwill and Intangible Assets -

Intangible assets at December 31, 2005 and 2004 consist of the following:

(Amounts in thousands) ; 2005 2004
Perpetial JICENSE ......ocvevieietieceieteseet ettt e ettt sttt et e e et ss et ateeanetessensetesennae $ 35762 $§ 35,762
Patent and trademark r1ZHtS ......oovoivionir et b e e 15,769 10,461
Covenants N0t t0 COMPELE. ....c..ccirier it see ettt et st st eb e st ebesmbesa s besaae 377 377
Software develOPMENL COSES .....ccciriiiieriiiriiie et sreree ettt b et er et eesesarenes 1,905 2,154
Licensed tECHNOLOZY ...ooue vttt sttt esese e st s b e b e st et ae st ee 3,940 250
Core technology and other proprietary rights ........ccccocvereriniiniinenre e 21,100 834
Subtotal.....c.ocoeveviiiii ) et teeteesteesteeterrareeraeeste et e teaa e e e raeeabesras e bee s aenenessanseans 78,853 49,838
Less: accumulated amOTtiZAION .......ccccoivvereeireeriieeioe e ereesreceesrresreerseesesebeevaeseneeabesrbesssensens (16.902) _ (14.942)
TOtal i ettveeestesnreearaeereeartet e bt e hee et eeebae e taaere e e abte et be e ereasreants § 61951 § 34896
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Goodwill at December 31, 2005 and 2004 consists of the following:

(Amounts in thousands) ‘ 2005 2004

GOOAWIIL ..ttt r e b se e e et e e e s abess et aest s e sseere s s b bsarsastarbesresseaessassrens $ 59,287 $ 17,341
Less: accumulated amOTtIZAtION ......ocuvviiveiiiiiiiicieiiee e st e st s eree st sesssaessssessbesmeeesees e (2.114) (2.114)
B 17 ) O S UU U PO SO RSO TUOUTN $ 57.173 § 15227

During 2005 the Company reclassified approximately $12.4 million of the perpetual license to goodwill and
adjusted the related deferred tax liability by approximately $6.9 million. For purposes of comparability, a similar
reclassification and adjustment is reflected in 2004 amounts.

The $27.1 million increase in the net carrying amount of intangible assets during the year ended December 31, 2005,
is due primarily to the acquisition of the intangible assets of EndX and VirtGame, the acquisition of other
intellectual property and game content, and capitalized patent defense costs, partially offset by amortization expense
and the adjustment of the perpetual license described above.

The $41.9 million increase in the net carrying amount of goodwill during the year ended December 31, 2005,
resulted from the acquisitions of EndX, VirtGame and PitTrak and the adjustment of the perpetual license described
above.

In accordance with SFAS No. 142, the Company performs an impairment analysis on all of its long-lived and
intangible assets on an annual basis and in certain other circumstances. For indefinite lived assets including
perpetual licenses and goodwill, an independent valuation is performed annually to determine if any impairment has
occurred. Independent valuation tests as of September 30, 2005 and 2004, did not indicate any impairment.

The net carrying value of goodwill and other intangible assets as of December 31, 2005 by segment consists of the
following: ‘

Net Amount Allocated by Segment

Slot and
‘ Tabl
(Amounts in thousands) G:mees Svstems Corporate Total
GOOAWIIL...c.. ittt et stserb e r st saneaassaesnnesrnes $ 14,838 § 42335 § — $ 57,173
Indefinite life intangible asset (perpetual license) ..........c.cccoveeveeverrnns 31,276 — — 31,276
Definite life intangible assets (detail below) ........cccceveveciinieecienennene 4,520 _ 23414 2,741 30,675
TOAL v vveeevereerese e oo seesesesereseesesesesese e esssesesesessseseeressesssesserenes $ 50634 8§ 65749 $ 2741 $ 119.124

The net carrying value of goodwill ($57.2 million) as of December 31, 2005 is included in the geographic operations
of North America ($33.0 million), Europe ($21.4 million), and Australia / Asia ($2.8 million).

Definite life intangible assets as of December 31, 2005, subject to amortization, are comprised of the following:

Gross Carrying Accumulated

(Amounts in thousands) Amount Amortization Net

Patent and trademark Tights ..........c.ccocovievevericiiieee et $ 15,769 $ (9,150) § 6,619
Covenants not t0 COMPELE...........eoevrerrerierrernerireeereeesresesarsreseseessessenns 377 377) —_
Software development COSES ........ccevvrrirririernencnere e reeeans 1,905 (1,680) 225
Licensed teChNOlOZY ..c.ccvvvevveiriererereerrc e e 3,940 (84) 3,856
Core technology and other proprietary rights .......cccccocevvrnvnecnrnnenne. 21.100 (1,125) 19.975

Total..ooo ettt $ 43.091 $ (12416) $ 30.675
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Amortization expense for definite life intangible assets was approximately $2.3 million, $1.6 million and $2.4
million for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Annual estimated amortization
expense for each of the five succeeding fiscal years is as follows:

(Amounts in thousands)

2006 et et —r e e se et bt testa s e b et e e eeaaRYha bt e sea bt st atae e eeea b b tereeatee i trbrsaeeranan $ 6,787
2007 e et e e e et e e eaae s s it re sttt sesante e eaateaeetnteeaeeabre st ontaeaesareeesartreessnaeeanns 5,857
2008 ..t e e e —— et s— e s et e eat b sanabaae st re s e bt e s s ates et e bt e anaas taabaeeataesessaeeeeennnanes 5,389
2009 .. et et te e st ea e —— e eaea e et ottt te et rt e eaE bt se st ettt earateteaatae e e st eesenrar e sarnnanes 4,788
015 (2 £ (= OSSOSO USRS 7.854
TOTALL ..ottt ettt ettt et st e ettt e e te et e e e e bt e e aate st e e e aea et e s aahee e e e beate s e beeerbseenteeeraesnte sanrs $ 30.675

8. Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities at December 31, 2005 and 2004 consist of the following:

{Amounts in thousands) ‘ 2005 2004

Payr0ll and related COSIS .......vrriiriiirrieieireieicese ettt eeness s s er b sss et st ebensesnee $ 1,461 § 3,048
INCOME LAXES ...voeervvreveeirerreenreererenennas ettt er ettt ren ettt ettt st b e s et b et et et bane et enas — 231
INterest ...ocoveivceee e e eecreeeeererteeerrrersebeteeanresessbera e teesesae st e s e nneee st renrenaetesernees 863 1,324
Royalties....ccovevivininenrcrecrceeeenee, eteeeterheieereeieiateeee e eaeereearent s et eeseeatanreaeereerte et aanesareereeas 524 1,341
Restructuring and SEVEIanCe EXPEMSE .u...c...ovrivrierrerrerriariereeneetieienesteseerte e sreereessessesnsereeseenseseennen 308 574
Liability for intellectual PIOPETLY .......civeeirriiirieit e reeieiercerete st s erts et e ere st sttt et ene 1,500 —
Other ..ot ettt bbbt b ettt st b et enteses b e s raasae s 896 ___1.096
0] 71 DO OO OO O TP ST OO URUUUR $ 5552 % 7.614

9. Net Gain on Disposition of Non-core Assets

During the second quarter of 2005, the Company completed the sale of its interior sign division, which resulted in a
gain of approximately $7.4 million, including transaction costs. Additionally, the Company commenced the process
of repositioning its existing slot machine platform to focus on central-server based games and third party content
development. In connection with this repositioning, the Company entered into an asset purchase agreement to sell
certain non-gaming slot hardware related to its existing platform. In connection with the repositioning, the Company
recorded an impairment charge of $4.9 million equal to the amount by which the carrying value exceeded fair value
determined by the selling price.

10. Gain on Sale of Core Intellectual Property

During the third quarter of 2005, the Company completed a $2.5 million strategic licensing transaction by selling the
remaining rights to certain intellectual property through a nonmonetary transaction, but retained a non-exclusive
right to use the intellectual property in the Company’s operations. This gain was based upon the fair value of
intellectual property sold in the exchange.

11. Debt and Capital Leases

Long-term debt and capital leases at ]jecember 31, 2005 and 2004 consists of the following:

(Antounts in thousands) ‘ 2005 2004
11.875% Senior Secured Notes due August 15, 2008, net of unamortized discount of $954
AN F1,808 oottt st b et b e e e se s Rt et et sae et s n et e e e anererenes $ 44,046 $ 63,105

Capital leases secured by transportation, gaming and manufacturing equipment, interest
rates between 4.1% and 13.19% and due through 2006. The related capitalized cost for

these 1eases 15 $69 and $1,017 ..ottt e sb e s en et eens 2 62
Unsecured promissory note to TAB, Ltd. bearing interest at 5%, principal and interest due

CUITENELY ...ttt ettt b e et e h e ste et e s e st e b s b e ea et e s reabeses 284 284
Notes payable secured by transportation and office equipment, interest rates between 0% to

12% due through 2004 ..ottt seeeebe ettt seeres e s ssteeao 26 87




(Amounts in thousands) ' . o 2005 2004

Total....oviic e ere et ettt etes ot e b e ek ettt s bt e Rt e be e s aaene st gene e e eReenbenene nanebeeetanee 44358 63,538
Less: current POrtion........c..evveeveeeeeeeenecvierereerceesesneeeresens s (287 (368)
LONEAEEITN POITIOM. .. eeceereveierteeeseee et st st seae st sttt s cest ottt ettt s e s s seas st essenaseeresans $ 44071 § 63,170

The following is the long-term debt maturity schedule:

(Amounts in thousands)

2006 ...ttt bbbk e RS e b S EeReR st ben $ 313
2007 oo e e n e s R e s H e e e bt —
2008 .t b e e b e e et 45,000
2009 . e e e —
ZOT0 i e e e e e et et e —
TOLAL oot e e e e e et n s $ 45313

In connection with the Company’s December 2005 retirement of $20.0 million of its Senior Secured Notes
(“Notes™), the Company incurred a loss for the early retirement of debt, totaling approximately $3.0 million. The
loss includes a charge of approximately $1.2 million for the premium paid on the repurchase of the Notes and non-
cash charges to write-off approximately $1.8 million representing the unamortized bond issue costs and unamortized
discount on the Notes retired.

On November 9, 2005, the Company completed its sale of 8.3 million shares of its Common Stock at a price of
$9.25 per share. Proceeds from the transaction were used to fund strategic developments and acquisitions,
repurchase and retire $20.0 million of the Company’s Notes, provide working capital and for other general corporate
purposes.

During 2003, the Company completed a private placement for approximately $45.0 million from selling 8.4 million
shares of its Common Stock at a price of $5.34 per share and warrants to acquire an additional 2.1 million shares at
an exercise price of $5.875 per share. Proceeds from the transaction were used to repurchase and retire $40.0 million
of the Company’s Notes and to pay the associated fees and costs. This transaction will reduce annual interest
expense by approximately $4.0 million. The refinancing resulted in the incurrence of a $9.5 million loss on early
retirement of debt. The loss includes a charge of approximately $1.6 million for the premium paid on the repurchase
of the Notes and non-cash charges of approximately $2.0'million and approximately $1.6 million for the write-off of
the unamortized bond issue costs and unamortized discount for the Notes retired, respectively. In addition, the
Company recorded a non-cash charge of approximately $4.2 million to expense the warrants 1ssued to extinguishing
bondholders.

On May 14, 2002, the Company acquired 1,744,403 shares of Mikohn Australasia Pty Limited ("MGA”) from TAB
Limited (“TAB”). These shares represented 8% of the-issued and outstanding shares of MGA, increasing the
Company’s ownership in this subsidiary from 92% to 100%. The purchase price for the shares was approximately
$1.1 million, with $0.8 million payable on closing and a promissory note for approximately $0.3 million. The
promissory note is due currently and bears interest at 5% per annum due at maturity. ‘

In February 2002, the Company completed the acquisition of a $17.5 million working capital revolving line of credit
facility (the “Facility”) with Foothill Capital Corporation (“Foothill”). During 2005, th1s fac111ty was assigned to a
third party. Pursuant to its terms, this facility expired on December 15, 2005.

On August 22, 2001, the Company completed the private placement of $105.0 million of its 11.875% Senior
Secured Notes (“Notes™) due 2008 and warrants to purchase an aggregate of 420,000 shares of its common stock at
a price of $7.70 per share. Interest payments are due on May 1 and November 1 until 2008. The Notes are secured
by a security interest in certain of the Company’s assets and certain assets of its subsidiaries. On or after August 15,
2005, the Company will have the right to redeem all or some of the Notes at a price that will decrease over time
from 105.938% of the principal amount in 2005 to 100.0% of the principal amount in 2007, plus accrued and unpaid
interest. The Notes include, among other covenants, a requirement that the Company maintain cash and cash
equivalents and unused availability equal to $5.0 million (as defined in the Indenture to the Senior Secured Notes).

The Company was in compliance with this covenant as of December 31, 2005 and 2004. i

- 68 -




Each warrant issued entitles the holder to purchase four shares of the Company’s common stock at a price of $7.70.
The warrants expire on August 15, 2008. The fair market value of the warrants at date of issue was recorded as
additional paid in capital.

12. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company leases certain of its facilities and equipment under various agreements for periods through the year
2011. The following schedule shows the future minimum rental payments required under these operating leases,
which have initial or remaining non-cancelable lease terms in excess of one year as of December 31, 2005:

‘ Minimum
(Amounts in thousands) , Payments
2006 ... ettt ettt e et e e et h e e e ——e et e e e teatbe bt ettt e tbeeree et e e e —n e e beeetatesataeaa bt erreeetre e e e s eeteesneeerabeas $ 2,714
2007 e vevevveeeevesessssste s eSS ERRS 1R SR 2472
2008 ... oo ceeeeitie et eritee et ete e rr et e —e e et s eatte s b e e re T A s e aAb s ettt aetae ettt e et eeaEE e e vAretsohrseare e e EeeRere s teeneeesnreenrtes 2,165
2009 ..ttt ee st et e e b et b e b et tentbeaseen s At ea A et beeAbe s e et et e et e er s e eb e e tee st aeseesnsenteanes 1,127
2000 .ottt e e bttt e e h e b et e e beaabe ey be b bbb r s et ne e beer b s enteatesebeetbeetbeetbe et aesreenetenereres 1,124
TRETCATTET ..ovvieciiiiiti ettt et sert et et e ettt s ee s e etr e e e ab s ete s e s e sebesesseesares st beeatesesasssanssesbneesssansaesaneesatasannes 175
] -1 S OUO U UUUUU U SUUURUU SRRt $ 9,777

Rent expense, net of sublease rentals,;was $2.4 million, $3.9 million and $8.6 million for the years ended December
31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Other Commitments and Contingencies

A lease agreement for a building in Las Vegas, Nevada was terminated during 2005 and a $1.0 million letter of
credit securing rent payments was released from escrow.

In August 2004, the Company signed'a five-year strategic partnership agreement with International Game
Technology (“IGT”) to license segments of its patent portfolio of technology and to develop video slot games based
on Progressive content, The new games will be developed on IGT’s game platform and distributed by Progressive.
IGT also licensed aspects of its intellectual property to the Company for its games as well as for certain joint
development. Under this agreement, the Company is committed to purchase from IGT a minimum of 600 slot
machines with the Company’s game content ported on them over the life of the agreement. The Company will be
required to pay for the slot machines through a daily fee arrangement whereby IGT will receive an amount equal to
25% of the Company’s gross revenue derived from the slot machines, with a minimum of $12.50 per day per
machine, as defined in the agreement,

Legal Matters

The Company was sued by Derek Webb and related plaintiffs in the U.S. District Court, Southern District of
Mississippi, Jackson Division, in a case filed on December 27, 2002. The plaintiffs allege state law interference with
business relations claims and federal antitrust violations and contend that the Company illegally restrained trade and
attempted to monopolize the proprietary table game market in the United States, Plaintiffs seek monetary damages,
penalties and attorneys’ fees in excess of several million dollars, and injunctive relief. There is no trial date presently
set. ‘

The Company filed suit against Charles H. McCrea, Jr. on March 13, 2003 in State District Court, Clark County,
Nevada to cause Mr. McCrea to repay a loan he received from the Company that had come due, including interest.
McCrea counterclaimed on April 7, 2003, seeking damages in excess of $1,000,000 and the reinstatement of
265,000 incentive stock options. A portion of this matter proceeded to arbitration in 2006, and the Company is
awaiting a decision from the arbitrator on the matter. Another portion of this matter proceeded to a jury trial which
concluded on March 28, 2006. In this jury trial, the Company was awarded the payment of a loan by McCrea of
approximately $176,000, and Mr. McCrea was awarded a non punitive judgment of approximately $750,000. The
Company does not expect to incur any material costs for the net effect of this outcome as its insurance policies are
believed to be sufficient to cover the expense.
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The Company is currently in a dispute with Hasbro, Inc. that was filed in the U.S. District Court in Rhode Island
centering primarily around the ¢alculation of royalty payments from 1999-2002 on the sale and license of certain of
the Company’s branded slot machines. Hasbro is seeking monetary damages, which could be in excess of several
million dollars. A substantial portion of these payments have been previously audited by Hasbro representatives
without a material dispute. ‘

The Company received a complaint from Olaf Vancura, an employee, on July 18, 2005, alleglng various claims
associated with allegations of breach of employment agreement A claim for the return of patents assigned to the
Company has also been made. Under the Company’s agreement with Mr. Vancura, the matter is required to be
handled through binding arbitration. Arbitration has been set for October 30, 2006.

Commencing on November 28, 2005, four similar purported class action complaints were filed in the United States
District Court for the District of Nevada naming the Company and two of its officers as defendants, and seeking
unspecified money damages under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The complaints
all alleged that during a “class period” beginning in early 2005 and ending on October 19, 2005, the defendants
misled the Company’s investors concerning the prospective application of SFAS 153 to the Company’s financial
statements for the third quarter of 2005. The complaints have been consolidated into a single action, and a
consolidated amended complaint is due to be filed in April 2006. No discovery has been conducted and no trial date
has been set.

In December 2005, Interactive Systems Worldwide Inc. (“ISWI”) filed an action against the Company in the Federal
District Court for New Jersey, alleging that the Company’s “Rapid Bet Live” and “Prime Line” products infringe
U.S. Patent Nos. 5,573,244 and 5,842,921. In March 2006, the Federal District Court for New Jersey transferred this
action to the Federal District Court for Nevada. ‘

The Company is involved in other routine litigation, including bankruptcies of debtors, collection efforts, disputes
with former employees and other matters in the ordinary course of business operations.

13. Income Taxes .
, 1 i
Income from continuing operations before tax consisted of the following:

(Amounts in thousands) ‘ . ‘ } ‘ 2005 ‘ 2004 2003

US. ooeoeeeoereoeerbeeeemessessesesesesesesesessesesesesesssesess st s ee e eeee e e $(7,504) $ 219 $ (33,653)
FOTEIZN....vvveieeeriirirrerereer et ssas st se st et neste s s s e s 1521 (25) (576)
Total.coiinereee e Lttt e e et e e b bt bttt he ekt h e ke b b saaabe et e b e e R e ebeabesr e beeraessenbenes $ (5.983) % 194 § (34,229)

The (provision) benefit for income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 consist of:

(Amounts in thousands) 2005 2004 2003
CUITEIE c..cvvicves ettt cer e st st et e b e es e sasserbesbeestseaaestsess e se et baeterabesesesane s aessantessntssatesansstessestaestseanerines $— 3655 13
J D T3 053 o (=« OTTRRT RO U S UORURRORTPUPRUR eeerr e e et r e s e eneaes it L —_ —
Total provision................. e eeirer et eerterres e ee e ee e —e i bt e e et t et eaneeeeee et e e narenteitteanrneeares $— 3% 65 13
CONLINUING OPETALIONS. ...c.vevieirirererieeiireregreseeseresereseesesestssesrseesasesessssssesesssennsosasesestossscssanssesessanes . $—8565% 13
Discontinued operations .......... ereteeiaeeeentaeaearretraaeeetaeteateessnrenas e terareeeetrereesereresrreeseteessnrreeren o= = —
Total BENefit (PrOVISION) .....c.ecceiiiririiiiete sttt ettt e et st st e se st saests e mre b esbesr e testeasesressesbesns $— 3 65 13
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The (provision) / benefit for income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 differs from
the amount computed at the federal income tax statutory rate as a result of the following:

(Amounts in thousands) 2005 % 2004 % 2003 %
Amounts at Statutory rate...........corvectrverrerrennns $ 2094 350% $ (68) (35.0)% $ 11,980  35.0%
Adjustments: ]

Foreign subsidiaries tax, net..............cccevevervenne (76) (1.3)% 55 28.3% —_ 0.0%
State income tax and other................. [T 87 1.5% 60 31.0% 183 0.5%
Non-deductible expenses...........c.oovevevererireeenen. (73) (1.2)% 285 146.7% (55 (0.2)%
Valuation allowance ...........ccoovveveeecriececnennenn, (2,032) (34.0)% (267) (137.6)% __ (12.095) (35.3)%
Total benefit (provision)................... SSRUUVR. — 0.0% § 65 33.5% $ 13 0.0%

The components of the net deferred tax liability at December 31, 2005 and 2004 consist of the following:

(Amouants in thousands) 2005 2004
Deferred tax assets: :

Current:

Inventory book / tax differences ........ e et et r st b et ettt et es bt es et ee et b st s b e e Rt rer e aeee $ 1,010 § 1,038
Prepaid expenses and Other...............beiiiic i 1,183 1,429
Valuation allowance.............ccccoeueeee. e bbb e s e e s b b e e ne (2.193) (2,467)
SUDIOALL....cuiiitei e bbb s e et eb et e b s s e st n b st e e s r e e nrene — —
Noncurrent:

DETEITEA TEVEIUE ..o ettt ee st eset et et e s essser et reabeentssnberasesatenateensesnresnerans $ 1,052 % 935
TAX CTEAILS ..ve.vivierrieerir e sttt cree bt e et et ae e s sb et s s ba e sabe st enbestesteetaerestaaseesessteratesbanbersssnenns 1,930 1,930
Intangible assets and other................. ettt b et e ek e R e et e R et e s e b e s e st s st et ns 2,745 3,651
Property and equipment and Other...........ccccooniiiiniiiinri e 2,090 787
Net operating loss carryforward ........ ... 39,137 30,769
Valuation allowance ............coevennee. eteetereere et et e et et et sk a R e e eR s b e n e et b en s e b s be e et e teneeaen {43.828) __(35.043)
SUBLOLAL ...ttt ee etttk bt n ettt 3.126 3.029
Total deferTed tAX SSELS ....cviieieiiesireet et ettt e et s s e e rs e e rsbesassseese e sasess e ssessessassesene 3,126 3.029
Deferred tax liabilities

CUITEINE: ..ottt ettt ettt es et st e besb e b e et e seee e seee e ebtenasnbe st e st ementebesbesrens — —
Noncurrent:

Perpetual lICENSE ........coovoiiieriir bbbt s (11,323) (11,323)
Definite lived intangible @sSets .........ciocriviiiiirieicnctcrr ettt renes (6,659) —
Sale 18aSEDACK . ......ciiiiiiiiiriee ittt sttt — —
SUDLOAL ...ttt sttt st sse s e st er s et eb e s b e et e st et ek et e nbe e e e eteraernas (17.982) _ (11,323)
Total deferred tax Habilities.........coceeivierieeereneeiee et er s e a e srsssa s (17.982) _ (11.323)
Net deferred tax Hability ........c.oevevriviriierereeeieieiciic e ees st en et se s s s b b renns $ (14.856) § (8.294)

Changes in the deferred tax valuauon allowance for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 were as
follows: ‘

(Amounts in thousands) ; 2005 2004 2003

Beginning Balance ............coviverieirireieserieeninieeesnsressesesseessrsee s stesse e saesnesesnesseseas $ 37,510 $ 37,243 § 25,148
Additions (AedUCHONS) .covveveeiirieieitiiieerte s ea et esr et e e e sreeeerness et basbeens 2,032 267 12,095
Purchase accounting adjustments ... ...cccccoveerrerniirmrrrierm e eseenereeestnienssensecesneenes 6.479 —

EDGINE BAIANCE ....ocvivcviveerectceeee e evere s e bbb a v bt rs st s nnes $ 46,021 § 37510 § 37, 243

At December 31, 2005, the Company had federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $111.8 million,
which will begin to expire after the year ended December 31, 2018. The Company also had General Business and
AMT tax credit carryforwards of approximately $1.6 million and $0.3 million, respectively. At December 31, 2005,
a valuation allowance was recorded to reduce the deferred tax asset because the management believes that the
recognition of the tax benefit could not be assured. The Company acquired $6.9 million of net operating loss
carryforwards from the acquisition of VirtGame. A full valuation allowance was provided on these net operating
losses. The future utilization of these net operating losses will reduce the goodwill recorded in the VirtGame
acquisition. Under Federal Tax Law IRC Section 382, certain significant changes in ownership that the Company is
currently undertaking may restrict the future utilization of these tax loss carryforwards.
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The Company has not recorded U.S. income tax expense for foreign earnings that it has declared as indefinitely
reinvested offshore. The amount of earnings designated as indefinitely reinvested offshore is based upon the actual
deployment of such earnings in offshore assets and management’s expectations of the future cash needs of the
Company’s U.S. and foreign entities. As of December 31, 2005, cumulative foreign earnings declared as indefinitely
reinvested offshore is approximately $0.5 million

As discussed in Note 7, pursuant to a review by the PCAOB of the Company’s external auditors, during 2005 the
Company reclassified a portion of the perpetual license to goodwill and has decreased the related deferred tax -
liability by $6.9 million accordingly. For purposes of comparability, a similar reclassification and adjustment is
reflected in 2004 amounts.

14. Earnings Per Share ‘ i

The following table provides a reconciliation of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share for the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003:

(Amounts in thousands except per share amounts) 2005 - 2004 2003
Net €arnings (108S) ...ovvvereeviriririeeierernie e sresiee st reestsess et s st ereseese e e sssnasseas $ (5983) % 259 $ (34.216)
Weighted average shares outStanding..........cocovveevereierrrseeneeenenneenesr e 25,124 21,884 14,689
Dilutive stock options outStanding .............cccevriveererenicrninsenreerene e s — 475 —
Weighted average and potential shares outstanding ...........ccoeeeevvevincrnnevnvenecees 25,124 22,359 14,689
Basic earnings (108S) PEr SHATE .......cvvveeivecireuiiieeinrircae et e $§ (02493 001§ (2.33)
Diluted earnings (108S) P SNATE ......cc.covveveiiniiinieirecrre et e $§ (©29)8 001 % (233

Dilutive stock options and warrants of approximately 2.4 million and 0.2 million for the years ended Décember 31,
2005 and 2003, respectively, have not been included in the computation of diluted loss per share as their effect
would be antidilutive. '

15. Benefit Plans

The Company adopted a savings plan (the “401(k) Plan”) qualified under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended. The 401(k) Plan covers substantially all employees who are not covered by a collective
bargaining unit. The Company’s matching contributions for 2005, 2004 and 2003 were approxxmately $0.2 million,
$0.2 million and $0.1 million, respectlvely

16. Stock-Based Compensanon Plans

In 2005, the Company adopted the 2005 Equity Incentive Plan, which provides for the grant of incentive stock
options, nonstatutory stock options, stock appreciation rights, stock bonus awards, stock purchase awards, stock unit
awards and other stock awards to the Company’s employees, directors and consultants. The aggregate number of
shares of the Company’s common stock that may be issued under the plan is 709,397, subject to certain increases
from time to time as set forth in the plan. This plan is intended as the successor to the Stock Option'Plan, Employee
Stock Incentive. Plan, and New Hire Equity Incentive Plan. Options issued under the plan are generally granted at
the fair market value on the date of grant, become exercisable at the rate of 1/48th per month, afid have a term of
seven years.

In 20035, the Company’s stockholders approved an amendment to the Director Stock Option Plan, to increase by
200,000 the aggregate number of shares of the Company’s common stock authorized for issuance under this plan.

In 1993, the Company adopted, and in 1996, 1997, 1999, 2003 and 2004 amended, (i) a Stock Option Plan under
which non-qualified and incentive stock options (as defined by the Internal Revenue Code) to purchase up to 4.0
million shares of the Company’s Common Stock which may be issued to officers, directors (other than non-
employee directors), employees, consultants, advisers, independent contractors and agents and (ii) a Director Plan
under which stock optigns to purchase up to 0.5 million shares of the Company’s Common Stock which may be
issued only to non-employee directors. Generally, options have been granted at the fair market value on the date of
grant and typically become exercisable at the rate of 20% of the options granted on each of the first through the fifth
anniversaries of the date of the grant. Furthermore, options are normally granted with a term of ten years.
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The Company accounts for these plans in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25 -
Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, under which no compensation cost has been recognized for stock
options issued at fair market value, and compensation cost equal to the fair market value of restricted stock grants is
recognized over the service period of the grant. Effective January 1, 2006, the Company will be required to adopt
the provisions of FAS 123R, which requires that the fair value of stock options and similar awards be expensed.

A summary of the status of the Company’s stock option plans at December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 and

changes during the years then ended is presented in the table below:

2005 2004 2003
Wtd. Ave Wtd. Ave Wtd. Ave
Exercise Exercise Exercise
(Amounts in thousand except per option amounts) Options Price Options Price Options Price
Director Plan: ;
Options beginning of Year .......c..ovvudeveneneiriniencnns 470 § 5.01 317§ 526 257 § 5.70
Granted .......coeeveveiiiiinneeen e 60 15.07 154 4.50 65 4.46
EXErcised ...coooviiiiiiieciecie et e e e e e (78) 491 — —
Cancelled.......c....lvvenerenene s (95) 5.15 (1) 9.25 (3) 17.25
Options, end Of YEar.......c.ccvirereeicrerriieneneneeerneene 357 6.68 470 5.00 317 5.26
Exercisable at end of Year...........cccoeevivnciniinreceineecens 224 5.49 267 5.32 200 5.42
Weighted average fair value of options granted
during the year.......c.coovveevereeenccrnnenn et $ 946 $ 3.23 $ 307
Employee Plans:
Options beginning of Year ..........cccoceibverrrvnerernenniens 2292 § 442 1,732 $ 392 2,068 $ 482
GIanted ......ccooveviriiiieee et 763 12.67 1,209 5.14 388 4.02
EXEIcised ....oovevviiviecinereicereee e (548) 5.01 (436) 4.12 (338) 4.13
Cancelled ... (233) 5.56 (213) 5.08 (386) 4.70
Options, end Of Year.........cocccvnieererererinieiceeneenes 2,274 7.55 2292 442 1,732 4.80
Exercisable at end of year...........cccovevminniinincnienenns 597 6.68 675 5.25 947 5.09
Weighted average fair value of options granted
during the year........cccovivinniiicneeeecre e $ 801 $ 3.63 $ 284
The following table summarizes information concerning options outstanding and options exercisable as of
December 31, 2005:
(Amounts in thousands except per option amounts)
Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted
Average Weighted Weighted
Remaining Average Average
Number of Contractual Exercise Number of Exercise
Range of Exercise Prices Options Life Price Options Price
Director Plan:
$2.75-84.75 e 186,000 6.8 § 425 107,333 § 4.07
$5.10-87.25............ e 111,000 4.9 6.22 109,333 6.23
S15.07 oo 60,000 6.5 15.07 7,500 15.07
357.000 224,166
Employee Plans:
$1.49-8425 i 74,500 55 § 3.1 33,110 $" 3.60
$429-87.44 e 1,429,564 7.3 5.16 446,968 5.52
$8.25-814.90. .o 770,125 8.8 12.36 116,760 12.03
: 2,274,189 596,838

Under these plans the Company also grants employees restricted stock with vesting terms of three to 10 years based
on service conditions and market price targets. Restricted stock grants of 206,500 shares, 200,000 shares, and
225,000 shares with aggregate fair values of $1.6 million, $2.7 million, and $2.3 million, respectively, were made

during the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003.
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In connection with the acquisition of VirtGame, the Company assumed options to purchase 193,913 shares of the
Company’s common stock. These options have a weighted average remaining contractual life of 3.1 years and a
weighted average exercise price of $15.32. All of these options are outstanding and exercisable at December 31,
2005.

Along with the above-discussed stock option plans, the Company may from time to time grant stock warrants to
various licensors as well as other individuals with whom the Company does business. From 1998 to 2000, the
Company entered into various licensing agreements with Hasbro, Inc. and Hasbro International, Inc. (together,
“Hasbro™) which granted the Company rights to intellectual property, including rights to develop and market gaming
devices and associated equipment under the trademarks Battleship®, Clue® and Trivial Pursuit®. In exchange for
these license agreements, the Company granted Hasbro warrants to purchase up to 125,000 shares of the Company’s
common stock for each license at an average exercise price of $6.13 per share. 312,500 of these warrants were
exercised during 2005, and as of December 31, 2005, 312,500 of these warrants remain outstanding and exercisable.
In addition, the Company entered into a licensing agreement with Ripley Entertainment which granted the Company
rights to intellectual property, including rights to develop and market gaming devices and associated equipment
under the trademark for Ripley’s Believe It® or Not!®, in exchange for which the Company granted Ripley’s
Entertainment warrants to purchase up to 35,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of
$6.75 per share. No warrants were granted during the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003.

A summary of the status of the Company’s warrants previously issued to vendors at December 31, 2005, 2004
and 2003 and changes during the years then ended is presented in the table below:

2005 2004 2003

Wtd. Ave Wtd. Ave Wid. Ave

Exercise Exercise Exercise
(Amounts in thousand except per share amounts) Warrants Price Warrants Price Warrants Price
Warrants issued to vendors:
Warrants, beginning of year .........ccccceevnnnne. 660 $ 590 660 $ 590 660 $ 590
Granted ........ccoovvvcmvererecesisreirrerersinisncesorsesesossnen. — — =
EXErciSed .ocvevvvrriiriieereiiere st e s (312) 4.94 — —
Cancelled.......cccceceviveiieiiicrcee e _— e .
Warranits, end of Year..........ccoeevvieceievvinenienens _348 6.76 660 5.90 660 5.90
Exercisable at end of year...........ccocvevevenenn e 348 . 6.76 660 5.90 660 5.90

17. Concentrations of Credit Risk

The financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk are primarily
accounts and contracts receivable. The Company performs credit evaluations of its customers, and typically requires
advance deposits of approximately 50%.

At December 31, 2005, net accounts and contracts receivable by region, as a percentage of total receivables, were as
follows:

Accounts Contract

Receivable :_Receivable Total
DOMESHIC TEZIOM. ...evcveriieieiiite et ert ettt et s e s eesssss e sesesbebes e e s ebesas b besesesssrena 802%  795%  79.8%
International region:
AUSEIAIIA 7 ASIA c.veiviceieteiieeeeet et eer et eae et eeeesos e st s erees st e bt stbesreeate s nteenes 6.1 1.3 37
BUTOPE 1ttt et et n et et ettt b et e ane e e areas 13.7 19.2 16.5
Total INterNAtIONAL ........coooviiviieeeceii ettt e st seene s e 19.8 . _205 20.2
TOAL .o e et 100.0% °  100.0% 100.0%
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18. Guarantor Financial Statements

The Company’s domestic subsidiaries are 100% owned and have provided full and unconditional guarantees on a
joint and several basis on the payment of 11.875% Senior Secured Notes due 2008. The financial statements for the

guarantor subsidiaries follow:

CONSOLIDATING CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS

(Amounts in thousands) } December 31, 2005
Non-
Guarantor Guarantor
Parent Subsidiaries _Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
ASSETS - T
Current assets:
CaSH vt $ 12,387 § a7 8 1,811 $ — 3 14,081
Accounts receivable, net 9,311 1,047 2,561 — 12,919
INVentories, Nt .......couviveceiiirecrecre e erairecereeaeees 6,017 3,386 1,131 — 10,534
Other current assets 7.704 5.995 3.053 — 16.752
Total current assets 35,419 10,311 8,556 — 54,286
Property and equipment, net.........cccoccevrvcnrecennenenees 3,437 287 693 — 4,417
Goodwill and intangible assets, net............ bererrmeaenens 51,976 32,098 35,050 — 119,124
Investments in and loans to subsidiaries.......c..c....... 73,427 — — (73,427) —
Other @SSELS....eieieieirircriacrerererencrnrsee e seasseeeeaereens 7.809 233 (23) — 8.019
Total @SSELS ..veevveiiiecieeerirncre i e ne s s e sdeerrseeeans $ 172068 § 42.929 $ 44276 § (73427) § 185.846
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY
(DEFICIT)
Current liabilities ......ccovvevvvieeceieeiriiriennas rrerenenne $ 15,731  § 3,447 $ 3,18 § — 22364
Intercompany transactions ..........cccccecvreereeenencns (499) (9.080) 4.480 5.099 —
Total current liabilities......coocvevviverivvnennnns 15,232 (5,633) 7,666 5,099 22,364
Long-term debt, net ..........ooceceeccennenn 44,045 — 26 — 44,071
Other liabilities, long term..........cccccenee. — —_ 22,307 (22,307) —
Deferred tax Hability..........coercvvenreeinviecicosboreencrenns 8,236 3413 3,207 —_ 14,856
Stockholders’ equity (deficit) 104,555 45.149 11.070 (56.219) 104,555
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity (deficit) ... $§ 172,068 § 42929 § 44276 § (73427) § 185846
CONSOLIDATING CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS
(Amounts in thousands) ‘ December 31, 2004
Non-
Guarantor Guarantor
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
ASSETS
Current assets: :
Cashi .o e 3 7532 § 1 $ 4772 $ — $ 12,305
Accounts receivable, net.........o.coovvcvveneienns 12,126 2,259 2,377 —_ 16,762
Inventories, net ......ccc.oovveevreneeenns ! 5,710 2,676 1,890 — 10,276
Intercompany transactions : 4,847 3,811 — (8,658) —
Other current assets..........o.o.o..... X — 2,304 268 — 2,572
Total current assets ........ccovveevevvieceererennnnd : 30,215 11,051 9,307 (8,658) 41,915
Property and equipment, net............ccooccruenee 4,498 4,847 630 — 9,975
Intangible assets.........cocccrvnrieernnee, 44,404 5,329 390 — 50,123
Investments in subsidiaries ' 14,764 — — (14,764) —
Other assets......covveeeveevveerereieneenns 5.032 272 — — 5.304
Total ASSELS ..ovocvevevicrieeeerec e, $ 98913 $ 21.499 $ 10327 3 (23422) § 107317
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS®
EQUITY (DEFICIT) :
Current liabilities .....occcoeevivcvvenrcsincresenecnnes $ 17312 $ 4,463 $ 1,867 $ $ 23,642
Intercompany transactions ...............cecoveveeen — — 8.657 (8.657) —
Total current liabilities......ccovveveeeivcevceenrane. ‘ 17,312 4,463 10,524 (8,657) 23,642
Long-term debt, net ..o 63,108 — 62 — 63,170
Other liabilities, long term ...........cccovecvrnnne 1,970 —_ — — 1,970
Deferred tax liability..........cccc..... ‘ 6,282 2,012 — — 8,294
Stockholders’ equity (deficit) 10.241 15.024 (259) (14,765) 10.241
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity
{AefICit) v e $ 98913 $§ 21,499 $ 10,327 $ (23422 § 107.317
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CONSOLIDATING CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(Amounts in thousands) : o : - Year Ended December 31, 2003
. ' . Non - -
Guarantor Guarantor
Parent Subsidiaries _Subsidiaries _Eliminations Consolidated
REVENUES...c.ocvvivetreeeeeeeees et sereen e $ 41,235 - § 21,393  § 15593 § — § 78,221
CoSt 0 SAlES....vviviiiiiecie e, 20,248 9,364 6,494 — 36,106
Selling, general and admin. expenses................ 32,996 1,130 7,480 — 41,606
Net gain on disposition of non-core assets ....... (6,982) 4,446 — —_ (2,536)
Gain on sale of core intellectua] property ......... — (2.500) — — (2,500)
Operating iNCOME .....ooovivirirriieeeiec e (5,027) 8,953 1,619 — 5,545
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries............cc....... 10,474 — — (10,474) —
INterest eXPemnse . ..coouverieeerererireeeeeereveeeneens (8,787) — (108) — (8,895)
Other income (expense), Net.........ccvevuevvnrrenne. 350 — 10 — 360
Income (loss) from operations before income

taxes and debt retirement............c.ccocceneiinnen. (2,990) 8,953 1,521 (10,474) (2,990)
Loss on early retirement of debt ................v.... : (2,993) — — . — (2,993)
Income tax (provision) benefit........c..coocereennee. i — 7 — — —
Net income (1088)..c.coviceiiervnenimieneenrincrenene $ (5983) % 8953 § 1521 § (10474) 3§ (5.983)

CONSOLIDATING CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(Amounts in thousands) Year Ended December 31. 2004

Non -
) Guarantor Guarantor
Parent Subsidiaries _Subsidiaries _Eliminations Consolidated

Revenues.........ococeveevviecnninenn, et $ 58255 § 26987 § 13,616 $ (2,484) § 96,374
Cost 0f sales.....ccveviii 26,882 . 10,150 8,334 (2,484) 42,882
Selling, general and admin. expenses............... 29.689 8,681 5.439 — 43.809
Operating income (10SS)........ccooerrvcirreirnerenns 1,684 8,156 (157) — 9,683
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries............ e 8,169 - — — (8,169) —
Interest EXPense .....cceoveeveevirienieene e (9,640) (35) (9)- — (9,684)
Other income (eXpense), Net.......ccoeeecnrerrenenns 55 1) 141 — 195
Income (loss) from operations before income ,

TAXES .. eoveereerire ettt ettt e 268 8,120 (25) (8.,169) 194
Income tax (provision) benefit........ e 9) — 74 — 65
Net income (108S)....cveivovrirnveerenreeesereeeanns $ 259 '§ 8,120 § 49 $§ (8,169 $ 259

CONSOLIDATING CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(Amounts in thousands) - Year Ended December 31, 2003
Non -
Guarantor Guarantor
Parent Subsidiaries  _Subsidiaries _Eliminations Consolidated
Revenues.......oovviveeviniiene e $ 48,523 $ 29,263 $ 15711 $.(1,694) §$ 91,803
Costofsales......coocoeeeiiviiiieiii i ST 22,549 15,713 10,281 (1,694) 46,849
Selling, general and admin. expenses............. 25,200 24235 . 5987 — 55.422
Operating income (1088)......cocccoervvcnricrnainnnre - 774 (10,685) (557) — (10,468)
Equity in earnings (loss) of subsidiaries......... (11,442) — — 11,442 —
Interest EXPense . ..oeeirireeieienieniire s (13,986) (132) (206) ‘ — (14,324)
Loss on early retirement of debt.........cc..c...... (9,524) — — — (9,524)
Other income (expense), Net........c.ccoccevveenenene (28) (72) 187 — 87
Income (loss) before income taxes ................. (34,206) (10,889) (576) 11,442 (34,229)
Income tax (provision) benefit............ccocvnen, (10) — 23 ‘ — 13
Net ineome (1058)...c.evivrereireirieiieeeseceriscsenns $ (34216) $ (10.889) § (553) § 11442 3 (34.216)
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CONSOLIDATING CONDENSED CASH FLOW STATEMENTS

(Amounts in thousands) For the Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2005
Non -
Guarantor Guarantor
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Net cash provided by (used in) operating
ACHIVITIES . ..evveveveeveree vttt eee v e $ (19.711) § 384 $ (2.201) $— $ (21,328)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of business operations, net of cash

ACQUITEd c.oeieeeeccceee e e (36,203) — — — (36,203)
Purchase of property and equipment ........... (1,418) (29) 476) — (1,923)
Purchase of inventory leased to others ........ (189) (673) — — (862)
Proceeds from sales of non-core assets........ 11,402 — — — 11,402
Proceeds from sale of property and

<701 110] 1613 ¢ L 20U USSR 96 — 49 — 145
Additions to intangible assets................o..... (8.769) — — — (8.769)
Net cash used in investing activities............. (35.081) (702) (427) — (36.210)
Cash flows from financing activities:

Principal payments on long-term debt.......... (20,000) — (61) — (20,061)
Call premium on early retirement of debt.... (1,188) — — — (1,188)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock... 81,320 — — — 81,320

Principal payments on capital leases ........... (52) — ®) — (60)
Purchase of treasury stock .........ccccecvnreenneee (433) p— — e (433)
Net cash provided by (used in) ﬁnancmg

ACHIVITIES ...veevirevveeirieesniercreserererraeserceasbeneans 59.647 — (69) — 59.578
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash

and cash equivalents..........ccoeeveceenene R — — (264) — (264)
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash

SQUIVALENTS ... 4,855 (118) (2,961) — 1,776
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of .

PETIOU. i b 7.532 1 4,772 — 12.305
Cash and cash equivalents, end ofperlod e 312387 $ (U $ 1.811 $— $ 14,081
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CONSOLIDATING CONDENSED CASH FLOW STATEMENTS

(Amounts in thousands)

Net cash provided by operating activities.......
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of property and equipment ..............

Purchase of inventory leased to others ........... '

Proceeds from sale of equipment....................

Other lnvestmg ACHVILIES c.ovvvereeerececerecrereneins B

Net cash used in investing activities...............
Cash flows from financing activities:
Principal payments on long-term debt............
Principal payments on deferred license...........
Proceeds from issuance of common stock......
Principal payments on capital leases ..............
Purchase of treasury stocK ..........cocccevoreinnnnn
Net cash provided by (used in) ﬁnancmg
TACHIVILIES ..o
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and
cash equivalents........c.coovs oo,

Increase in cash and cash equivalents.............

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of
PETIOA v vt

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period.......

(Amounts in thousands)

Net cash provided by (used in) operatmg
ACHIVILIES .t vevevrciereneierereereeevene s reresedeneene
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of property and equipment .............
Proceeds from sale of equipment...................
Other investing actiViti€s ........ccoceveeireerernnns
Net cash used in investing activities...............
Cash flows from financing activities:
Principal payments on long-term debt...........
Principal payments on capital leases .............
Principal payments on deferred license fees..
Proceeds from issuance of common stock
and WAITADLS. ......occrreerrereereree e sereccenene
Net cash provided by (used) in financing
ACHIVILIES..cvevereriinicnerccrinsn s
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and
cash equivalents.........cccocvenivrenieseniierensienenne

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash
EQUIVALENES ...evviereeeereeriererenienne oo

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of
PETIOA it

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period......

‘For the Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2004

Non -
: Guarantor Gua::ntor
~_Parént _ _ Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
$ 3,_115 $ 3.156 $ 2200 $— $ 8471
475) (168) (149) — (792)
(2,067) (2,902) (128) — (5,097)
127 (58) — — 69
(245) — — - (245)
(2.660) (3.128) 277 — (6,065)
(99) — 9) — (108)
(535) — — — (535)
2,352 — — — 2,352
471) (28) (88) —_ (587)
(181) — — — (181)
1066 (28) ©n = 94]
— — 275 — 275
1,521 — 2,101 — 3,622
6,011 1 2,671 — 8.683
$ 7532 § 1 $ 4772 $— $ 12,305
For the Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2003
: Non -, )
Guarantor Guarantor
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Ellmmatlons Consolidated
"8 (7977) 3 4481 $ 1.178 $— $ (2.318)
(1,225) (3,205) (812) — (5,242)
7 ) — — 13
(150) — - = ___(150)
(1.368) (3.199) (812) — (5.379)
(123) — — — (123)
(224) (1,267) (22) — (1,513)
(493) — — — (493)
1,752 — — — 1,752
912 (1.267) (22) — (377)
— —_ 482 482
(8,433) 15 826 — (7,592)
14,444 (14) 1.845 — 16.275
$ 6011 $ 2,671 $— $ 8683

$ 1
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19. Segment Reporting

The Company’s business consists of two reportable segments: (i) slot and table games, and (ii) systems. The slot and
table games business segment includes the development, licensing and distribution of proprietary slot and table
games. Revenues are derived from leases, revenue sharing arrangements, royalty and license fee arrangements with
casinos and gaming suppliers. The systems business segment sells or leases electronic player tracking and slot
machine and table game monitoring systems and electronic components used in progressive jackpot systems, and
gaming machines. The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in Note 1 - Description
of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies. All inter-segment transactions have been eliminated.

With respect to the current segments, the Company evaluates performance and allocates resources based upon profit
or loss from operations before income taxes. Certain operating expenses, which are separately managed at the
corporate level, are not allocated to the business segments. These unallocated costs include primarily the costs
associated with executive administration, finance, human resources, legal, general marketing and information
systems. The depreciation and amortization expense of identifiable assets not allocated to the business segments are
also included in these costs. ‘

During 2005, the Company re-aligned its reportable segments as a result of changes to its operations. Prior to 2005,
reportable segments included slot and table games, systems, and product sales, which comprised interior signage and
electronics. As a result of the segment realignment, the Company’s electronics business has been reclassified to the
systems segment. Segment data for 2004 has been restated to conform to the current period presentation. Segment
data for 2003 has not been restated to conform to the current period presentation because it would be impracticable
to do so. Accordingly, the electronics business is included in the interior signage segment information for 2003.

Business segment information for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 consists of:

(Amounts in thousands) 2003 2004 2003
Business Segments:

Revenue: ‘

Slot and table GAMES .....c.ocvvireeiries e $ 33,670 § 40,560 $ 40,932
Interior signage..........cooevvinieenenennn ettt r e b e b e e 5,252 20,014 36,919
SYSBIMIS ... eeerererirerererrrrere oot st et es e sa b be st aes st st e et ne e se b e b s 39,299 35.800 13.952
Total. e etttk st b bbb § 78221 § 96374 § 91.803
Operating income (loss):

Slot and table games.......ccccoeevecreneennene ettt ettt bbbt e $ 11,771 § 14,701 § (1,373)
INtErior SIZNAZE .....covvvviiriiiirii e e 141 3,362 2,073
SYSEITIS ...ceeeverirreriiie ettt ettt sttt et e sttt ere s st nanesses e srebesbesbe st e e srebeabeeneas 12,635 10,976 1,403
COTPOTALE ....ecveeirieies ettt e e s e s e st eabe s e sae s e ateete st eae st e neae e aneneessenne (19.002) (19.356) (12.571)
TOTAL .ttt b et e e e e n bbb § 5545 § 9683 $ (10.46%8)
Depreciation and amortization: ‘

Slot and table ZAMES ......c.ccrerrieririreerirer et ee st seesesessesens $§ 2655 % 6439 $ 10,677
INtETIOr SIENAZE ....oivieviriiiiireic ettt ettt eb s 115 526 783
SYSLEIMIS ..eveieeie et s setentteeeeuensreesae e s ssneabe sateessaensesaessasenesenaenensenntaeneennras 265 149 121
COTPOTALE ...ttt sttt et et st sre e nessas e s st sbeebeses e sebentseteraenns 1.859 1,794 2,733
TOLRL .kttt $§ 4894 § 898 § 14314
Total assets:

S1ot and table GAMES .....c.ccvererrerrrieriret bt et ess e ssebe e sbess e sreans $ 73,159 § 64897 $ 65950
INTETIOL SIZNALE ...cveevereerereeereereter et ri bt e s em e e erennene — 1,529 15,238
SYSTEIMIS ..ottt ettt 62,123 20,995 1,890
COTPOTALE ..ottt rers e ettt et saae s e et ere e seenseans 50,564 19.896 19.204
TOtAL.oeee $ 185846 $ 107317 $ 102.282
Capital expenditures / purchase of leased inventories: -

Slot and table ZAMES.......ccceveiiriiinitrr e e e $ 1,011 § 5097 § 4,200
INEELIOT SIZNAGE .. .cveciverereriercrerer ettt en e e — 229 752
SYSEIMS.....c..ouerviniiit ettt et e ettt sb st se etk b s enes — 150 —
COTPOTALE ...ovevviieetetirirer ettt ettt et et ee e et es e st st s b ebaaseb e et enessentenensassenen 1,774 413 290
TOtAL.ooie s $§ 2785 § 5889 § 5242
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The Company attributes revenue and expenses to a geographic area based on the location from which the product
was shipped or the service was performed Geographlc segment information for the years ended December 31, 2005,
2004 and 2003 consists of:

(Amounts in thousands) o ‘ - ‘ 2005 2004 2003
Geographic Operations: ' .

Revenue: :

NOIth AMETICA. ...ci ittt e SOOI $ 62626 § 83,008 § 76,091
AUSITALIA 1. e bbb 6,592 4,453 5,861
BUIOPE ..ottt ettt s st st st n e bbb 9.003 8913 9,851
TOUAL ..ot ettt sttt e ke n e r bbbt e § 78221 $§ 96374 § 91.803
Operating income (loss): ‘ ‘ . ‘ .

INOTtH ATNETICA. ..ccvevveiiiiririrecriee et et er st et sttt nee e nenmsene s se s nab et aaes $ 3925 % 9,841 § (9,747)
AUSTIATIA ...ttt ettt sttt et b e b et ne st se e s st eas 1,932 (123) (450)
Burope ..o, PR e e (312) (35) (271)
TOL oot sbes ettt $§ 5545 $  9.683 § (10.468)
Depreciation and amortization: ‘

NOTh AINEIICA. ...ttt ettt ettt e b et $ 4282 § 8,700 '§ 14,117
AUSITALIA o et e e 317 71 70
Europe .....oocovcvvenicnicncreicnieees BT PO OTU S PO OURUPIOTUISITRIN 295 _ 137 127
TOLAL ...ttt ettt skt e ek § 489 § 8908 § 14314
Assets ‘

North America............. ettt SO OOP $ 141,570 $ 97,012 § 94,106
AUSITALIA et e e e 5,789 5,855 4,205
BUIOPE ottt s e basa et et snesnesnas e e 38.487 4.450 3.971
TOAL ettt es et ettt e . § 185846 $ 107,317 § 102,282
Capital expenditures / purchase of leased inventories:

INOTtH AINETICA ...t vttt eeee ettt et e e e srets et st st e b st et b ass st eneeesrasesasstoneene $ 2379 § 5610 $ 4,993
AUSITALIA 1. e e e e st r e 142 166 167
EUrope ...coovveriiiniicii e SO TE PPV ORI : 264 113 82
TOMAL .ottt ettt ettt bbb e en e e $ 2,785 § 5889 § 5.242

20. Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In November 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (*SFAS™) No. 151, “Inventory
Costs-an amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4.” The amendment clarifies that abnormal amounts of idle facility
expense, freight, handling costs, and wasted materials (spoilage) should be recognized as current-period charges and
requires the allocation of fixed production overheads to inventory based on the normal capacity of the production
facilities. The guidance is effective for the Company’s fiscal year beginning on January 1, 2006. Management
believes that the adoption of this amendment will not have a material impact on the Company’s overall results of
operations or financial position.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS No. 123R™),
that focuses primarily on accounting for transactions in which an entity obtains employee services in share-based
payment transactions. On April 14, 2005, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) announced the
adoption of a rule that defers the required effective date of SFAS 123R. The SEC rule provides that SFAS 123R is
now effective for registrants as of the beginning of the first fiscal year beginning after June 15, 2005, instead of at
the beginning of the first quarter after June 15, 2005 (as prescribed by SFAS No. 123R). Additionally, in March
2005, the SEC issued SAB 107, Share-Based Payment, providing interpretive guidance on SFAS 123R valuation
methods, assumptions used in valuation models, and the interaction of SFAS 123R with existing SEC guidance.
SAB 107 also requires the classification of stock compensation expense to the same financial statement line itém as
cash compensation, and therefore, will imipact cost of lease and royalties, cost of sales and service, related gross
profits and margins, selling, general and administrative expenses and research and development expenses.
Beginning with the quarterly period that begins January 1, 2006, the Company will be required to expense the fair
value of employee stock options and similar awards then outstanding or thereafter granted. As a public company,
PGIC is allowed to select from two alternative transition methods, each having different reporting implications.
While management has not yet completed its evaluation of this statement, the adoption of this statement is expected
to have a material negative impact on the Company’s results of operations. However, due to the “non-cash” nature
of stock option expense, management does not expect the adoption of this statement to have an impact on the
Company’s financial position and cash flows.
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In December 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. 109-1, Application of SFAS No. 109, Accounting for
Income Taxes, to the Tax Deduction on Qualified Production Activities provided by the American Jobs Creation Act
of 2004 (“FSP No. 109-1"). FSP No. 109-1 states that the qualified production activities deduction should be
accounted for as a special deduction in accordance with SFAS No. 109. This statement was effective upon issuance.
The adoption of this statement had no material impact on the Company’s results of operations, financial position or
cash flows.

In December 2004, the FASB reached unanimous consensus on Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) 04-8, “The
Effect of Contingently Convertible Debt on Diluted Eamings Per Share.” EITF 04-8 requires that the dilutive effect
of outstanding contingent convertible notes shares be included in diluted earnings per share calculation, regardless
of whether the market price trigger or other contingent conversion feature has been met. Since the Company
currently has no outstanding contingent convertible debt, the adoption of this guidance did not have a material
impact on the Company’s overall results of operations or financial position.

In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, “Accounting Changes and Error Corrections”, a replacement of
Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 20 and SFAS No. 3. SFAS 154 changes the requirement for the
accounting for and reporting of a change in accounting principles. SFAS 154 applies to all voluntary changes in
accounting principles. It also applies to changes required by an accounting pronouncement if the pronouncement
does not include specific transition provisions. When a pronouncement includes specific transition provisions, those
provisions should be followed. The provisions of SFAS 154 will be effective for accounting changes made in fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2005. Management does not expect the adoption of this statement to have a
material impact on the Company’s financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (unaudited)

{Amounts in thousands) ‘ 1ST 2ND 3RD 4TH
Revenues: }

2005 .ottt ettt sttt st bk e e ber e e s e nenes $ 22908 $ 19291 $ 16.837 $ 19,185
2004 ..o e et es ettt $ 21,129 § 23288 § 25,680 § 26,278
Operating costs and expenses: '

2005 o ettt ettt e $ 19647 § 15,120 $ 16,640 § 21.269
2004 ... et et e $ 21027 $ 21787 § 21,759 § 22,117
Operating income:

2005 . et sa et e e e sae e $_3261 § 4171 § 197 § (2.084)
2004 ...ttt $ 102 §_ 1501 § 3921 § 4,161
Net income (loss): _

2005 et s es e bbbt sttt ke 3 957 § 1887 § (1.983) § (6.844)
2004 ...ttt sk erg b et $ (2353) 8 (948) 3 1.589 § 1970
Weighted average shares outstanding:

Basic -

2005 1. ek etk r Rt b e r e bar et e ereneanebabe e 22.567 23.287 24.507 30,662
2004 ... ettt e 21,731 21.768 21,830 21,878
Diluted - _
2005 ...ttt et e e st p et er et eaa et nees 25.491 25,988 24,507 30,662
2004 ... ettt ane et sre et saenn e srans 21,731 21.768 22.006 23,601
Basic earnings (loss) per share:

2005 .t bbb e e r e e be b $ 004 $ 008 § (008) 3% (0.22)
2004 ...ttt e bbb s s ae e et e st e $ ©i1)$ (0048 007 $_ 009
Diluted earnings (loss) per share:

2005 .o ettt bt ettt s $§ 004 $_ 007 $_ (0.08) $ (0.22)

2004 ..o ettt $ (011)$ (004) 8 007 $ 0.09
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Item 9A, Controls and Procedures

1. Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures. The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(¢) and 15(d)-15(e)) designed to ensure that it is able to collect the
information it is required to disclose in the reports it files with the SEC, and to process, summarize and disclose this
information within the time periods specified in the rules of the SEC. These disclosure controls and procedures are
designed and maintained by or under the supervision of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, as required by the ruies of the SEC. The Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
are responsible for evaluating thé effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures. Based on their evaluation
of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report, the Chief
Executive and Chief Financial Officers believe that the disclosure controls and procedures were not effective, due to
the material weakness disclosed below. ‘ ‘

Due to this material weakness, in preparing our financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2005, we
performed additional analysis and other post-closing procedures related to our revenue recognition documentation
and classification for non-routine complex transactions to reasonably assure that such financial statements were
stated fairly in all material respects in accordance with US generally accepted accounting principles.

2. Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. During the year ended December 31, 2005, there have
been no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s financial reporting.

3. Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for evaluating, establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting for the Company. The Company’s internal control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance to
the Company’s management and Board of Directors regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published
consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America.

Management recognizes its responsibility for establishing and maintaining a strong ethical climate so that the
Company’s affairs are conducted according to the highest standards of personal and corporate conduct.

The Company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that:

» Pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the Company;

*  Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded propetly to allow for the preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the
Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and the Board of Directors;

* Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the Company s assets that could have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements;
and

» Provide reasonable assurance as to the detection of fraud.

Because of its inherent limitations, a system of internal control over financial reporting can provide only reasonable
assurance and may not prevent or detect misstatements. Further, because of changing conditions, effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting may vary over time. The Company’s processes contain self-monitoring
mechanisms, and actions are taken to correct deficiencies as they are identified.

Management has assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2005, based on criteria for effective internal control described in Internal Control - Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.
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A material weakness is a control deficiency, or a combination of control deficiencies, that results in a more than
remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or
detected. The following material weakness has been identified as of December 31, 2005:

The Company had three significant nor‘l-routine complex transactions, whereby the Company did not properly
document and support its initial analysis of the terms and conditions of these agreements to ensure proper revenue
recognition and classification. Further analysis resulted in a deferral of revenue for the transactions in the fourth
quarter and filing an amendment of the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2005.

Based on its assessments, management concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was
not effective as of December 31, 2005 due to the material weakness described above.

BDO Seidman LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm that audited the consolidated financial
statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, was engaged to attest to and report on management’s
assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005.
Its report is included herein.

4. Management’s Remediation Efforts. Subsequent to December 31, 2005, we have taken the following steps to
improve our internal control over documentation and classification of revenues related to non-routine transactions.

* Improved the documentation process for non-routine complex transactions

* Improved the procedures related to non-routine complex transactions to ensure proper classification in the
financial statements. |
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Progressive Gaming International Corporation:

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over
‘Financial Reporting, that Progressive Gaming International Corporation and Subsidiaries (the “Company”) did not
maintain effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, because of the effects on revenue
recogmtlon based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Orgamzanons of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”). The Company’s management is responsible for
maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control
over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express and opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. ‘

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective
internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we iconsidered necessary in
the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. A company’s internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and that receipts and expenditures of the
company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3)
provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of
the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detéct misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

A material weakness is a control deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies, that results in more than a remote
likelihood that a material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected. The
following material weakness has been identified and included in management’s assessment:

The Company had three significant non-routine complex transactions, whereby the Company did not properly document
and support its initial analysis of the terms and conditions of these agreements to ensure proper revenue recognition and
classification. Further analysis resulted in a deferral of revenue for the transactions in the fourth quarter and filing an
amendment of the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2005. This material weakness was
considered in determining the nature, timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the December 31, 2005
financial statements, and this report does not affect our report dated March 28, 2006 on those consolidated financial
statemnents.
| f

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Progressive Gaming International Corporation did not maintain effective 1
internal control over financial réponing as of December 31, 2005, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the
criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission. Also, in our opinion, because of the effect of the material weakness described above on the
achievement of the objectives of the control criteria, Progressive Gaming International Corporation has not maintained
effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on the criteria established in Internal
Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

/s/ BDO Seidman, LLP

Los Angeles, California
March 28, 2006

-84 -




Item 9B. Other Information

None.

PART III

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

Code of Ethics

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to our directors and employees (including our
principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller, or persons
performing similar functions), and have posted the text of the policy on our website (www.progressivegaming.net).
In addition, we intend to promptly disclose (i) the nature of any amendment to the policy that applies to our principal
executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller, or persons performing similar
functions and (ii) the nature of any waiver, including an implicit waiver, from a provision of the policy that is
granted to one of these specified individuals, the name of such person who is granted the waiver and the date of the
waiver on our website in the future.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

Information relating to securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans is set forth in “Item 5,
Market for Registrant’s Common Stock, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Repurchases of Equity Securities”
above in this Annual Report.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Except as set forth above, the information required by Items 10 through 14 is set forth under the captions “Election
of Directors,” “Management,” “Executive Compensation,” “Principal Stockholders™ and “Certain Transactions” in
Progressive Gaming International Corporation’s definitive Proxy Statement for its 2006 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders, to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which sections are incorporated herein by reference as if set forth in full.

PART IV

ITEM 15, EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a)(1) and (2) Financial Statements and Schedules

The Financial Statements and Schedules filed as part of this report are listed in the Index to Consolidated
Financial Statements under Item 8.

(3) Exhibits

See the list in paragraph (b) below. Each management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement required to
be identified by this item is so designated in such list.
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(b) Exhibits

Exhibit
Number

2.1

22

23
24
31

32

33

4.1

42

43

44
45
4.6

4.7

Description of Document

Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization, dated February 19, 2005, by and among the
Company, Viking Acquisition Sub, Inc., Viking Merger Subsidiary, LLC and VirtGame Corp.,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
February 23, 2005.

Amendment No. | to Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization, dated July 29, 2005, by and
among the Company, Viking Acquisition Sub, Inc., Viking Merger Subsidiary, LLC and VirtGame
Corp., incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to the Company’s Currént Report;on Form 8-K filed on
August 4, 2005. .

Asset Purchase Agreement dated May 6, 2005, by and between the Company and MSG Acquisition,
LLC, now known as Mikohn Signs and Graphics, LLC., incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to
the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 9, 2005

Share Purchase Agreement for the sale and purchase of all the issued share capital of EndX Group
Limited, dated September 6, 2005, by and among the Company, Nicholas Boyes-Hunter and others,
incorporated by reference to-Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
September 9, 2005. ‘

Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1to
Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 33-69076).

Amended and Restated Bylaws, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Amendment No. 1 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 33-69076). ‘

Certificate of DeSignation Rights, Preferences, and Rights of Series A Junior Participating Preferred
Stock of the Conipany, incorporated by reference to Exhibit A of Exhibit 3 to the Registration
Statement on Form 8-A filed on August 2, 2000.

Specimen Certificate of common stock of the Company, incorporated by reference to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 33-69076).

Rights Agreement, dated June 14, 1999 by and between the Company and U.S. Stock Transfer
Corporation, as the Rights Agent, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form 8-A filed on August 2, 2000.

- Form of Warrant, dated October 22, 2003, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 2 to the Company’s

Registration Statement on Form S-3 dated January 9, 2004.

Warrant Agreement, dated August 22, 2001, by and among the Company and Firstar Bank, N.A.,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-3 ﬁled
on September 14, 2001,

Indenture, dated August 22, 2001, by and among the Company, Firstar Bank, N. A and the Guarantors,
incorporated by reference to-Exhibit 4.8 of the Company’s Registratlon Statement on Form S-3 filed
on September 14, 2001,

Guarantee, dated August 22, 2001, by and among the Guarantors named therein, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.9 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-3 filed on September 14,
2001,

Pbledg‘e and Security Agreement, dated August 22, 2001, by and among the Comnany, Firstar Bank,
N.A. and the Guarantors named therein, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4, 10 of the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-3 filed on September 14, 2001.
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Exhibit
Number

4.8

4.9

4.10

4.11

*10.1

*10.2

*10.3

*10.4

*10.5

*10.6

*10.7

*10.8

*10.9

*10.10

*10.11
*10.12
10.13

10.14

Description of Document

Deed of Trust, Security Agreement and Fixture Filing with Assignment of Rents, dated August 22,
2001, by and among the Company, Stewart Title of Nevada and Firstar Bank, N.A., incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.11 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-3 filed on September
14, 2001.

Trademark Security Agreement, dated August 22, 2001, by and between the Company and Firstar
Bank, N.A., incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.12 of the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-3 filed on September 14, 2001.

Patent Security Agreement, dated August 22, 2001, by and between the Company and Firstar Bank,
N.A,, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.13 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-3
filed on September 14, 2001.

Copyright Security Agreement, dated August 22, 2001, by and between the Company and Firstar
Bank, N.A., incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.14 of the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-3 filed on September 14, 2001.

Summary of the Company’s 2005 Incentive Compensation Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.13 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 10, 2005.

Summary of 2005 compénsation for the Company’s non-employee directors, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 10, 2005.

2005 Equity Incentive Pfan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on June 28, 2005.

Director Stock Option Plan, as amended, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 28, 2005.

Stock Option Plan, as amended, incorporated by reference to the Company’s Definitive Proxy
Statement filed on July 19, 2004.

Employee Stock Incentive Plan, as amended, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to the
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 14, 2003.

New Hire Equity Incentive Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of the Company’s Current
Report Form 8-K filed on February 17, 2005.

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated January 1, 2005, by and between the Company
and Russel H. McMeekin, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 of the Company’s Current Report
Form 8-K filed on February 17, 2005.

Amended and Restated Employment agreement, dated August 10, 2004, by and between the Company
and Michael A. Sicuro, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 to the Company’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2004.

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated August 10, 2004, by and between the
Company and Robert A. Parente, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.35 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2004.

Employment Agreement, dated July 1, 2005, by and between the Company and Neil Crossan.
Employment Agreement, dated June 6, 2005, by and between the Company and Thomas Galanty.

Form of Indemnification Agreement by and between the Company and its directors and executive
officers, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (No. 33-69076).

Letter Agreement, dated June 13, 2005, by and between the Company and IGT, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 99.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 17, 2005.
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Exhibit
Number

10.15¢

10.16%

10.174

10.18

10.19

211
23.1
31.1

31.2

321

322

Description of Document

Product Development and Integration Agreement, dated June 13, 2005, by and among the Company,
Shuffle Master, Inc. and IGT, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.3 to the Company s Current
Report on Form 8-K/A filed on August 8, 2005.

Binding Memorandum of Understanding, dated June 13, 2005, by and between the Company and IGT,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed on
August 8, 2005,

Non-Exclusive Patent License, dated June 13, 2005, by and among the Company, Shuffle Master, Inc.,
and IGT, incorporated by reference to Exh1b1t 99. 4 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on June 17, 2005.

Underwriting Agreement, dated November 4, 2005, by and among the Company, CIBC World
Markets Corp., as representatlve of the underwrlters named on Schedule I thereto, and the selling
stockholders named in Schedule II thereto, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1 1 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 10, 2005.

Consulting and Confidentiality Agreement dated September 19, 2005, by and between the Company
and Michael F. Dreltzer

Subsxdlanes.
Consent of BDO Seldman LLP

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d—14(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Chlef Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

* Management contracts and compensation plans

t Conﬁdentlal treatment has been granted for certain portions of this exhibit. Omltted portions have been filed
separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

PROGRESSIVE GAMING INTERNATIONAL
CORPORATION

March 31, 2006 by: /s/ MICHAEL A. SICURO
Michael A. Sicuro
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial
Officer, Secretary and Treasurer

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and
appoints Russel H. McMeekin and Michael A. Sicuro, and each of them, as his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and
agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his name, place, and stead, in any and all

. capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and to file the same, with all
exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission,
granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each
and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully to all intents and
purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and
agents, or any of them, or their or his substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ RUSSEL H. MCMEEKIN, ‘ Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive March 31, 2006
Russel H. McMeekin Officer)
/s MICHAEL A. SICURO ‘ Executive Vice President, Chief Financial March 31, 2006
Michael A. Sicuro Officer, Secretary and Treasurer (Principal

Financial Officer)
/sy HEATHER A. ROLLO Vice President, Finance and Chief Accounting  March 31, 2006
Heather A. Rollo Officer (Principal Accounting Officer)
/s/ PETER G. BOYNTON Chairman of the Board . March 31, 2006
Peter G. Boynton
/s/ PAUL A. HARVEY Director March 31, 2006
Major General Paul A. Harvey (Ret)
/s/ TERRANCE W. OLIVER Director March 31, 2006
Terrance W. Oliver
/s/ RICK L. SMITH Director March 31, 2006
Rick L. Smith
/s/ DOUGLAS M. TODOROFF Director March 31, 2006

Douglas M. Todoroff
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